
 

 

 

Public Facilities Committee 

Beaufort County, SC 
This meeting will be held at the County Council Chambers, 100 Ribaut Road, Beaufort, and 

virtually through Zoom. 

Monday, May 16, 2022 
4:00 PM 

AGENDA 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

3. PUBLIC NOTIFICATION OF THIS MEETING HAS BEEN PUBLISHED, POSTED, AND DISTRIBUTED IN 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - APRIL 18, 2022 

6. CITIZEN COMMENTS - (ANYONE who wishes to speak during the Citizen Comment portion of the 
meeting will limit their comments to no longer than three (3) minutes ( a total of 15 minutes ) and will 
address Council in a respectful manner appropriate to the decorum of the meeting, refraining from the 
use of profane, abusive, or obscene language) 

7. ASSISTANT COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR REPORT 
 

AGENDA ITEMS 
 

 

8. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A 2022 SALES TAX REFERENDUM (TRANSPORTATION 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION) 

9. UPDATE ON THE SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

10. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE 
ANY AND ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS FOR THE ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL RIGHT OF WAY NEEDED 
FOR THE SIGNALIZATION OF BLUFFTON PARKWAY AT RIVER RIDGE DRIVE AND FLAT CREEK DRIVE 

 

 

1



Public Facilities Committee Agenda – Beaufort County, SC 

11. RECOMMEND APPROVAL TO AWARD BOUNDARY STREET AND RIBAUT ROAD SIGNAL TIMING AND CRASH 
ANALYSIS TO KIMLEY HORNE (FISCAL IMPACT: TOTAL PROJECT COST NOT TO EXCEED $192,830. FUNDING 
FOR THIS PROJECT IS NORTH OF THE BROAD IMPACT FEES PROFESSIONAL SERVICES ACCOUNT NUMBER 
23030011-51160)  

12. RECOMMENDATION OF AWARD FOR RFP 040122 BEAUFORT COUNTY HAULING SERVICES- SOLID WASTE 
AND RECYCLING ($1,830,000) 

13. RECOMMENDATION OF AWARD FOR RFQ #050322E FOR THE DESIGN & ENGINEERING OF A MATERIAL 
RECYCLING FACILITY (MRF) 

14. CHAIRMAN'S WRAP UP  

15. AGENCIES, BOARDS, AND COMMISSIONS VACANCIES  

Beaufort County Transportation Committee - District 9 

16. ADJOURNMENT 

 
TO WATCH COMMITTEE OR COUNTY COUNCIL MEETINGS OR FOR A COMPLETE LIST OF AGENDAS AND 

BACKUP PACKAGES, PLEASE VISIT: 

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html 

 

2



 

 

 

Public Facilities Committee 

Beaufort County, SC 
This meeting was held at the County Council Chambers, 100 Ribaut Road, Beaufort, and 

virtually through Zoom.  

Monday, April 18, 2022 
3:00 PM 

MINUTES 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

Chairman Rodman called the meeting to order at 2.52 PM 

PRESENT 
Committee Chairman Stu Rodman 
Committee Vice-Chair York Glover 
Council Member Brian Flewelling 
Council Member Joseph F. Passiment 
Council Member Gerald Dawson 
Council Member Chris Hervochon 
Council Member Alice Howard 
Council Member Mark Lawson 
Council Member Lawrence McElynn 
 
ABSENT 
Council Member D. Paul Sommerville 
Council Member Logan Cunningham 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Chairman Rodman led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

3. FOIA 

Chairman Rodman stated public notice of this meeting had been published, posted, and distributed in 
compliance with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act (FOIA). 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Motion: It was moved by Committee Vice-Chair Glover, seconded by Council Member Howard, to approve 
the agenda.  

The Vote -The motion was approved without objection. 
 

3

Item 5.



Public Facilities Committee Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - March 21, 2022  

Motion: It was moved by Committee Vice-Chair Glover, seconded by Council Member Howard, to approve 
the March 21, 2022, minutes. 

The Vote -The motion was approved without objection. 

6. CITIZEN COMMENTS  

No citizens comment 

7. ASSISTANT COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR REPORT 

None 
 

 

8. RECOMMEND APPROVAL TO AWARD FOR THE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING ROOF REPLACEMENT 
(FISCAL IMPACT: C.E. BOURNE & CO., INC., AN OMNIA PARTNERS CONTRACT HAS PROPOSED A COST 
OF $1,299,912.00.  THE FUNDING SOURCE FOR THIS PROJECT IS ACCOUNT NUMBER 40110011-54422.) 

9. RECOMMEND APPROVAL TO AWARD IBF# 013122 H.E. TRASK BOAT LANDING REPAIRS ($288,609.00) 

10. RECOMMEND APPROVAL TO AWARD IFB #021122 DETENTION CENTER COOLER/FREEZER 
REPLACEMENT ($229,840.00) 

Discussion: Dave Wilhem stated Beaufort County Facility Management is requesting approval to award 
C.E. Bourne & Co., Inc. using Omnia Partners Contractor (Contract No. RZ00108) to replace the 
Administration Building roof and façade according to plans and specifications by Beaufort Design Build. 
The Administration Building roof is approximately 30 years old. 

Neil Desai stated the Public Works Dept. retrieved the floating dock downstream and determined that the 
structure was not salvageable for reinstallation. The department then requested quotes from marine 
contractors, but they were above the procurement threshold and required the project to be advertised 
for bidding. The bid was announced in December, with a bid opening in February. 

Dave Wilhelm stated the project consists of but is not limited to replacing the existing three coolers and 
one freezer (30 years old) and the associated refrigeration systems and control wiring by the project plans 
and specifications. 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Flewelling, seconded by Council Member Dawson, to approve 
the recommendation to award the administration building roof replacement of $1,299,912, 
IFB#013122 H.E. Trask Boat Landing repairs $288,609, and IFB #021122 detention center cooler/freezer 
replacement $229,840 and move forward to County Council for final approval. 
 
The Vote -The motion was approved without objection. 

11. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT THE 2022 PALMETTO PRIDE LITTER 
ENFORCEMENT GRANT AWARD ($3,200)  

Discussion: Dave Wilhelm stated Beaufort County’s Solid Waste and Recycling Department applied for the 
2022 Palmetto Pride Litter Enforcement Grant on December 22, 2021, after County Council’s permission 
to use (October 11, 2021). The grant was offered to eligible applicants (city or county governments) to 
purchase equipment and resources in litter control cases. 
  

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Dawson, seconded by Committee Vice-Chair Glover, to approve 
the recommendation to accept the 2022 Palmetto Pride Litter Enforcement Grant Award ($3,200). 

 
The Vote -The motion was approved without objection. 

4

Item 5.



Public Facilities Committee Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

12. DISCUSSION OF AN ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE LIMITED WORK ON PRIVATE ROADS. 

Discussion: Eric Greenway stated based on research from public works departments throughout the state 
and from various statewide municipal and county attorneys, both the Public Works Department and the 
Legal Department created the proposed ordinance that allows one-time work efforts on countywide 
private roads. Public Works will be making a database to track the proposed work efforts in their existing 
work order system. 

Neil Desai stated per direction from the County Administrator, Public Works & Legal Department was 
tasked with creating a one-time work effort on private roads. The fiscal impact on the County will vary 
from situation to situation. For example, a small fallen tree will require minimum effort and expenditure 
of County funds versus a private road needing a crusher run or gravel. 

Eric Greenway stated administration would research the budget and different resolutions of the private 
road emergency and come back to County Council with solutions.  

Status: For Informational Purposes Only 
 

13. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT GRANT FUNDING AVAILABLE THROUGH THE 
SOUTH CAROLINA AERONAUTICS COMMISSION FOR BEAUFORT EXECUTIVE AIRPORT EMERGENCY 
GENERATOR. (FISCAL IMPACT: THIS IS A 60% REIMBURSEMENT GRANT. THE AIRPORT HAS ALREADY 
PAID THE INVOICE FOR THE GENERATOR WORK, SO THERE ARE NO NEW FINANCIAL IMPACTS.) 

14. RECOMMEND APPROVAL TO DESIGNATE FINANCIAL BENEFICIARY OF THE BEAUFORT EXECUTIVE 
AIRPORT (ARW) FLYING FROG 5K RACE HELD ON OCTOBER 22, 2022, TO THE ALTITUDE ACADEMY. 

Motion: It was moved by Committee Vice-Chair Glover, seconded by Council Member Howard, to approve 
the recommendation to accept grant funding available through the South Carolina Aeronautics 
Commission for Beaufort Executive Airport emergency generator and approve the recommendation 
to designate the financial beneficiary of the Beaufort Executive Airport (ARW) Flying Frog 5k Race held on 
October 22, 2022, to the Altitude Academy and move forward to County Council for approval.  

The Vote -The motion was approved without objection. 
 

15. UPDATE ON SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING 

To see the update, please click the link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/167551 

Status: For Informational Purposes Only 
 

16. RECOMMEND TO COUNTY COUNCIL FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE TO ALLOCATE 2018 ONE-CENT 
SALES TAX ADDITIONAL REVENUE TO THE SIDEWALKS AND MULTI-USE PATHWAYS PROGRAM 
($15,449,734.75). 

Discussion: Brittany Fields stated the $120 million referendum included three (3) project categories; US 
278 Corridor Traffic Improvements ($80 million), Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements ($30 
million), and Sidewalks and Multi-Use Pathways ($10 million). In May 2019, County Council passed 
Resolution 2019/22, prioritizing the Sidewalks and Multi-Use Pathways projects to 14 out of the 24 
locations. The total cost of all the projects exceeded the available funding from the referendum. To ensure 
the completion of the priority projects established in Resolution 2019/22, staff recommends 
the $15,994,638.30 additional revenue to be allocated to the Sidewalks and Multi-Use Pathway 
Program (account 47050011-54510). 

5

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/167551


Public Facilities Committee Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Passiment, seconded by Council Member Howard, to approve 
a change of agenda content to state recommend an Ordinance to Allocate 2018 One-Cent Sales Tax 
Additional Revenue to the sidewalks and multi-use pathways program ($15,449,734.75). 

The Vote -The motion was approved without objection. 

17. UPDATE ON HIGHWAY 278 

To see the update, please click the link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/167551 

Status: For Informational Purposes Only 

18. CHAIRMAN'S WRAPUP  

19. ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting was adjourned at 4 p.m. 

 

 

6

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/167551


BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

             ITEM TITLE: 

Approval of an ordinance for 2022 Sales Tax Referendum (Transportation Advisory Committee 
Recommendation) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities Meeting May 16, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Dean Moss, Transportation Advisory Committee Chairman 

Jared Fralix, Assistant County Administrator of Engineering 

30 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

County Council passed a resolution on February 7, 2022, to establish a TAC to evaluate a potential 
Sales Tax Referendum. The Committee’s objective was to define the proposed project list for the 
referendum questions, the amount of the sales tax to be collected, and the duration of the sales tax 
collection period.   

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The TAC met for eleven meetings to discuss the objectives as set by Council. Much consideration was 
given to develop the proposed list of projects and a unanimous vote was made by the committee to 
forward to County Council. The project list is described fully in the attached memorandum and 
ordinance.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

N\A  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval of an ordinance for 2022 Sales Tax Referendum (Transportation Advisory 
Committee Recommendation) 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny the approval of an ordinance for 2022 Sales Tax Referendum 
(Transportation Advisory Committee Recommendation) 

Next steps - Move forward to Council for First Reading on May 23rd  

 

7

Item 8.



 

1 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Chairman and Members, Beaufort County Council 

From:  Dean Moss, Chairman, Transportation Advisory Committee 

Copy to:  County Administrator and Members, Transportation Advisory Committee 

Subject:  Transportation Advisory Committee Report and Recommendations 

Date:  May 10, 2022 

1.  Introduction 

The purpose of this memo is to transmit to the Beaufort County Council the 

recommendations and observations of the Council appointed Transportation Advisory 

Committee (TAC). These recommendations represent the unanimous position of those 17 

members of the Committee who actively participated in the deliberations. 

2. Summary General Recommendations 

The Committee recommends that Council prepare a referendum question to be placed 

upon the ballot at the earliest feasible date, which will ask the electorate to approve a one 

percent (1%) additional sales tax in Beaufort County, beginning in the following year and 

extending for ten years. The proceeds from this tax would be expended by the County for a 

series of critical transportation and mobility projects and programs vital to the health and 

safety of the residents and visitors. Further, the Committee recommends that a standing 

Transportation Advisory Committee be appointed to assist the County Council and Staff in 

the prioritization and implementation of the projects and activities to be funded by the 

referendum. 

3. Council’s Charge to the Committee 

County Council created the TAC through a resolution adopted on February 7, 2022.  The 

charge to the Committee is contained in paragraph #6 and reads as follows: 

“The citizen’s committee is charged with completing and preparing the following 

recommendations: 

a.  A proposed project list and/or categories for the referendum question(s) 

b. The amount of the sales tax to be collected; and/or 

c. The duration of the sales tax collection period.” 

4. Committee Process 

The Committee consisted of seventeen (19) members, one each from the eleven County 

Council Districts, one each from the five municipalities and one from the city of Hardeeville. 

The Hardeeville representative did not attend any meetings and the Yemassee 

representative attended one. The other appointees were, in general, in attendance at all 

the meetings.  The Committee met ten times, mostly on a Tuesday afternoon from 5:30 to 

between 7:00 and 7:30. The first four meetings of the TAC were spent learning and 

digesting the very complex jargon and procedures involved in the planning, engineering, 

and financing of transportation projects.  Staff then prepared a “strawman” of major 

8

Item 8.



 

2 
 

highway projects and other categories of more minor projects, that the Committee could 

work from. The remaining meetings were spent defining, debating, and modifying these 

suggested projects and the monies allocated to each one.  At the meeting on May 2, the 

Committee reached a general consensus and at the meeting on May 10, formally voted 

unanimously to approve the projects, amounts and recommendations that are contained in 

this memo. 

5. Role of the Staff 

Staff involved in this project consisted of Assistant County Administrator Jared Fralix, Capital 

Projects Coordinator, Brittanee Fields, and Administrative Assistant Carol Puryear. In the 

final two meetings, recently hired Engineering Director, Eric Claussen, also attended.  Given 

the complex nature of this process there was a lot for the Committee members to learn and 

staff provided many documents and plans that had been completed by the State of SC, the 

Low Country COG, County Planning, and the municipalities. Staff provided the Committee a 

suggested list of projects, transportation program categories and amounts.  There were 

many questions at every meeting, and they were clearly and patiently answered.  In sum, 

the staff support to the TAC was outstanding.  

6. Concepts behind the Recommendations 

The Committee is recommending that the referendum contain two types of project 

expenditures. 

a. Specific Projects 

These represent the traditional approach to referendum questions. As in the 2018 

referendum, specific projects are enumerated with an allocation of money specified. An 

example might be “Highway 170 Improvements – $80 million”, A short description of 

the project could be included.  As described below, the Committee recommends that 

eight of these projects be included in the referendum. They are countywide and address 

problems both on Federally designated highways (278, 46, 170, 21) and on State, 

County, and local roads, and streets.  $220 million is recommended for projects south of 

the Broad River and $115 million is recommended for projects north of the Broad River. 

It is important to note that none of these projects have been designed or bid, and the 

amounts assigned to them do not represent project budgets. 

b. Transportation Improvement Programs 

This category encompasses a large variety of projects which, because they are small 

(pave a dirt road), or because they may emerge in the future, cannot be specifically 

defined. These are projects that are, and will be, undeniably required, but which cannot 

yet be defined and may cost only a fraction of a “Specific Project”.  They would address 

needs that will emerge all over the County; in response, for example, to coastal flooding, 

new developments in rural areas, or the need to resurface exiting streets. Spent 

correctly, these funds will benefit residents and business all over the County. The 

Committee recommends putting approximately one half ($365 million) of the total 

expected revenue into these categories of projects, as described below. 

9

Item 8.



 

3 
 

 

7. Recommendations 

a. Amount and Length of Tax 

We recommend that the sales tax be applied at 1% (one penny on the dollar) for a 

period of ten years. We assumed a moderate to high growth rate. Based upon this 

projection the tax should raise approximately $700,000,000 over ten years.  We 

believe that this amount will enable us to plan, develop and implement appropriate 

solutions to meet the current needs caused by an overwhelmed and aging 

infrastructure system and to accomplish the improvements required today to 

address future demands.  In addition, this money can be multiplied several times 

over by aggressive pursuit of matching federal and state funds and the development 

of coordinated projects with Jasper County. 

b. Specific Projects and Amounts 

i. Hwy 170 Improvements - $80,000,000 

Capacity and safety improvements on a 4.5-mile segment of SC 170 from US 

278 to SC 462.  

ii. Hwy 46 Improvements - $20,000,000 

Capacity and safety improvements along SC 46 from SC 170 to Jasper County. 

Additional safety improvements (i.e.- turn lanes at intersections) along SC 46 

from SC 170 to Buckwalter Parkway.  All planned improvements would be 

designed so as to preserve the Scenic Byway designation.  

iii. Bluffton Regional Roadway Network - $40,000,000  

Implementation of any or all Bluffton projects listed as priorities in the 

approved LATS Transportation Plan. Bluffton Town Council would designate 

projects to be undertaken by Beaufort County. 

iv. Hilton Head Island Municipal Projects - $40,000,000 

Road resurfacing, intersection improvements and pathways as requested by    

the Town of Hilton Head.  

v. Hwy 278 Project Enhancements -$40,000,000 

Additional funding to support the US 278 Corridor Improvement Project  

vi.  US 21 and US 21(Bus.)/SC 281 Corridor Improvements -$75,000,000 

 Multimodal and access improvements along the US 21 corridor from Bell 

Bridge to Boundary Street and along the US 21(Business) corridor to Woods 

Memorial Bridge to improve safety, interconnectivity, and capacity. 

vii. Ladies Island Corridor Improvements -$40,000,000 

                    Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements  

 

c. Transportation Improvement Programs 

i. Mass Transit – $25,000,000 

10

Item 8.



 

4 
 

Funding multimodal transportation planning and implementation, to include 

marine transport, for a more robust and equitable public transportation 

system. 

ii. Safety - $50,000,000 

Safety improvements along roadways and intersections to include pedestrian 

accommodations.  

iii. Resilience - $20,000,000 

Improvements to transportation infrastructure to address flooding, sea level 

rise, stormwater, and drainage.  

iv. Dirt Road Paving - $50,000,000 

Paving of county-owned dirt roads throughout the County.  

v. Resurfacing – $60,000,000 

Road resurfacing and preservation of ALL roadways (State, County, and 

municipal owned) throughout the County. The goal is to improve the overall 

pavement condition of roads across the County.  

vi. Pathways - $50,000,000 

Design, right of way acquisition, and construction of pedestrian 

accommodations throughout the County in accordance with the Beaufort 

County Connects Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan 2021. We recommend that 

priority be given to pathways already approved by the voters in the 2018 

referendum 

vii. Transportation Technology/Access Roads - $50,000,000 

Planning, design, right of way acquisition, and construction of access roads 

for better interconnectivity. Implementation of transportation technologies 

to support enhancements to capacity and safety of the transportation 

system.  

viii. Long term Demand Reduction (Greenbelts) - $60,000,000 

Acquisition of property to reduce new lots and thereby establish a balance 

between environmental protection and rapid development growth.  Note:  

the term “Greenbelt” is used in the enabling legislation as an eligible category 

of expenditure. 

 

8.  Implementation Recommendations 

a. Advisory Committee 

i. County Council, with other stakeholders, should create an “Oversight” 

committee to oversee and prioritize projects for the entire length of the 

program. It should meet bi-monthly or quarterly. Its membership should 

mirror the TAC. 

ii. The Committee should make a call each year for projects from all 

stakeholders (County, municipalities, LATS/COG) for general projects. 

11

Item 8.



 

5 
 

iii. The Committee should create a priority index for all central programs such 

as: 

1. Safety:  intersection Improvements, turn lanes, rural road 

improvements.  Specifics to be developed. 

2. Dirt Road Paving: update existing 5-year plan to include municipal 

dirt roads. 

3. Resilience:  priorities should be based on susceptibility to flooding 

and population or critical functions served by the road.  

4. Resurfacing:  program to look at improving any and all roads (DOT, 

County, Municipal) specifics to be developed. 

5. Pathways:  use approved county wide pedestrian and bike master 

plan as a guide.  Priorities to projects already approved by voters. 

6. Transportation Technologies/Access Roads: focus on access and 

connecting roads, smart signals, electric vehicles services. 

b.  Issue Revenue Bonds 

Big projects should be bonded for immediate work  

c. Long Term Demand Reduction  

Utilize Rural and Critical Lands Board for priority setting of expenditures related to 

land or development rights acquisition 

d. Mass Transit 

Because no central plan currently exists for a comprehensive mass transit program, 

this should be the first priority. Utilize the exiting transit authority as the lead agency 

for this effort supported by an advisory committee. 

9. Conclusions 

As we weaved through the process and reviewed the gravity of the assignment and the 

critical needs for improvement and new components for our local mobility, it became quite 

evident that there is much to do.  It appears that we are not just behind the “8 ball”, we are 

under it; and it will take a coordinated public relations effort to move even this limited 

referendum forward for a better “mobility future for all of us. 

On behalf of the Transportation Advisory Committee members, may I say that it has been 

an honor to be entrusted by Council with preparing these important recommendations. I 

am available to meet with Council at your discretion to explain and discuss these projects 

and recommendations. 

  

12

Item 8.



Proposed 2022 Sales Tax Program 

One Penny for 10 years with Mid-High Growth = $700m 

 Greenbelts ($60m)

 Mass Transit; including Marine Transport ($25m)

 Project Programs
o Safety ($50m)
o Dirt Road Paving ($50m)
o Resurfacing ($60m)
o Pathways ($50m)
o Transportation Technologies/Access Roads ($50m)
o Resiliency ($20m)

 Big Projects
o SC 170 ($80m)
o Ribaut Road/Interconnectivity Projects ($60m)
o Parallel Road ($15m)
o SC 46 ($20m)
o Hilton Head Project – Intersection Improvements, Pathways, and 

Resurfacing ($40m)
o US 278 Corridor Improvement/Enhancements ($40m)
o Lady’s Island Corridor ($40m)
o Bluffton Regional Roadway Network ($40m)

13

Item 8.



Greenbelts: Acquisition of property to establish a balance between environmental protection and rapid 
development growth.  

Mass Transit: Funding multimodal transportation, to include marine transport, for a more robust and 
equitable public transportation system. 

Project Programs: 

- Safety: Safety improvements along roadways and intersections to include pedestrian
accommodations.

- Dirt Road Paving: Paving of county-owned dirt roads throughout the County.
- Resurfacing: Road resurfacing and preservation of ALL roadways (State, County, and

municipality-owned) throughout the County. The goal is to increase the overall pavement
condition of roads within the County as a whole.

- Pathways: Design, right of way acquisition, and construction of pedestrian accommodations
throughout the County in accordance with the Beaufort County Connects Bicycle and Pedestrian
Plan 2021.

- Transportation Technologies/Access Roads: Planning, design, right of way acquisition, and
construction of access roads for better inner connectivity. Implementation of transportation
technologies to support the enhancement to capacity and safety of the transportation system.

- Resiliency: Improvements to transportation infrastructure to address flooding, sea level rise,
stormwater and drainage.

Big Projects: 

- SC 170: Capacity and safety improvements on a 4.5-mile segment of SC 170 from US 278 to SC 
462.

- Ribaut Road: Multimodal and access improvements along the entire Ribaut Road corridor from 
Bell Bridge to Boundary Street. Construction of the southern portion of the project from Bell 
Bridge to Mossy Oaks Road/Johnny Morrall Circle Intersection (Phase 1).

- Parallel Road: Design, right of way acquisition and construction of a parallel road to Boundary 
Street from Hogarth Street to Greenlawn Drive to alleviate traffic congestion and provide 
emergency access for Boundary Street.

- SC 46 Improvements: Capacity and safety improvements along SC 46 from SC 170 to Jasper 
County. Additional safety improvements (i.e.- turn lanes at intersections) along SC 46 from SC 
170 to Buckwalter Parkway.  All planned improvements would be coordinated so as to not 
disrupt the Scenic Byway designation.

- Hilton Head Projects: Road resurfacing, intersection improvements and pathways as requested 
by the Town of Hilton Head.

- US 278 Corridor Improvements/Enhancements: Additional funding to support the US 278 
Corridor Improvement Project in the 2018 Transportation Sales Tax Referendum.

- Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements: Completion of the Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic 
Improvements in the 2018 Transportation Sales Tax Referendum.

- Bluffton Regional Roadway Network: Implementation of any or all Bluffton projects listed as 
priorities in the approved LATS Transportation Plan. Bluffton Town Council would designate 
projects to be undertaken by Beaufort County.

14

Item 8.



AN ORDINANCE 

 

TO LEVY AND IMPOSE A ONE (1) PERCENT SALES AND USE TAX, SUBJECT TO A 

REFERENDUM, WITHIN BEAUFORT COUNTY PURSUANT TO SECTION 4-37-30 OF 

THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA 1976, AS AMENDED; TO DEFINE THE 

SPECIFIC PURPOSES AND DESIGNATE THE PROJECTS FOR WHICH THE 

PROCEEDS OF THE TAX MAY BE USED; TO PROVIDE THE MAXIMUM TIME FOR 

WHICH SUCH TAX MAY BE IMPOSED; TO PROVIDE THE ESTIMATED COST OF 

THE PROJECTS FUNDED FROM THE PROCEEDS OF THE TAX; TO PROVIDE FOR 

A COUNTY-WIDE REFERENDUM ON THE IMPOSITION OF THE SALES AND USE 

TAX AND THE ISSUANCE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS AND TO PRESCRIBE 

THE CONTENTS OF THE BALLOT QUESTIONS IN THE REFERENDA; TO PROVIDE 

FOR THE CONDUCT OF THE REFERENDA BY THE BOARD OF VOTER 

REGISTRATION AND ELECTIONS OF BEAUFORT COUNTY; TO PROVIDE FOR 

THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE TAX, IF APPROVED; TO PROVIDE FOR THE 

PAYMENT OF THE TAX, IF APPROVED; AND TO PROVIDE FOR OTHER MATTERS 

RELATING THERETO.  

BE IT ENACTED BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH 

CAROLINA, IN MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED:  

Section 1. Recitals and Legislative Findings. As an incident to the enactment of this 

Ordinance, the County Council of Beaufort County, South Carolina (the “County Council”) makes 

the following findings: 

1.1 The South Carolina General Assembly has enacted Section 4-37-30 of the 

Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Act”), pursuant to which the 

county governing body may impose by ordinance a sales and use tax in an amount not to 

exceed one percent, subject to the favorable results of a referendum, within the county area 

for a specific purpose or purposes and for a limited amount of time to collect a limited 

amount of money. 

1.2 Pursuant to the terms of Section 4-37-30 of the Code of Laws of South 

Carolina 1976, as amended, the South Carolina General Assembly has authorized county 

government to finance the costs of highways, roads, streets, bridges and other 

transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) including, but not limited to, 

drainage facilities relating to the highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other transportation-

related projects; either alone or in conjunction with other governmental entities. As a means 

to furthering the powers granted to the County under the provisions of Section 4-9-30 and 

Sections 6-21-10, et.seq. of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976 as amended, the 

County Council is authorized to form a transportation authority or to enter into a 

partnership, consortium, or other contractual arrangement with one of more other 

governmental entities pursuant to Title 4, Chapter 37 of the Code of Laws of the South 

Carolina 1976, as amended. The County Council has decided to provide funding for 

15

Item 8.



highways, roads, streets, bridges, mass transit systems, greenbelts, and other 

transportation-related projects, inter alia, without the complexity of a transportation 

authority or entering into a partnership, consortium, or other contractual arrangements with 

one or more other governmental entities at this time; provided that nothing herein shall 

preclude County Council from entering into partnerships, consortiums, or other contractual 

arrangements in the future. County Council may utilize such provisions in the future as 

necessary or convenient to promote the public purposes served by funding highways, roads, 

streets, bridges, mass transit systems, greenbelts, and other transportation-related projects 

facilities (sic in statute) as provided in this Ordinance.  

1.3 The County Council finds that a one percent sales and use tax should be 

levied and imposed with Beaufort County, for the following projects and purpose: 

 

i. For financing the costs of highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other 

transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) related thereto, 

including, but not limited to, drainage facilities relating to the highways, 

roads, streets, bridges, and other transportation-related projects; and mass 

transit systems operated by Beaufort County or jointly operated by the 

County and other entities. 

 

ii. For financing the costs of greenbelts. 

 

(the above herein referred to as the “projects”) 

For a period not to exceed ten (10) years from the date of imposition of such tax, to fund 

the projects at a maximum cost not to exceed $700,000,000 to be funded from the net 

proceeds of a sales and use tax imposed in Beaufort County pursuant to provisions of the 

Act, subject to approval of the qualified electors of Beaufort County in referendum to be 

held on November 8, 2022. The imposition of the sales and use tax and the use of sales and 

use tax revenue if approved in the referendum, shall be subject to the conditions precedent 

and conditions or restrictions on the use and expenditure of sales and use tax revenue 

established by the Act, the provisions of this Ordinance, and other applicable law. Subject 

to annual appropriations by County Council, sales and use tax revenues shall be used for 

the costs of the projects established in this Ordinance, as it may be amended from time to 

time, including, without limitation, payment of administrative costs of the projects, and 

such sums as may be required in connection with the issuance of bonds, the proceeds of 

which are applied to pay costs of the projects. All spending shall be subject to an annual 

independent audit to be made available to the public. 

 1.4 County Council finds that the imposition of a sales and use tax in Beaufort 

County for the projects and purposes defined in this Ordinance for a limited time not to 

exceed ten years to collect a limited amount of money will serve a public purpose, provide 

funding for highways, roads, streets, bridges, mass transit systems, greenbelts, and other 

transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) including, but not limited to, 

drainage facilities relating to the highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other transportation-

16

Item 8.



related projects; as provided in this Ordinance to facilitate economic development, promote 

public safety, provide needed infrastructure, promote desirable living conditions, enhance 

the quality of life in Beaufort County, and promote public health and safety in the event of 

fire, emergency, panic, and other dangers, and prepare Beaufort County to meet present 

and future needs of Beaufort County and its citizens.  

Section 2.  Approval of Sales and Use Tax Subject to Referendum. 

2.1  A sales and use tax (the “Sales and Use Tax”), as authorized by the Act, is 

hereby imposed in Beaufort County, South Carolina, subject to a favorable vote of a 

majority of the qualified electors voting in a referendum on the imposition of the tax to be 

held in Beaufort County, South Carolina on November 8, 2022.  

2.2 The Sales and Use Tax shall be imposed for a period not to exceed ten (10) 

years from the date of imposition.  

2.3 The maximum cost of the projects to be funded from the proceeds of the 

Sales and Use Tax shall not exceed, in the aggregate, the sum of $700,000,000 and the 

maximum amount of net proceeds to be raised by the tax shall not exceed $700,000,000, 

which includes administrative costs and debt service on bonds issued to pay for the 

projects. The estimated principal amount of initial authorization of bonds to be issued to 

pay costs of the projects and to be paid by a portion of the Sales and Use Tax is 

335,000,000. 

2.4 The Sales and Use Tax shall be expended for the costs of the following 

projects, including payment of any sums as may be required for the issuance of and debt 

service for bonds, the proceeds of which are applied to such projects, for the following 

purposes: 

i. For financing the costs of highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other 

transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) and mass transit systems operated 

by Beaufort County or jointly operated by the County and other governmental entities, 

which may include, but not limited to: 

i. Mass Transit: Funding multimodal transportation, including but not 

limited to ferries and marine transport, for a more robust and equitable 

public transportation system.  

Safety: Safety improvements along roadways and intersections to include 

pedestrian accommodations.  

Dirt Road Paving: Paving of county-owned dirt roads throughout the 

County.  

Resurfacing: Road resurfacing and preservation of all roadways (State, 

County, and municipality-owned) throughout the County. The goal is to 

improve the overall pavement condition of roads within the County as a 

whole.  

17

Item 8.



Pathways: Design, right of way acquisition, and construction of pedestrian 

accommodations throughout the County in accordance with the Beaufort 

County Connects Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan 2021.  

Transportation Technologies/Access Roads: Planning, design, right of 

way acquisition, and construction of access roads for better 

interconnectivity. Implementation of transportation technologies to support 

the enhancement to capacity and safety of the transportation system.  

Resiliency: Improvements to transportation infrastructure to address 

flooding, sea level rise, stormwater and drainage.  

SC 170: Capacity and safety improvements on a 4.5-mile segment of SC 

170 from US 278 to SC 462.  

US 21, US 21 Business, and SC 281 Corridor Improvements: 

Multimodal and access improvements along the US 21 corridor (Ribaut 

Road) from Bell Bridge to Boundary Street and US 21 Business corridor 

(Boundary Street) to Woods Memorial bridge to improve safety, 

interconnectivity and capacity.  

SC 46 Improvements: Capacity and safety improvements along SC 46 

from SC 170 to Jasper County. Additional safety improvements (i.e.- turn 

lanes at intersections) along SC 46 from SC 170 to Buckwalter Parkway. 

All planned improvements would be coordinated so as to not disrupt the 

Scenic Byway designation.  

Hilton Head Island Projects: Road resurfacing, intersection 

improvements and pathways as requested by the Town of Hilton Head 

Island.  

US 278 Corridor Improvements/Enhancements: Additional funding to 

support the US 278 Corridor Improvement Project in the 2018 

Transportation Sales Tax Referendum.  

Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements: Completion of the 

Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements in the 2018 Transportation 

Sales Tax Referendum.  

Bluffton Parkway 5B: Design, right of way acquisition and construction 

of the 2.3-mile segment of Bluffton Parkway from Buckwalter Parkway to 

Buck Island Road.  

 

The amount of the maximum total funds to be collected which shall be expended for these  

projects and purposes shall be no more than $700,000,000; 

 

  ii. For financing the costs of greenbelts. The amount of the maximum 

total funds to be collected which shall be expended for these projects and purposes shall be 

no more than $60,000,000.   
 

 2.5  If the Sales and Use Tax is approved by a majority of the qualified electors 

voting in a referendum to be held in Beaufort County on November 8, 2022, the tax is to 

be imposed on the first day of May 2023, provided the Board of Voter Registration and 

Elections of Beaufort County shall certify the results not later than November 11, 2022, to 

Beaufort County Council and the South Carolina Department of Revenue. Included in the 

18

Item 8.



certification must be the maximum cost of the projects to be funded in whole or in part 

from the proceeds of the tax, the maximum time specified for the imposition of the tax, and 

the principal amount of initial authorization of bonds, if any, to be supported by a portion 

of the tax.  

 2.6 The Sales and Use Tax, if approved in the referendum conducted on 

November 8, 2022 shall terminate on the earlier of: 

(1) April 30, 2033; or  

(2) the end of the calendar month during which the Department of Revenue 

determines that the tax has raised revenues sufficient to provide the greater of either the 

costs of the projects as approved in the referendum or the cost to amortize all debts related 

to the approved projects.  

2.7 Amounts of Sales and Use Tax collected in excess of the required proceeds 

must first be applied, if necessary, to complete each project for which the tax was imposed. 

Any additional revenue collected above the specified amount must be applied to the 

reduction of debt principal of Beaufort County on transportation infrastructure debts only.  

2.8 The Sales and Use Tax must be administered and collected by the South 

Carolina Department of Revenue in the same manner that other sales and use taxes are 

collected. The Department may prescribe amounts that may be added to the sales price 

because of the tax. 

2.9 The Sales and Use Tax is in addition to all other local sales and use taxes 

and applies to the gross proceeds of sales in the applicable area that is subject to the tax 

imposed by Chapter 36 of Title 12 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 

amended, and the enforcement provisions of Chapter 54 of Title 12 of the Code of Laws 

of South Carolina 1976, as amended. The gross proceeds of the sale of items subject to a 

maximum tax in Chapter 36 of Title 12 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 

amended are exempt from the tax imposed by this Ordinance. The gross proceeds of the 

sale of food lawfully purchased with United States Department of Agriculture Food Stamps 

are exempt from the tax imposed by this Ordinance. The tax imposed by this Ordinance 

also applies to tangible property subject to the use tax in Article 13, Chapter 36 of Title 12 

of the Code of Laws of South Caroilna1976, as amended.  

2.10  Taxpayers required to remit taxes under Article 13, Chapter 36 of Title 12 

of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, must identify the county in 

which the personal property purchased at retail is stored, used, or consumed in this State.  

2.11  Utilities are required to report sales in the county in which the consumption 

of the tangible personal property occurs. 

2.12 A taxpayer subject to the tax imposed by Section 12-36-920 of the Code of 

Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, who owns or manages rental units in more than 

19

Item 8.



one county must report separately in his sales tax return the total gross proceeds from 

business done in each county. 

2.13 The gross proceeds of sales of tangible personal property delivered after the 

imposition date of the Sales and Use Tax, either under the terms of a construction contract 

executed before the imposition date, or written bid submitted before the imposition date, 

are exempt from the sales and use tax provided in this Ordinance if a verified copy of the 

contract is filed with the Department of Revenue within six months after the imposition 

date of the sales and use tax provided for in this Ordinance. 

2.14 Notwithstanding the imposition date of the Sales and Use Tax with respect 

to services that are billed regularly on a monthly basis, the sales and use tax authorized 

pursuant to this ordinance is imposed on the first day of the billing period beginning on or 

after the imposition date. 

Section 3. Remission of Sales and Use Tax; Segregation of Funds; 

Administration of Funds; Distribution to County: Confidentially.  

3.1 The revenues of the Sales and Use Tax collected under this Ordinance must 

be remitted to the State Treasurer and credited to a fund separate and distinct from the 

general fund of the State. After deducting the amount of any refunds made and costs to the 

Department of Revenue of administrating the tax, not to exceed one percent of such 

revenues, the State Treasurer shall distribute the revenues quarterly to the Beaufort County 

Treasurer and the revenues must be used only for the purposes stated herein. The State 

Treasurer may correct misallocations by adjusting subsequent distributions must be made 

in the same fiscal year as the misallocation. However, allocations made as a result of city 

or county code errors must be corrected prospectively.  

3.2  (a) Any outside agencies, political subdivisions, or organizations 

designated to receive funding from the Sales and Use Tax must annually submit requests 

for funding in accordance with procedures and schedules established by the County 

Administrator. The County Administrator shall prepare the proposed budget for the Sales 

and Use Tax and submit it to the County Council at such time as the County Council 

determines. At the time of submitting the proposed budget, the County Administrator shall 

submit to the County Council a statement describing the important features of the proposed 

budget.  

 (b) County Council shall adopt annually and prior to the beginning of 

each fiscal year a budget for expenditures of Sales and Use Tax revenues. County Council 

may make supplemental appropriations for the Sales and Use Tax following the same 

procedures prescribed for the enactment of other budget ordinances. The provisions of this 

section shall not be construed to prohibit the transfer of funds appropriated in the annual 

budget for the Sales and Use Tax for purposes other than as specified in the annual budget 

when such transfers are approved by County Council. In the preparation of the annual 

budget, County Council may require any reports, estimates, and statistics from any county 

20

Item 8.



agency or department as may be necessary to perform its duties as the responsible fiscal 

body of the County. 

 (c) Except as specifically authorized by County Council, any outside 

agency or organization receiving an appropriation of the Sales and Use Tax must provide 

to County Council an independent audit of such agency’s or organization’s financial 

records and transactions and such other and more frequent financial information as required 

by County Council, all in form satisfactory to County Council. 

3.3 The Department of Revenue shall furnish data to the State Treasurer and to 

the Beaufort County Treasurer for the purpose of calculating distributions and estimating 

revenues. The information which must be supplied to the County upon request includes, 

but is not limited to, gross receipts, net taxable sales, and tax liability by taxpayers. 

Information about a specific taxpayer is considered confidential and is governed by the 

provisions of SC Code Ann. Section 12-54-240. Any person violating the provisions of this 

section shall be subject to the penalties provided in SC Code Ann. Section 12-54-240.  

Section 4.  Sales and Use Tax Referendum; Ballot Question. 

4.1 The Board of Voter Registration and Elections of Beaufort County shall 

conduct a referendum on the question of imposing a Sales and Use Tax in the area of 

Beaufort County on Tuesday, November 8, 2022, between the hours of 7 a.m. and 7 p.m. 

under the election laws of the State of South Carolina, mutatis mutandis. The Board of 

Voter Registration and Elections of Beaufort County shall publish in a newspaper of 

general circulation the question that is to appear on the ballot, with the list of projects and 

purposes as set forth herein, and the cost of projects, and shall publish such election and 

other notices as required by law. 

4.2 The referendum question to be on the ballot of the referendum to be held in 

Beaufort County on November 8, 2022, must read substantially as follows: 

 

BEAUFORT COUNTY SPECIAL SALES AND USE TAX 

QUESTION 1 

I approve a special sales and use tax in the amount of one (1) percent to be imposed in 

Beaufort County for not more than ten (10) years, or until a total of $700,000,000 in 

resulting revenue has been collected, whichever occurs first. The sales tax proceeds will be 

used to fund the following projects: 

Project (1) For financing the costs of highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other 

transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) related thereto including, but not 

limited to, drainage facilities relating to the highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other 

transportation-related projects; and mass transit systems operated by Beaufort County or 

jointly operated by the County and other governmental entities. $640,000,000. 

21

Item 8.



Project (2) For financing the costs of greenbelts. $60,000,000.  

    YES ______ 

    NO _______ 

Instructions to Voters:  All qualified electors desiring to vote in favor of levying the 

    special sales and use tax shall vote “YES;” and 

    All qualified electors opposed to levying the special sales  

    and use tax shall vote “NO.” 

 

QUESTION 2 

 

I approve the issuance of not exceeding $335,000,000 of general obligation bonds of 

Beaufort County. Payable from the special sales and use tax described in Question 1 above, 

maturing over a period not to exceed ten (10) years, to fund completion of projects from 

among the categories described in Question 1 above.  

     YES ______ 

     NO _______ 

Instructions to Voters: All qualified electors desiring to vote in favor of the issuance 

bonds for the stated purpose shall vote “YES;” and  

     All qualified electors opposed to the issuance of bonds for  

     the stated purposes shall vote “NO.” 

 

4.3 In the referendum on the imposition of a special sales and use tax in 

Beaufort County, all qualified electors desiring to vote in favor of imposing the tax for the 

stated purposes shall vote “yes” and all qualified electors opposed to levying the tax shall 

vote “no”. If a majority of the electors voting in the referendum shall vote in favor of 

imposing the tax, then the tax is imposed as provided in the Act and this Ordinance. 

Expenses of the referendum must be paid by Beaufort County government.  

4.4 In the referendum on the issuance of bonds, all qualified electors desiring 

to vote in favor of the issuance of bonds for the stated purpose shall vote “yes” and all 

qualified electors opposed to the issuance of bonds shall vote “no”. If a majority of the 

electors voting in the referendum shall vote in favor of the issuance of bonds, then the 

issuance of bonds shall be authorized in accordance with SC Constitution Article X, 

Section 14, Paragraph (6). Expenses of the referendum must be paid by Beaufort County 

government. 

22

Item 8.



Section 5.  Imposition of Tax Subject to Referendum. 

The imposition of the Sales and Use Tax in Beaufort County is subject in all respects to 

the favorable vote of a majority of qualified electors casting votes in a referendum on the 

question of imposing a sales and use tax in the area of Beaufort County in a referendum to  

be conducted by the Board of Voter Registration and Elections of Beaufort County on 

November 8, 2022, and the favorable vote of a majority of the qualified electors voting in 

such a referendum shall be a condition precedent to the imposition of a sales and use tax 

pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance. 

Section 6. Miscellaneous. 

 6.1 If any one or more of the provisions or portions hereof are determined by a 

court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, then that provision or portion shall 

be deemed severable from the remaining terms or portions hereof and the invalidity thereof 

shall in no way affect the validity of the other provisions of this Ordinance; if any 

provisions of this Ordinance shall be held or deemed to be or shall, in fact, be inoperative 

or unenforceable or invalid as applied to any particular case in any jurisdiction or in all 

cases because it conflicts with any constitution or statute or rule of public policy, or for any 

other reason, those circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the provision in 

question inoperative or unenforceable or invalid in any other case or circumstance, or of 

rendering any other provision or provisions herein contained inoperative or unenforceable 

or invalid to any extent whatever; provided, however that the Sales and Use Tax may not 

be imposed without the favorable results of the referendum to be held on November 8, 

2022.  

 6.2 This Ordinance shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the 

laws of the State of South Carolina and all suits and actions arising out of this Ordinance 

shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in this State. 

 6.3 The headings or titles of the several sections hereof shall be solely for 

convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning, construction, interpretations, or 

effect of this ordinance. 

 6.4 This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon approval following third 

reading. 

 6.5  All previous ordinances regarding the same subject matter as this Ordinance 

are hereby repealed.  

IT IS SO ORDAINED. 

     ________________________________ 

     Joseph Passiment 

     County Council Chairman 

____________________________ 

Sarah Brock, Clerk to Council 

23

Item 8.



The document(s) herein were provided to Council for 
information and/or discussion after release of the official 

agenda and backup items.  

24

Item 8.



1 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Chairman and Members, Beaufort County Council 

From:  Dean Moss, Chairman, Transportation Advisory Committee 

Copy to:  County Administrator and Members, Transportation Advisory Committee 

Subject:  Transportation Advisory Committee Report and Recommendations 

Date:  May 10, 2022 

1.  Introduction 
The purpose of this memo is to transmit to the Beaufort County Council the 
recommendations and observations of the Council appointed Transportation Advisory 
Committee (TAC). These recommendations represent the unanimous position of those 17 
members of the Committee who actively participated in the deliberations. 

2. Summary General Recommendations 
The Committee recommends that Council prepare a referendum question to be placed 
upon the ballot at the earliest feasible date, which will ask the electorate to approve a one 
percent (1%) additional sales tax in Beaufort County, beginning in the following year and 
extending for ten years. The proceeds from this tax would be expended by the County for a 
series of critical transportation and mobility projects and programs vital to the health and 
safety of the residents and visitors. Further, the Committee recommends that a standing 
Transportation Advisory Committee be appointed to assist the County Council and Staff in 
the prioritization and implementation of the projects and activities to be funded by the 
referendum. 

3. Council’s Charge to the Committee 
County Council created the TAC through a resolution adopted on February 7, 2022.  The 
charge to the Committee is contained in paragraph #6 and reads as follows: 

“The citizen’s committee is charged with completing and preparing the following 
recommendations: 

a.  A proposed project list and/or categories for the referendum question(s) 
b. The amount of the sales tax to be collected; and/or 
c. The duration of the sales tax collection period.” 

4. Committee Process 
The Committee consisted of seventeen (19) members, one each from the eleven County 
Council Districts, one each from the five municipalities and one from the city of Hardeeville. 
The Hardeeville representative did not attend any meetings and the Yemassee 
representative attended one. The other appointees were, in general, in attendance at all 
the meetings.  The Committee met ten times, mostly on a Tuesday afternoon from 5:30 to 
between 7:00 and 7:30. The first four meetings of the TAC were spent learning and 
digesting the very complex jargon and procedures involved in the planning, engineering, 
and financing of transportation projects.  Staff then prepared a “strawman” of major 

25

Item 8.



2 
 

highway projects and other categories of more minor projects, that the Committee could 
work from. The remaining meetings were spent defining, debating, and modifying these 
suggested projects and the monies allocated to each one.  At the meeting on May 2, the 
Committee reached a general consensus and at the meeting on May 10, formally voted 
unanimously to approve the projects, amounts and recommendations that are contained in 
this memo. 

5. Role of the Staff 
Staff involved in this project consisted of Assistant County Administrator Jared Fralix, Capital 
Projects Coordinator, Brittanee Fields, and Administrative Assistant Carol Puryear. In the 
final two meetings, recently hired Engineering Director, Eric Claussen, also attended.  Given 
the complex nature of this process there was a lot for the Committee members to learn and 
staff provided many documents and plans that had been completed by the State of SC, the 
Low Country COG, County Planning, and the municipalities. Staff provided the Committee a 
suggested list of projects, transportation program categories and amounts.  There were 
many questions at every meeting, and they were clearly and patiently answered.  In sum, 
the staff support to the TAC was outstanding.  

6. Concepts behind the Recommendations 
The Committee is recommending that the referendum contain two types of project 
expenditures. 

a. Specific Projects 
These represent the traditional approach to referendum questions. As in the 2018 
referendum, specific projects are enumerated with an allocation of money specified. An 
example might be “Highway 170 Improvements – $80 million”, A short description of 
the project could be included.  As described below, the Committee recommends that 
eight of these projects be included in the referendum. They are countywide and address 
problems both on Federally designated highways (278, 46, 170, 21) and on State, 
County, and local roads, and streets.  $220 million is recommended for projects south of 
the Broad River and $115 million is recommended for projects north of the Broad River. 
It is important to note that none of these projects have been designed or bid, and the 
amounts assigned to them do not represent project budgets. 
b. Transportation Improvement Programs 
This category encompasses a large variety of projects which, because they are small 
(pave a dirt road), or because they may emerge in the future, cannot be specifically 
defined. These are projects that are, and will be, undeniably required, but which cannot 
yet be defined and may cost only a fraction of a “Specific Project”.  They would address 
needs that will emerge all over the County; in response, for example, to coastal flooding, 
new developments in rural areas, or the need to resurface exiting streets. Spent 
correctly, these funds will benefit residents and business all over the County. The 
Committee recommends putting approximately one half ($365 million) of the total 
expected revenue into these categories of projects, as described below. 

26

Item 8.



3 
 

 

7. Recommendations 
a. Amount and Length of Tax 

We recommend that the sales tax be applied at 1% (one penny on the dollar) for a 
period of ten years. We assumed a moderate to high growth rate. Based upon this 
projection the tax should raise approximately $700,000,000 over ten years.  We 
believe that this amount will enable us to plan, develop and implement appropriate 
solutions to meet the current needs caused by an overwhelmed and aging 
infrastructure system and to accomplish the improvements required today to 
address future demands.  In addition, this money can be multiplied several times 
over by aggressive pursuit of matching federal and state funds and the development 
of coordinated projects with Jasper County. 

b. Specific Projects and Amounts 
i. Hwy 170 Improvements - $80,000,000 

Capacity and safety improvements on a 4.5-mile segment of SC 170 from US 
278 to SC 462.  

ii. Hwy 46 Improvements - $20,000,000 
Capacity and safety improvements along SC 46 from SC 170 to Jasper County. 
Additional safety improvements (i.e.- turn lanes at intersections) along SC 46 
from SC 170 to Buckwalter Parkway.  All planned improvements would be 
designed so as to preserve the Scenic Byway designation.  

iii. Bluffton Regional Roadway Network - $40,000,000  
Implementation of any or all Bluffton projects listed as priorities in the 
approved LATS Transportation Plan. Bluffton Town Council would designate 
projects to be undertaken by Beaufort County. 

iv. Hilton Head Island Municipal Projects - $40,000,000 
Road resurfacing, intersection improvements and pathways as requested by    
the Town of Hilton Head.  

v. Hwy 278 Project Enhancements -$40,000,000 
Additional funding to support the US 278 Corridor Improvement Project  

vi.  US 21 and US 21(Bus.)/SC 281 Corridor Improvements -$75,000,000 
 Multimodal and access improvements along the US 21 corridor from Bell 
Bridge to Boundary Street and along the US 21(Business) corridor to Woods 
Memorial Bridge to improve safety, interconnectivity, and capacity. 

vii. Lady’s Island Corridor Improvements -$40,000,000 
                    Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements  

 
c. Transportation Improvement Programs 

i. Mass Transit – $25,000,000 

27

Item 8.



4 
 

Funding multimodal transportation planning and implementation, to include 
marine transport, for a more robust and equitable public transportation 
system. 

ii. Safety - $50,000,000 
Safety improvements along roadways and intersections to include pedestrian 
accommodations.  

iii. Resilience - $20,000,000 
Improvements to transportation infrastructure to address flooding, sea level 
rise, stormwater, and drainage.  

iv. Dirt Road Paving - $50,000,000 
Paving of county-owned dirt roads throughout the County.  

v. Resurfacing – $60,000,000 
Road resurfacing and preservation of ALL roadways (State, County, and 
municipal owned) throughout the County. The goal is to improve the overall 
pavement condition of roads across the County.  

vi. Pathways - $50,000,000 
Design, right of way acquisition, and construction of pedestrian 
accommodations throughout the County in accordance with the Beaufort 
County Connects Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan 2021. We recommend that 
priority be given to pathways already approved by the voters in the 2018 
referendum 

vii. Transportation Technology/Access Roads - $50,000,000 
Planning, design, right of way acquisition, and construction of access roads 
for better interconnectivity. Implementation of transportation technologies 
to support enhancements to capacity and safety of the transportation 
system.  

viii. Long term Demand Reduction (Greenbelts) - $60,000,000 
Acquisition of property to reduce new lots and thereby establish a balance 
between environmental protection and rapid development growth.  Note:  
the term “Greenbelt” is used in the enabling legislation as an eligible category 
of expenditure. 
 

8.  Implementation Recommendations 
a. Advisory Committee 

i. County Council, with other stakeholders, should create an “Oversight” 
committee to oversee and prioritize projects for the entire length of the 
program. It should meet bi-monthly or quarterly. Its membership should 
mirror the TAC. 

ii. The Committee should make a call each year for projects from all 
stakeholders (County, municipalities, LATS/COG) for general projects. 

28

Item 8.



5 
 

iii. The Committee should create a priority index for all central programs such 
as: 

1. Safety:  intersection Improvements, turn lanes, rural road 
improvements.  Specifics to be developed. 

2. Dirt Road Paving: update existing 5-year plan to include municipal 
dirt roads. 

3. Resilience:  priorities should be based on susceptibility to flooding 
and population or critical functions served by the road.  

4. Resurfacing:  program to look at improving any and all roads (DOT, 
County, Municipal) specifics to be developed. 

5. Pathways:  use approved county wide pedestrian and bike master 
plan as a guide.  Priorities to projects already approved by voters. 

6. Transportation Technologies/Access Roads: focus on access and 
connecting roads, smart signals, electric vehicles services. 

b.  Issue Revenue Bonds 
Big projects should be bonded for immediate work  

c. Long Term Demand Reduction  
Utilize Rural and Critical Lands Board for priority setting of expenditures related to 
land or development rights acquisition 

d. Mass Transit 
Because no central plan currently exists for a comprehensive mass transit program, 
this should be the first priority. Utilize the exiting transit authority as the lead agency 
for this effort supported by an advisory committee. 

9. Conclusions 
As we weaved through the process and reviewed the gravity of the assignment and the 
critical needs for improvement and new components for our local mobility, it became quite 
evident that there is much to do.  It appears that we are not just behind the “8 ball”, we are 
under it; and it will take a coordinated public relations effort to move even this limited 
referendum forward for a better “mobility future for all of us. 
On behalf of the Transportation Advisory Committee members, may I say that it has been 
an honor to be entrusted by Council with preparing these important recommendations. I 
am available to meet with Council at your discretion to explain and discuss these projects 
and recommendations. 

  

29

Item 8.



AN ORDINANCE 

 

TO LEVY AND IMPOSE A ONE (1) PERCENT SALES AND USE TAX, SUBJECT TO A 
REFERENDUM, WITHIN BEAUFORT COUNTY PURSUANT TO SECTION 4-37-30 OF 
THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA 1976, AS AMENDED; TO DEFINE THE 
SPECIFIC PURPOSES AND DESIGNATE THE PROJECTS FOR WHICH THE 
PROCEEDS OF THE TAX MAY BE USED; TO PROVIDE THE MAXIMUM TIME FOR 
WHICH SUCH TAX MAY BE IMPOSED; TO PROVIDE THE ESTIMATED COST OF 
THE PROJECTS FUNDED FROM THE PROCEEDS OF THE TAX; TO PROVIDE FOR 
A COUNTY-WIDE REFERENDUM ON THE IMPOSITION OF THE SALES AND USE 
TAX AND THE ISSUANCE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS AND TO PRESCRIBE 
THE CONTENTS OF THE BALLOT QUESTIONS IN THE REFERENDA; TO PROVIDE 
FOR THE CONDUCT OF THE REFERENDA BY THE BOARD OF VOTER 
REGISTRATION AND ELECTIONS OF BEAUFORT COUNTY; TO PROVIDE FOR 
THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE TAX, IF APPROVED; TO PROVIDE FOR THE 
PAYMENT OF THE TAX, IF APPROVED; AND TO PROVIDE FOR OTHER MATTERS 
RELATING THERETO.  

BE IT ENACTED BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA, IN MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED:  

Section 1. Recitals and Legislative Findings. As an incident to the enactment of this 
Ordinance, the County Council of Beaufort County, South Carolina (the “County Council”) makes 
the following findings: 

1.1 The South Carolina General Assembly has enacted Section 4-37-30 of the 
Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Act”), pursuant to which the 
county governing body may impose by ordinance a sales and use tax in an amount not to 
exceed one percent, subject to the favorable results of a referendum, within the county area 
for a specific purpose or purposes and for a limited amount of time to collect a limited 
amount of money. 

1.2 Pursuant to the terms of Section 4-37-30 of the Code of Laws of South 
Carolina 1976, as amended, the South Carolina General Assembly has authorized county 
government to finance the costs of highways, roads, streets, bridges and other 
transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) including, but not limited to, 
drainage facilities relating to the highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other transportation-
related projects; either alone or in conjunction with other governmental entities. As a means 
to furthering the powers granted to the County under the provisions of Section 4-9-30 and 
Sections 6-21-10, et.seq. of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976 as amended, the 
County Council is authorized to form a transportation authority or to enter into a 
partnership, consortium, or other contractual arrangement with one of more other 
governmental entities pursuant to Title 4, Chapter 37 of the Code of Laws of the South 
Carolina 1976, as amended. The County Council has decided to provide funding for 

30

Item 8.



highways, roads, streets, bridges, mass transit systems, greenbelts, and other 
transportation-related projects, inter alia, without the complexity of a transportation 
authority or entering into a partnership, consortium, or other contractual arrangements with 
one or more other governmental entities at this time; provided that nothing herein shall 
preclude County Council from entering into partnerships, consortiums, or other contractual 
arrangements in the future. County Council may utilize such provisions in the future as 
necessary or convenient to promote the public purposes served by funding highways, roads, 
streets, bridges, mass transit systems, greenbelts, and other transportation-related projects 
facilities (sic in statute) as provided in this Ordinance.  

1.3 The County Council finds that a one percent sales and use tax should be 
levied and imposed with Beaufort County, for the following projects and purpose: 

 
i. For financing the costs of highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other 

transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) related thereto, 
including, but not limited to, drainage facilities relating to the highways, 
roads, streets, bridges, and other transportation-related projects; and mass 
transit systems operated by Beaufort County or jointly operated by the 
County and other entities. 
 

ii. For financing the costs of greenbelts. 

 
(the above herein referred to as the “projects”) 

For a period not to exceed ten (10) years from the date of imposition of such tax, to fund 
the projects at a maximum cost not to exceed $700,000,000 to be funded from the net 
proceeds of a sales and use tax imposed in Beaufort County pursuant to provisions of the 
Act, subject to approval of the qualified electors of Beaufort County in referendum to be 
held on November 8, 2022. The imposition of the sales and use tax and the use of sales and 
use tax revenue if approved in the referendum, shall be subject to the conditions precedent 
and conditions or restrictions on the use and expenditure of sales and use tax revenue 
established by the Act, the provisions of this Ordinance, and other applicable law. Subject 
to annual appropriations by County Council, sales and use tax revenues shall be used for 
the costs of the projects established in this Ordinance, as it may be amended from time to 
time, including, without limitation, payment of administrative costs of the projects, and 
such sums as may be required in connection with the issuance of bonds, the proceeds of 
which are applied to pay costs of the projects. All spending shall be subject to an annual 
independent audit to be made available to the public. 

 1.4 County Council finds that the imposition of a sales and use tax in Beaufort 
County for the projects and purposes defined in this Ordinance for a limited time not to 
exceed ten years to collect a limited amount of money will serve a public purpose, provide 
funding for highways, roads, streets, bridges, mass transit systems, greenbelts, and other 
transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) including, but not limited to, 
drainage facilities relating to the highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other transportation-

31

Item 8.



related projects; as provided in this Ordinance to facilitate economic development, promote 
public safety, provide needed infrastructure, promote desirable living conditions, enhance 
the quality of life in Beaufort County, and promote public health and safety in the event of 
fire, emergency, panic, and other dangers, and prepare Beaufort County to meet present 
and future needs of Beaufort County and its citizens.  

Section 2.  Approval of Sales and Use Tax Subject to Referendum. 

2.1  A sales and use tax (the “Sales and Use Tax”), as authorized by the Act, is 
hereby imposed in Beaufort County, South Carolina, subject to a favorable vote of a 
majority of the qualified electors voting in a referendum on the imposition of the tax to be 
held in Beaufort County, South Carolina on November 8, 2022.  

2.2 The Sales and Use Tax shall be imposed for a period not to exceed ten (10) 
years from the date of imposition.  

2.3 The maximum cost of the projects to be funded from the proceeds of the 
Sales and Use Tax shall not exceed, in the aggregate, the sum of $700,000,000 and the 
maximum amount of net proceeds to be raised by the tax shall not exceed $700,000,000, 
which includes administrative costs and debt service on bonds issued to pay for the 
projects. The estimated principal amount of initial authorization of bonds to be issued to 
pay costs of the projects and to be paid by a portion of the Sales and Use Tax is 
335,000,000. 

2.4 The Sales and Use Tax shall be expended for the costs of the following 
projects, including payment of any sums as may be required for the issuance of and debt 
service for bonds, the proceeds of which are applied to such projects, for the following 
purposes: 

i. For financing the costs of highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other 
transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) and mass transit systems operated 
by Beaufort County or jointly operated by the County and other governmental entities, 
which may include, but not limited to: 

i. Mass Transit: Funding multimodal transportation, including but not 
limited to ferries and marine transport, for a more robust and equitable 
public transportation system.  
Safety: Safety improvements along roadways and intersections to include 
pedestrian accommodations.  
Dirt Road Paving: Paving of county-owned dirt roads throughout the 
County.  
Resurfacing: Road resurfacing and preservation of all roadways (State, 
County, and municipality-owned) throughout the County. The goal is to 
improve the overall pavement condition of roads within the County as a 
whole.  

32

Item 8.



Pathways: Design, right of way acquisition, and construction of pedestrian 
accommodations throughout the County in accordance with the Beaufort 
County Connects Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan 2021.  
Transportation Technologies/Access Roads: Planning, design, right of 
way acquisition, and construction of access roads for better 
interconnectivity. Implementation of transportation technologies to support 
the enhancement to capacity and safety of the transportation system.  
Resiliency: Improvements to transportation infrastructure to address 
flooding, sea level rise, stormwater and drainage.  
SC 170: Capacity and safety improvements on a 4.5-mile segment of SC 
170 from US 278 to SC 462.  
US 21, US 21 Business, and SC 281 Corridor Improvements: 
Multimodal and access improvements along the US 21 corridor (Ribaut 
Road) from Bell Bridge to Boundary Street and US 21 Business corridor 
(Boundary Street) to Woods Memorial bridge to improve safety, 
interconnectivity and capacity.  
SC 46 Improvements: Capacity and safety improvements along SC 46 
from SC 170 to Jasper County. Additional safety improvements (i.e.- turn 
lanes at intersections) along SC 46 from SC 170 to Buckwalter Parkway. 
All planned improvements would be coordinated so as to not disrupt the 
Scenic Byway designation.  
Hilton Head Island Projects: Road resurfacing, intersection 
improvements and pathways as requested by the Town of Hilton Head 
Island.  
US 278 Corridor Improvements/Enhancements: Additional funding to 
support the US 278 Corridor Improvement Project in the 2018 
Transportation Sales Tax Referendum.  
Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements: Completion of the 
Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements in the 2018 Transportation 
Sales Tax Referendum.  
Bluffton Regional Roadway Network: Implementation of any or all 
Bluffton projects listed as priorities in the approved LATS Transportation 
Plan. Bluffton Town Council would designate projects to be undertaken by 
Beaufort County.  
 

The amount of the maximum total funds to be collected which shall be expended for these  
projects and purposes shall be no more than $700,000,000; 
 
  ii. For financing the costs of greenbelts. The amount of the maximum 
total funds to be collected which shall be expended for these projects and purposes shall be 
no more than $60,000,000.   
 

 2.5  If the Sales and Use Tax is approved by a majority of the qualified electors 
voting in a referendum to be held in Beaufort County on November 8, 2022, the tax is to 
be imposed on the first day of May 2023, provided the Board of Voter Registration and 
Elections of Beaufort County shall certify the results not later than November 11, 2022, to 

33

Item 8.



Beaufort County Council and the South Carolina Department of Revenue. Included in the 
certification must be the maximum cost of the projects to be funded in whole or in part 
from the proceeds of the tax, the maximum time specified for the imposition of the tax, and 
the principal amount of initial authorization of bonds, if any, to be supported by a portion 
of the tax.  

 2.6 The Sales and Use Tax, if approved in the referendum conducted on 
November 8, 2022 shall terminate on the earlier of: 

(1) April 30, 2033; or  

(2) the end of the calendar month during which the Department of Revenue 
determines that the tax has raised revenues sufficient to provide the greater of either the 
costs of the projects as approved in the referendum or the cost to amortize all debts related 
to the approved projects.  

2.7 Amounts of Sales and Use Tax collected in excess of the required proceeds 
must first be applied, if necessary, to complete each project for which the tax was imposed. 
Any additional revenue collected above the specified amount must be applied to the 
reduction of debt principal of Beaufort County on transportation infrastructure debts only.  

2.8 The Sales and Use Tax must be administered and collected by the South 
Carolina Department of Revenue in the same manner that other sales and use taxes are 
collected. The Department may prescribe amounts that may be added to the sales price 
because of the tax. 

2.9 The Sales and Use Tax is in addition to all other local sales and use taxes 
and applies to the gross proceeds of sales in the applicable area that is subject to the tax 
imposed by Chapter 36 of Title 12 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 
amended, and the enforcement provisions of Chapter 54 of Title 12 of the Code of Laws 
of South Carolina 1976, as amended. The gross proceeds of the sale of items subject to a 
maximum tax in Chapter 36 of Title 12 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 
amended are exempt from the tax imposed by this Ordinance. The gross proceeds of the 
sale of food lawfully purchased with United States Department of Agriculture Food Stamps 
are exempt from the tax imposed by this Ordinance. The tax imposed by this Ordinance 
also applies to tangible property subject to the use tax in Article 13, Chapter 36 of Title 12 
of the Code of Laws of South Caroilna1976, as amended.  

2.10  Taxpayers required to remit taxes under Article 13, Chapter 36 of Title 12 
of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, must identify the county in 
which the personal property purchased at retail is stored, used, or consumed in this State.  

2.11  Utilities are required to report sales in the county in which the consumption 
of the tangible personal property occurs. 

2.12 A taxpayer subject to the tax imposed by Section 12-36-920 of the Code of 
Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, who owns or manages rental units in more than 

34

Item 8.



one county must report separately in his sales tax return the total gross proceeds from 
business done in each county. 

2.13 The gross proceeds of sales of tangible personal property delivered after the 
imposition date of the Sales and Use Tax, either under the terms of a construction contract 
executed before the imposition date, or written bid submitted before the imposition date, 
are exempt from the sales and use tax provided in this Ordinance if a verified copy of the 
contract is filed with the Department of Revenue within six months after the imposition 
date of the sales and use tax provided for in this Ordinance. 

2.14 Notwithstanding the imposition date of the Sales and Use Tax with respect 
to services that are billed regularly on a monthly basis, the sales and use tax authorized 
pursuant to this ordinance is imposed on the first day of the billing period beginning on or 
after the imposition date. 

Section 3. Remission of Sales and Use Tax; Segregation of Funds; 
Administration of Funds; Distribution to County: Confidentially.  

3.1 The revenues of the Sales and Use Tax collected under this Ordinance must 
be remitted to the State Treasurer and credited to a fund separate and distinct from the 
general fund of the State. After deducting the amount of any refunds made and costs to the 
Department of Revenue of administrating the tax, not to exceed one percent of such 
revenues, the State Treasurer shall distribute the revenues quarterly to the Beaufort County 
Treasurer and the revenues must be used only for the purposes stated herein. The State 
Treasurer may correct misallocations by adjusting subsequent distributions must be made 
in the same fiscal year as the misallocation. However, allocations made as a result of city 
or county code errors must be corrected prospectively.  

3.2  (a) Any outside agencies, political subdivisions, or organizations 
designated to receive funding from the Sales and Use Tax must annually submit requests 
for funding in accordance with procedures and schedules established by the County 
Administrator. The County Administrator shall prepare the proposed budget for the Sales 
and Use Tax and submit it to the County Council at such time as the County Council 
determines. At the time of submitting the proposed budget, the County Administrator shall 
submit to the County Council a statement describing the important features of the proposed 
budget.  

 (b) County Council shall adopt annually and prior to the beginning of 
each fiscal year a budget for expenditures of Sales and Use Tax revenues. County Council 
may make supplemental appropriations for the Sales and Use Tax following the same 
procedures prescribed for the enactment of other budget ordinances. The provisions of this 
section shall not be construed to prohibit the transfer of funds appropriated in the annual 
budget for the Sales and Use Tax for purposes other than as specified in the annual budget 
when such transfers are approved by County Council. In the preparation of the annual 
budget, County Council may require any reports, estimates, and statistics from any county 

35

Item 8.



agency or department as may be necessary to perform its duties as the responsible fiscal 
body of the County. 

 (c) Except as specifically authorized by County Council, any outside 
agency or organization receiving an appropriation of the Sales and Use Tax must provide 
to County Council an independent audit of such agency’s or organization’s financial 
records and transactions and such other and more frequent financial information as required 
by County Council, all in form satisfactory to County Council. 

3.3 The Department of Revenue shall furnish data to the State Treasurer and to 
the Beaufort County Treasurer for the purpose of calculating distributions and estimating 
revenues. The information which must be supplied to the County upon request includes, 
but is not limited to, gross receipts, net taxable sales, and tax liability by taxpayers. 
Information about a specific taxpayer is considered confidential and is governed by the 
provisions of SC Code Ann. Section 12-54-240. Any person violating the provisions of this 
section shall be subject to the penalties provided in SC Code Ann. Section 12-54-240.  

Section 4.  Sales and Use Tax Referendum; Ballot Question. 

4.1 The Board of Voter Registration and Elections of Beaufort County shall 
conduct a referendum on the question of imposing a Sales and Use Tax in the area of 
Beaufort County on Tuesday, November 8, 2022, between the hours of 7 a.m. and 7 p.m. 
under the election laws of the State of South Carolina, mutatis mutandis. The Board of 
Voter Registration and Elections of Beaufort County shall publish in a newspaper of 
general circulation the question that is to appear on the ballot, with the list of projects and 
purposes as set forth herein, and the cost of projects, and shall publish such election and 
other notices as required by law. 

4.2 The referendum question to be on the ballot of the referendum to be held in 
Beaufort County on November 8, 2022, must read substantially as follows: 

 

BEAUFORT COUNTY SPECIAL SALES AND USE TAX 

QUESTION 1 

I approve a special sales and use tax in the amount of one (1) percent to be imposed in 
Beaufort County for not more than ten (10) years, or until a total of $700,000,000 in 
resulting revenue has been collected, whichever occurs first. The sales tax proceeds will be 
used to fund the following projects: 

Project (1) For financing the costs of highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other 
transportation-related projects facilities (sic in statute) related thereto including, but not 
limited to, drainage facilities relating to the highways, roads, streets, bridges, and other 
transportation-related projects; and mass transit systems operated by Beaufort County or 
jointly operated by the County and other governmental entities. $640,000,000. 

36

Item 8.



Project (2) For financing the costs of greenbelts. $60,000,000.  

    YES ______ 

    NO _______ 

Instructions to Voters:  All qualified electors desiring to vote in favor of levying the 
    special sales and use tax shall vote “YES;” and 

    All qualified electors opposed to levying the special sales  
    and use tax shall vote “NO.” 

 

QUESTION 2 

 

I approve the issuance of not exceeding $335,000,000 of general obligation bonds of 
Beaufort County. Payable from the special sales and use tax described in Question 1 above, 
maturing over a period not to exceed ten (10) years, to fund completion of projects from 
among the categories described in Question 1 above.  

     YES ______ 

     NO _______ 

Instructions to Voters: All qualified electors desiring to vote in favor of the issuance 
bonds for the stated purpose shall vote “YES;” and  

     All qualified electors opposed to the issuance of bonds for  
     the stated purposes shall vote “NO.” 

 

4.3 In the referendum on the imposition of a special sales and use tax in 
Beaufort County, all qualified electors desiring to vote in favor of imposing the tax for the 
stated purposes shall vote “yes” and all qualified electors opposed to levying the tax shall 
vote “no”. If a majority of the electors voting in the referendum shall vote in favor of 
imposing the tax, then the tax is imposed as provided in the Act and this Ordinance. 
Expenses of the referendum must be paid by Beaufort County government.  

4.4 In the referendum on the issuance of bonds, all qualified electors desiring 
to vote in favor of the issuance of bonds for the stated purpose shall vote “yes” and all 
qualified electors opposed to the issuance of bonds shall vote “no”. If a majority of the 
electors voting in the referendum shall vote in favor of the issuance of bonds, then the 
issuance of bonds shall be authorized in accordance with SC Constitution Article X, 
Section 14, Paragraph (6). Expenses of the referendum must be paid by Beaufort County 
government. 

37

Item 8.



Section 5.  Imposition of Tax Subject to Referendum. 

The imposition of the Sales and Use Tax in Beaufort County is subject in all respects to 
the favorable vote of a majority of qualified electors casting votes in a referendum on the 
question of imposing a sales and use tax in the area of Beaufort County in a referendum to  
be conducted by the Board of Voter Registration and Elections of Beaufort County on 
November 8, 2022, and the favorable vote of a majority of the qualified electors voting in 
such a referendum shall be a condition precedent to the imposition of a sales and use tax 
pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance. 

Section 6. Miscellaneous. 

 6.1 If any one or more of the provisions or portions hereof are determined by a 
court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, then that provision or portion shall 
be deemed severable from the remaining terms or portions hereof and the invalidity thereof 
shall in no way affect the validity of the other provisions of this Ordinance; if any 
provisions of this Ordinance shall be held or deemed to be or shall, in fact, be inoperative 
or unenforceable or invalid as applied to any particular case in any jurisdiction or in all 
cases because it conflicts with any constitution or statute or rule of public policy, or for any 
other reason, those circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the provision in 
question inoperative or unenforceable or invalid in any other case or circumstance, or of 
rendering any other provision or provisions herein contained inoperative or unenforceable 
or invalid to any extent whatever; provided, however that the Sales and Use Tax may not 
be imposed without the favorable results of the referendum to be held on November 8, 
2022.  

 6.2 This Ordinance shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the 
laws of the State of South Carolina and all suits and actions arising out of this Ordinance 
shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in this State. 

 6.3 The headings or titles of the several sections hereof shall be solely for 
convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning, construction, interpretations, or 
effect of this ordinance. 

 6.4 This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon approval following third 
reading. 

 6.5  All previous ordinances regarding the same subject matter as this Ordinance 
are hereby repealed.  

IT IS SO ORDAINED. 

     ________________________________ 
     Joseph Passiment 
     County Council Chairman 
____________________________ 
Sarah Brock, Clerk to Council 

38

Item 8.



Greenbelts: Acquisition of property to establish a balance between environmental protection and rapid 
development growth.  

Mass Transit: Funding multimodal transportation, to include marine transport, for a more robust and 
equitable public transportation system. 

Project Programs: 

- Safety: Safety improvements along roadways and intersections to include pedestrian 
accommodations. 

- Dirt Road Paving: Paving of county-owned dirt roads throughout the County. 
- Resurfacing: Road resurfacing and preservation of ALL roadways (State, County, and 

municipality-owned) throughout the County. The goal is to increase the overall pavement 
condition of roads within the County as a whole. 

- Pathways: Design, right of way acquisition, and construction of pedestrian accommodations 
throughout the County in accordance with the Beaufort County Connects Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Plan 2021. 

- Transportation Technologies/Access Roads: Planning, design, right of way acquisition, and 
construction of access roads for better inner connectivity. Implementation of transportation 
technologies to support the enhancement to capacity and safety of the transportation system. 

- Resiliency: Improvements to transportation infrastructure to address flooding, sea level rise, 
stormwater and drainage. 

Big Projects: 

- SC 170: Capacity and safety improvements on a 4.5-mile segment of SC 170 from US 278 to SC 
462. 

- US 21 and US 21 (Bus.) /SC 281 Corridor Improvements: Multimodal and access improvements 
along the entire US 21 corridor from Bell Bridge to Boundary Street and along US 21 (Bus. 
Corridor) to Woods Memorial Bridge to improve safety, interconnectivity and capacity.  

- SC 46 Improvements: Capacity and safety improvements along SC 46 from SC 170 to Jasper 
County. Additional safety improvements (i.e.- turn lanes at intersections) along SC 46 from SC 
170 to Buckwalter Parkway.  All planned improvements would be coordinated so as to not 
disrupt the Scenic Byway designation.  

- Hilton Head Island Municipal Projects: Road resurfacing, intersection improvements, and 
pathways as requested by the Town of Hilton Head. 

- US 278 Corridor Improvements/Enhancements: Additional funding to support the US 278 
Corridor Improvement Project in the 2018 Transportation Sales Tax Referendum.  

- Lady’s Island Corridor Improvements: Lady’s Island Corridor Traffic Improvements  
- Bluffton Regional Roadway Network: Implementation of any or all Bluffton projects listed as 

priorities in the approved LATS Transportation Plan. Bluffton Town Council would designate 
projects to be undertaken by Beaufort County.  
 

39

Item 8.



Proposed 2022 Sales Tax Program  

 

One Penny for 10 years with Mid-High Growth = $700m 

 Greenbelts ($60m)  
 

 Mass Transit; including Marine Transport ($25m)  
 

 Project Programs  
o Safety ($50m)  
o Dirt Road Paving ($50m)  
o Resurfacing ($60m)  
o Pathways ($50m)  
o Transportation Technologies/Access Roads ($50m)  
o Resiliency ($20m) 

 
 Big Projects  

o SC 170 ($80m)  
o Ribaut Road/Interconnectivity Projects ($75m)  
o SC 46 ($20m)  
o Hilton Head Project – Intersection Improvements, Pathways, and 

Resurfacing ($40m)  
o US 278 Corridor Improvement/Enhancements ($40m)  
o Lady’s Island Corridor ($40m)  
o Bluffton Regional Road Network ($40m) 

40

Item 8.



   
 

    

 

 Solid Waste Management Plan 
2022-2041 
Beaufort County, South Carolina 

DRAFT  
March 2022 

Prepared by: A. Goldsmith Resources, LLC 

 

 

  

41

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

 
  i | P a g e  

 

 

Table of Contents 

1 Introduction 1-1 

 Background 1-1 

 The 2022 Plan Update 1-1 

2 Policies and Organizational Structure 2-1 

 Federal and State Policies 2-1 

 Beaufort County Policies 2-1 

 Municipal Policies 2-2 

 Organizational Structure 2-3 

Solid Waste and Recycling Districts 2-3 

Solid Waste and Recycling Board 2-4 

3 About the Area 3-1 

 Geography 3-1 

 Population and Economy 3-2 

4 Amount of Waste 4-1 

 Disposed and Generated 4-1 

 Per Capita Disposal and Generation Rates 4-2 

 Projections 4-3 

5 Existing Solid Waste System 5-1 

 Collection 5-1 

Convenience Centers 5-1 

Curbside Collection 5-5 

Non-Residential Collection 5-6 

Litter and Illegal Dumping 5-6 

 Recycling 5-6 

Collection of Recyclables 5-6 

Processing and Marketing of Recyclables 5-8 

 Disposal Locations Used by Beaufort County 5-9 

 Processing and Disposal Facilities Located in Beaufort County 5-9 

Landfills 5-9 

Transfer Stations 5-10 

Incinerators 5-10 

42

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

 
  ii | P a g e  

 

 

Other Permitted Solid Waste Processing Facilities 5-11 

 Education and Public Involvement 5-11 

County Programs 5-11 

Keep Beaufort County Beautiful 5-11 

Municipal Programs 5-12 

 Funding 5-12 

6 Goals and Strategies 6-1 

 Overview of Goals 6-1 

 Goal 1: Progress Toward State Disposal and Recycling Goals 6-1 

Strategies 6-1 

 Goal 2: Divert Items Banned from Landfill 6-2 

Strategies 6-3 

 Goal 3: Secure Disposal Capacity 6-3 

Strategies 6-4 

 Goal 4: Transition to Curbside Collection for Residents 6-4 

Strategies 6-4 

 Goal 5: Ensure Sustainable Funding 6-5 

Strategies 6-5 

7 Action Plan 7-1 

 

 
FIGURES 
Figure 2-1 | Map of Solid Waste Districts ..................................................................................................................... 2-4 

Figure 3-1 | Location of Beaufort County...................................................................................................................... 3-1 

Figure 3-2 | Actual and Projected Population of Beaufort County, 1990 to 2035 ............................. 3-2 

Figure 4-1 | Type of Waste Disposed in Class 3 Landfills from Beaufort County, FY20 ................. 4-2 

Figure 5-1 | Convenience Center Locations ............................................................................................................... 5-2 

Figure 5-2 | Tons of Solid Waste, Bulky Waste, Yard Waste, and C&D Received at Convenience 
Centers, FY20 ................................................................................................................................................................................ 5-4 

Figure 5-3 | Tons Received by Convenience Center, FY20 .............................................................................. 5-4 

Figure 5-4 | Tons Collected Curbside from Residents FY20 ........................................................................... 5-6 

 
  

43

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

 
  iii | P a g e  

 

 

TABLES 
Table 2-1 | Beaufort County Solid Waste Districts ................................................................................................. 2-3 

Table 3-1 | Effects of Transient Populations ............................................................................................................... 3-2 

Table 4-1 | Total Solid Waste Disposed and Generated from Beaufort County, FY20 .................... 4-1 

Table 4-2 | TSW Per Capita Disposed and Generated from Beaufort County, FY20 ...................... 4-2 

Table 4-3 | Projected Tons of Class 2 and Class 3 Requiring Disposal ...................................................... 4-3 

Table 5-1 | Convenience Centers Address and Operating Schedule ......................................................... 5-2 

Table 5-2 | Items Accepted at Convenience Centers, June 2021 ................................................................. 5-3 

Table 5-3 | Curbside Collection Customers, 2021.................................................................................................... 5-5 

Table 5-4 | Recyclables Collection in Municipal Curbside Contracts ........................................................ 5-7 

Table 5-5 | Tons Recycled from MSW and Recycling Rate, FY20 ................................................................ 5-8 

Table 5-6 | Beaufort County Solid Waste Management Costs, FY20 ....................................................... 5-13 

Table 6-1 | Solid Waste Management Goals, 2022-2041 ...................................................................................... 6-1 

Table 7-1 | Action Plan 2022 - 2041 ................................................................................................................................... 7-2 

Table 7-2  | Alternatives to Key Strategies .................................................................................................................. 7-8 

 

 

Appendix A   Chapter 62 - Beaufort County Municipal Code

44

Item 9.



  BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

 

  1-1 | P a g e  

1 Introduction 

 Background 

The South Carolina Solid Waste Policy and Management Act of 1991 requires local governments to 
maintain a solid waste management plan that covers a 20-year planning period. The initial Beaufort 
County Solid Waste Management Plan was adopted in 2000, with the most recent update adopted 
in February 2013.  

As solid waste management needs in Beaufort County continue to evolve, the County has elected to 
update its Solid Waste Management Plan again, this time for the twenty-year period starting in 2022. 
The County’s Comprehensive Plan, Envision Beaufort County – 2040 County Comprehensive Plan, 
which anticipated an updated Solid Waste Management Plan by including a strategy to “create a 
comprehensive plan for sustainable waste removal and disposal” in its Section on Community 
Facilities. 

 The 2022 Plan Update 

This Solid Waste Management Plan covers the twenty-year period from 2022 to 2041 and addresses 
solid waste management in Beaufort County and its four municipalities - the City of Beaufort and the 
Towns of Bluffton, Hilton Head Island, and Port Royal. It describes the County’s current and planned 
approach to managing existing, projected, and potential solid waste streams through a combination 
of reduction, recycling, disposal, and treatment and is organized into the following sections.  

● Section 2 describes policies affecting solid waste management and those responsible for 
implementing them.  

● Section 3 provides geographic, demographic, and economic information that may impact 
solid waste management. 

● Section 4 describes the amount and type of solid waste generated in the County and 
projections for the future.  

● Section 5 describes existing recycling, solid waste collection, disposal, and education 
programs and facilities.  

● Section 6 identifies goals for solid waste management and strategies to achieve them. 

● Section 7 presents an action plan for implementing the strategies in Section 6. 

This Beaufort County Solid Waste Management Plan update was reviewed by the Beaufort County 
Solid Waste and Recycling Board and adopted by the County Council on _____________________, 2022.

45

Item 9.



  BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

 

  2-1 | P a g e  

2 Policies and Organizational Structure 

 Federal and State Policies 

The primary federal law relating to solid waste management is the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976, administered by the U. S. Environmental Protection Agency. Subtitle D 
of RCRA establishes a framework for federal, state, and local government cooperation in solid waste 
management. The federal government provides minimum national standards for protecting human 
health and the environment and technical assistance to states for planning and implementing their 
own solid waste management policies. 

The principal law that governs solid waste management in the State of South Carolina, the Solid 
Waste Policy and Management Act of 1991 (Act), authorizes the South Carolina Department of Health 
and Environmental Control (DHEC) to enforce the appropriate federal and state standards. DHEC 
enforces regulations for the management of construction and demolition debris (C&D), land-clearing 
debris, industrial solid waste, municipal solid waste (MSW), waste processing, waste tires, waste oil, 
transfer stations, landfills, and other solid waste facilities. 

Section 44-96-80(J) of the Act gives the governing body of each county the responsibility and 
authority to provide for the management of solid waste within its borders. Section 44-96-80(K) 
authorizes each county to enact ordinances necessary to carry out its responsibilities under the Act 
as long as such ordinances are consistent with the state solid waste management plan, provisions of 
the Act, other applicable provisions of state law, and regulations promulgated by DHEC providing for 
the protection of public health and safety or for protection of the environment. 

 Beaufort County Policies 

The Beaufort County Code of Ordinances (Chapter 62, Solid Waste), included as Appendix A, 
establishes the County’s role in solid waste management and addresses littering; solid waste 
collection, transport, and disposal; and the role of the Solid Waste and Recycling Board. Section 62-2 
states that Beaufort County shall provide for the management, collection, and disposal of solid waste 
in a manner consistent with state law and that all recycling and solid waste activities that are not part 
of the County system shall “coordinate with the county for the purpose of assisting the county with 
achievement of established state diversion and recycling goals”. Section 62-2 specifically highlights 
the following purposes of the law:  

1. To promote the public health, safety, and welfare; 

2. To ensure that solid waste is transported, stored, treated, processed, and disposed of in a 
manner adequate to protect human health, safety and welfare and the environment;  

3. To promote the reduction, recycling, reuse and treatment of solid waste and the recycling 
of materials that would otherwise be disposed of as solid waste;  

4. To provide for an efficient method for the collection, transportation, storage, handling, 
treatment, reduction, recycling, reuse and disposal of solid waste in the county through 
the establishment, construction and operation of solid waste collection sites and other 

46

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

 
  2-2 | P a g e  

 

 

facilities for the use and benefit of residents of the county and other municipalities, 
entities or persons who contract for the use of county facilities for the collection of 
permitted solid waste in accordance with county ordinances and regulations; and 

5. To protect and preserve the quality of the environment and to conserve and recycle 
natural resources.  

 Municipal Policies 

The municipalities within the County also play a role in solid waste management, most notably in 
overseeing residential curbside collection programs, and working with the County on public outreach 
and education and litter abatement. The following provisions of each municipality’s code contain the 
primary policies regarding solid waste management within their borders. 

● The City of Beaufort Code of Ordinances, Part 6, Chapter 1 addresses Garbage Collection and 
Disposal, including provisions for residential garbage collection, residential trash collection, 
commercial collection procedure, recycling procedures (including a requirement for all 
residents to recycle items designated by the city council), and the solid waste refuse fee. Part 
6, Chapter 3 addresses litter and trash. 

● In the Town of Bluffton, Chapter 20, Article II of the municipal code addresses Garbage and 
Refuse including provisions related to illegal dumping on lots, prohibiting accumulation of 
solid waste on property, composting and recycling, types of containers required, authority to 
charge for containers, illegal dumping, the cost of garbage collection, and a provision to 
provide recycling bins upon request. 

● In the Town of Hilton Head Island, Title 9, Chapter 5 addresses garbage and trash, including 
provisions prohibiting unauthorized removal of material from trash, waste or recycling 
receptacles and post-disaster debris collection. Chapter 6 addresses collection of solid waste 
and recycling with provisions identifying requirements for private haulers operating in the 
Town, including recyclable materials that they must collect, restrictions on placing non-
recyclable materials in recycling receptacles, and requirements for using and maintaining 
receptacles for garbage and recyclables. Chapter 7 prohibits outdoor burning with some 
exemptions. 

● In the Town of Port Royal, Chapter 10, Article I, prohibits litter and illegal dumping. Chapter 21, 
Article IV addresses refuse collection and disposal requiring all residents to use and pay for 
refuse and trash collection and disposal services provided by the Town. It requires the use of 
roll carts and defines set-out, maintenance, and placement requirements; describes 
preparation requirements for collection of tree limbs and shrubbery; requires residents to 
request pick-up of bulky items; defines collection schedules and rates; requires that residents 
recycle; and establishes fees and billing method for recycling service.  

In addition, all four municipalities and Beaufort County passed an ordinance that restricts businesses 
from providing single-use plastic bags to customers, with some exceptions. 

47

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

 
  2-3 | P a g e  

 

 

 Organizational Structure 

Section 62-1 of the County Code creates the “solid waste and recycling enterprise system” as an 
administrative division of the County under the responsibility of the Beaufort County Solid Waste and 
Recycling, with contact information listed below. 

Beaufort County Solid Waste and Recycling  
9 Benton Field Road 
Bluffton, South Carolina 29910 
(843) 255-2745  

The County Administrator and the Director or Manager or Solid Waste and Recycling have the 
authority to establish and organize the County's solid waste and recycling facilities as necessary for 
useful and efficient operation; establish necessary procedures, policies, and guidelines for the use of 
the county's solid waste and recycling facilities; and to recommend appropriate fee and rate 
schedules for consideration and approval by County Council. 

Solid Waste and Recycling Districts 

Section 62-21 of the County Code establishes nine solid waste districts in the County for reporting and 
tracking purposes. Districts 1 through 4 correspond to municipal boundaries while Districts 5 through 
9 cover the unincorporated area of the County, as described in Table 2-1 and shown on Figure 2-1.   

Table 2-1 | Beaufort County Solid Waste Districts 

District Area Covered # Parcels 1 

1 City of Beaufort  6,622 

2 Town of Port Royal 3,960 

3 Town of Hilton Head Island including Jenkins Island and Pinckney Island 22,168 

4 Town of Bluffton 15,726 

5 
Sheldon Township including all area on the north side of the Whale Branch River 
including the Beaufort County portion of the Town of Yemassee 3,890 

6 
Unincorporated Port Royal Island (Burton) including the area between the Whale 
Branch River, the Beaufort River, and the Broad River exclusive of incorporated areas 9,170 

7 
Lady's Island including area between the Beaufort River and Chowan Creek 
including Coosaw Island excluding the City of Beaufort 8,618 

8 
Saint Helena Island and Islands East including the area and islands east of Chowan 
Creek within Beaufort County 11,698 

9 
Bluffton Township including the area south of the Broad River and west of Pinckney 
Island excluding the Town of Bluffton and Daufuskie Island 26.071 

1 Based on data provided by Beaufort County IT in March 2022. 
 

48

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

 
  2-4 | P a g e  

 

 

Figure 2-1 | Map of Solid Waste Districts 

 

Solid Waste and Recycling Board  

The ordinance establishes a Solid Waste and Recycling Board, with one member from each of the 
County’s solid waste districts, to advise the County Council and staff in determining appropriate levels 
of public solid waste management services for residential, commercial, and industrial taxpayers and 
for governmental entities within the county. Section 62-54 of the County code identifies the following 
powers and duties of the solid waste and recycling board. 

  

49

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

 
  2-5 | P a g e  

 

 

• Review and recommend to the county council for approval, a comprehensive county solid 
waste management plan which is in accordance with the state Solid Waste Management and 
Policy Act of 1991. 
 

• Develop and submit to the county council for approval service level plans for each of the five 
unincorporated area solid waste districts. 
 

• Review and approve the annual solid waste and recycling budgets prepared for each of the 
nine solid waste districts before submission to the county administrator; and present to the 
county council comments on the budget recommended by the county administrator. 
 

• Seek development of public/private partnership and facilitate intergovernmental contracting 
for provision of services where appropriate. 
 

• Cooperate with the state department of health and environmental control, office of waste 
reduction and recycling, as well as other public and private agencies having programs directed 
toward solid waste management programs. 

• Review and make recommendations concerning development of any new public or private 
solid waste management facilities, programs or changes in existing solid waste management 
facilities or programs to ensure such programs or changes are consistent with the 
comprehensive solid waste management plan of the county. 

 

 

50

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

 
  3-1 | P a g e  

 

 

3 About the Area 

 Geography 

Beaufort County encompasses 923 square miles on the Atlantic coast on the southeastern tip 
of South Carolina (Figure 3-1). Fifty-eight percent of the 468,000 acres in the County consists 
of freshwater wetlands, open waters, sounds, marshes, and estuaries. The County is bordered 
by Jasper County to the west, Colleton County to the north, and a small corner of Hampton 
County to the northwest. There are four municipalities in the County - the City of Beaufort and 
the Towns of Bluffton, Hilton Head Island, and Port Royal. The Town of Yemassee sits on 
Beaufort County’s border with Hampton County and the Town of Hardeeville sits on the border 
with Jasper County.  

Figure 3-1 | Location of Beaufort County 

  

Beaufort County, in cooperation with the City of Beaufort and the Towns of Bluffton and Port 
Royal, have instituted a form-based zoning code that encourages infill and density in the areas 
that are already considered urban and suburban. The rural areas are designated to remain 
sparsely populated and undeveloped. This development pattern would affect the future of 
solid waste management included in the Plan, encouraging curbside collection in the more 
densely populated areas and convenience center access in more rural areas of the County. 

  

51

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

 
  3-2 | P a g e  

 

 

 Population and Economy 

According to the 2020 U.S. Census, Beaufort County had 192,122 permanent residents. This 
continues the trend of the last thirty years of approximately 20 percent increase each decade. 
Recent population growth has been concentrated in the Hilton Head and Bluffton areas. 
Figure 3-2 illustrates the growth in population since 1990 and projected population growth 
through 2035. The South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office projects Beaufort County’s 
population will increase 29.5 percent over the next ten years and reach 248,860 in 2035.  

Figure 3-2 | Actual and Projected Population of Beaufort County, 1990 to 2035 

     

The permanent resident population does not tell the complete story of solid waste 
management needs in Beaufort County. According to the 2019 Beaufort County Development 
Impact Fee Study by TischlerBise, the peak daily population can be more than 50 percent 
higher than the permanent resident population when seasonal residents, tourists and daily 
visitors are considered. The same study predicted the significant impact of these transient 
populations would continue, as shown in Table 3-1. 

Table 3-1 | Effects of Transient Populations 

Population Types 2019 2024 2029 

Permanent Residents 183,712 204,342 224,970 

Tourists and Visitors 54,612 57,291 59,543 

Seasonal Residents 39,122 41,042 42,656 

Peak Daily Population 277,448 302,675 327,169 

Source: Table 6.12: Data from the Beaufort County Development Impact Fee Study of 2019. 

52

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

 
  4-1 | P a g e  

 

 

4 Amount of Waste 

 Disposed and Generated 

The South Carolina Solid Waste Management Annual Report for Fiscal Year 2020, which is 
based on annual reports submitted to DHEC by counties and solid waste management 
facilities around the State, reports that a total of 265,355 tons of total solid waste (TSW) were 
disposed, incinerated, or exported from Beaufort County from July 1, 2019, to June 30, 2020, as 
shown in Table 4-1.1 Over 56 percent of the TSW disposed from the County went to a Class 3 
landfill. Over 40 percent of the TSW disposed from Beaufort County was disposed in a Class 2 
landfill while a small amount was incinerated. When the TSW Recycled in FY20 is added to that 
disposed, 302,292 tons of TSW were generated in FY20. As shown in Figure 4-1, most of the 
TSW disposed from Beaufort County in a Class 3 landfill (87.6 percent) was characterized as 
MSW.  

Table 4-1 | Total Solid Waste Disposed and Generated from Beaufort County, FY20 

Facility/Management Type Tons Percent of Total Disposed 

TSW Disposed in Class 1 Landfills 0 0% 

TSW Disposed in Class 2 Landfills and Exported 110,170 41.5% 

TSW Disposed in Class 3 Landfills and Exported 149,173 56.2% 

TSW Incinerated 6,012 2.3% 

Total Disposed in Landfills, Incinerated, Or Exported 265,355 100% 

TSW Recycled 36,936  

Total Generated 302,292  

Source: Table 6.12: State & County TSW Recycling, Disposal, and Generation in Tons, South Carolina Solid Waste 
Management Annual Report for FY2020 

  

 
1 Total Solid Waste (or TSW) is collected from the same sources as municipal solid waste (MSW) but also includes 
automobile bodies, combustion ash, construction and demolition debris, industrial process waste, land-clearing 
debris, and municipal sludge. The State considers TSW, in addition to MSW, for a more complete picture of solid 
waste generated, disposed of, and recycled. 

53

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

 
  4-2 | P a g e  

 

 

Figure 4-1 | Type of Waste Disposed in Class 3 Landfills from Beaufort County, FY20 

 

 Per Capita Disposal and Generation Rates 

Table 4-2 shows that the amount of TSW disposed and generated per person, based on 
permanent residents only, is 7.57 and 8.62 pounds per day, respectively. However, when the 
same tonnage is divided among the peak daily population, shown in Table 3-1, which takes into 
account those temporary residents and visitors that contribute to waste generated in Beaufort 
County, then the disposal rate falls to 5.01 pounds per person per day and the generation rate 
to 5.71 pounds per person per day.  

Table 4-2 | TSW Per Capita Disposed and Generated from Beaufort County, FY20 

  Pounds per Capita per Day 

 Tons Based on Permanent 
Residents 1 

Based on Peak Daily 
Population 

Total Disposed in 
Landfills, Incinerated, or 
Exported 

265,355 7.57 5.01 

Total Generated 302,292 8.62 5.71 

1 Based on a permanent resident population of 192,122. 

Source: Table 6.12: State & County TSW Recycling, Disposal, and Generation in Tons, South Carolina Solid Waste 
Management Annual Report for FY2020 

 

MSW
(130,653)

C&D Debris
(4,706)

Industrial 
Process Waste

(225)

Other
(13,589)

54

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

 
  4-3 | P a g e  

 

 

 Projections 

Table 4-3 shows the projected amount of total solid waste (TSW) requiring disposal in Class 2 
and Class 3 landfills, based on per capita disposal rates in FY20 and projected population for 
the next twenty years.2 Based on these projections, a total of 2,768,423 tons of TSW will require 
disposal in Class 2 landfills and 3,748,516 tons in Class 3 landfills over the next twenty years. As 
the County continues to make progress on reducing the amount of waste generated and 
disposed, the total solid waste requiring disposal could be less. 

Table 4-3 | Projected Tons of Class 2 and Class 3 Requiring Disposal 

Year TSW Disposed in Class 2 Landfills TSW Disposed in Class 3 Landfill 

Pounds/Person/Day 1 3.14 4.25 

Tons/Person/Year .57 .78 

2022 112,445 152,254 

2023 114,811 155,458  

2024           117,177  158,661  

2025           119,543 161,865 

2026 121,909 165,068 

2027 124,275 168,272  

2028 126,641 171,476 

2029 129,006 174,678 

2030 132,292 179,127 

2031 135,175 183,031 

2032 138,159 187,071 

2033 141,248 191,254 

2034           144,448  195,587 

2035 147,765 200,077 

2036 151,203 204,733 

2037 154,770 209,562 

2038 158,472 214,575 

2039 162,315 219,779 

2040 166,308 225,185 

2041 170,458 230,805 

TOTAL 2,768,423 3,748,516  

 
2 In FY20, no solid waste from Beaufort County was reportedly disposed in Class 1 landfills but was sent to 
South Coast Resources for recycling or disposed in Class 2 landfills.  

 

55

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

5-1 | P a g e  

 

5 Existing Solid Waste System 

 Collection  

The County operates convenience centers that accept residential waste and recyclables. Three 
municipalities have contracts with private haulers to collect residential solid waste and recyclables 
curbside. All other residents in the County make arrangements for residential collection with a private 
hauler and/or use the convenience centers. Non-residential generators make their own arrangements 
for collection with a private hauler. 

Convenience Centers 

Beaufort County operates nine staffed convenience 
centers, shown on the map in Figure 5-1.3 The addresses 
and operating hours of these convenience centers are 
shown in Table 5-1. All the County’s convenience 
centers accept residential solid waste (MSW, Class 3), 
bulky items (Class 2), and small amounts of residentially 
generated yard waste (Class 1) and construction and 
demolition debris. All also accept tires, cooking oil, used 
motor oil, oil filters, and certain types of household 
hazardous waste. The four largest convenience centers 
(Hilton Head, Bluffton, Shanklin, and St. Helena) also 
accept cardboard, paper, plastic (#1 and #2), glass and 
metal containers, appliances, and scrap metal for recycling. Table 5-2 shows what each convenience 
centers accepted as of 2021. In addition, the County collects electronics (e-waste) at special events 
several times each year in both the north and south of the County. 

The convenience centers are available to County 
residents only, whether they reside within a 
municipality or in an unincorporated area. The use of 
the convenience centers for the disposal of 
commercially generated solid waste is prohibited by 
Beaufort County ordinance. In the past, it has been 
difficult to ensure that only Beaufort County residents 
use the convenience centers. However, in 2020, to cut 
down on unauthorized use of the convenience 
centers, the County began issuing decals to residents 
for display upon entry. The decal allows each resident 
to use convenience centers up to three times per 
week. This system ensures that only County residents 
are using the convenience centers, while promoting environmental compliance and saving taxpayers 

 
3 The County closed two of eleven convenience centers in 2020.  

56

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

5-2 | P a g e  

 

money. In the first six months of the program, the County saw a 30 percent drop in volume received 
at the convenience centers resulting in a savings of $290,000 compared to the previous year.  

Figure 5-1 | Convenience Center Locations 

 

Table 5-1 | Convenience Centers Address and Operating Schedule 

Convenience Center Location 
Days Open from 
7:30am - 6:00pm 

Hilton Head 
District 3 

26 Summit Dr., Hilton Head Monday 
Tuesday 
Thursday 

Friday 
Saturday 
Sunday 

Bluffton 
District 4 

104 Simmonsville Rd., Bluffton 

Shanklin 
District 6 

80 Shanklin Rd., Beaufort 

St. Helena 
District 8 

639 Sea Island Pkwy., St. Helena 

Big Estate 
District 5 

63 Big Estate Rd., Yemassee 
Monday 

Thursday 
Saturday 

Lobeco 
District 5 

6 Keans Neck Rd., Seabrook 

Coffin Point 
District 8 

10 Cee Rd., St. Helena 

Sheldon 
District 5 

208 Johnson Rd., Seabrook Sunday 
Tuesday 
Friday Cuffy 

District 8 
152 Cuffy Rd., St. Helena 

Source: Resident's Recycling & Waste Disposal Guide, 2021 

57

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

5-3 | P a g e  

 

 

Table 5-2 | Items Accepted at Convenience Centers, June 2021 

 Hilton 
Head Bluffton Shanklin 

St. 
Helena 

Big 
Estate Lobeco 

Coffin 
Point Sheldon Cuffy 

Residential 
solid waste 

X X X X X X X X X 

Yard waste X X X X X X X X X 

Bulky items X X X X X X X X X 

C&D Debris X X X X X X X X X 

Tires X X X X X X X X X 

Cooking Oil X X X X X X X X X 

Motor Oil and 
Filters 

X X X X X X X X X 

HHW 1 X X X X X X X X X 

Cardboard   X X X X      

Mixed paper X X X X      

Containers 2 X X X X      

Film plastic X X X X      

Oil/gasoline 
mixture 

X X X X      

Appliances and 
scrap metal X X X X      

Farmer oil      X    

1 Antifreeze, batteries, fluorescent bulbs, herbicides and pesticides, paints, stains, varnishes 

2 Plastics #1 and #2, aluminum and steel, and glass containers. 

 

In FY20, nearly two million visits to the convenience centers were recorded. These visitors delivered 
42,552 tons of waste for disposal. Most of this was residential solid waste and bulky items, as shown in 
Figure 5-2. 

 

  

58

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

5-4 | P a g e  

 

Figure 5-2 | Tons of Solid Waste, Bulky Waste, Yard Waste, and C&D Received at Convenience Centers, 
FY20 

 

The number of visitors and the amount of material accepted varies tremendously by convenience 
center. Three convenience centers, Hilton Head, St. Helena, and Bluffton all received more than 1,200 
visits per operating day, on average. Figure 5-3 shows that two of these convenience centers, Bluffton, 
and Hilton Head, accounted for nearly half of the tonnage received at the convenience centers in 
FY20. 

Figure 5-3 | Tons Received by Convenience Center, FY20 

 
 

Gabage/Bulky
(23,319)

Yard Waste
(7,179)

C&D
(12,053)

Hilton Head
(10,474)

Bluffton
(10,057)

St. Helena
(7,385)

Shanklin
(3,732)

Lobeco
(1,201)

Coffin 
Point
(708)

Cuffy
(451)

Sheldon
(336)

Big Estate
(261)

Recently Closed Sites
(7,947)

59

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

5-5 | P a g e  

 

Curbside Collection 

Curbside collection is provided to residents in the City of Beaufort and the Towns of Port Royal and 
Bluffton through municipal contracts with private waste haulers. The City of Beaufort has a curbside 
contract servicing 4,990 residential customers.4 Residential solid waste, yard waste, and bulk items 
are picked up weekly. Commingled recyclables are collected every other week. Bulk items, furniture, 
and appliances (white goods) which cannot fit into the cart provided are picked up on an on-call basis 
by the Contractor. 

The Town of Port Royal has a curbside contract servicing 2,832 customers.5 Residential solid waste is 
collected weekly, while recyclables are collected every other week. The Town uses its own trucks and 
employees to collect yard waste and bulk items by request. Collected items are staged at the Public 
Works yard before being taken to the landfill.  

The Town of Bluffton has a curbside contract servicing approximately 10,523 customers.6 Residential 
solid waste is picked up once per week from 96-gallon carts. Recyclables are picked up every other 
week. Bulk items are picked upon request for $25 per item. Residents are directed to take yard waste 
to convenience centers. 

Elsewhere in the County, including in the Town of Hilton Head Island, individual residents or 
neighborhood associations contract with private waste haulers independent of the County or a 
municipality. Table 5-3 shows the number of households with curbside collection in each Solid Waste 
District as of June 2021 according to reports from haulers submitted to the County. 

 Table 5-3 | Curbside Collection Customers, 2021 

Municipality Number of Customers 
District 1 4,985 
District 2 2,839 
District 3 25,094 
District 4 10,476 
District 5 0 
District 6 3,748 
District 7 4,408 
District 8 2,041 
District 9 8,086 
TOTAL 61,677 
Source: Monthly hauler reports submitted to County. 

 

The County contracts for disposal of all residential waste collected in Beaufort County and pays the 
disposal facility the tipping fee for the tons reportedly received from residential sources each month. 
In FY20 a total of 45,924 tons of residential solid waste and bulky waste, yard waste, and C&D debris 

 
4 Based on monthly reports submitted to County by haulers, March 2021. It should be noted that the haulers 
self-report these customer counts to the County, as required by ordinance, and that the numbers are likely to 
fluctuate monthly.   
5 Ibid. 
6 Ibid. 

60

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

5-6 | P a g e  

 

was reportedly collected from residents in Beaufort County and delivered to a disposal facility. The 
breakdown is shown in Figure 5-4. 

Figure 5-4 | Tons Collected Curbside from Residents FY20 

 

Non-Residential Collection 

Commercial, industrial, and institutional waste is collected by private companies under separate 
agreements with the business or institution. The County does not pay for the disposal of non-
residential waste.  

Litter and Illegal Dumping  

The County employs Solid Waste Litter Enforcement officers and has authorized several other staff in 
the Solid Waste and Recycling Department to issue citations for violations of the County’s litter 
ordinance. In 2020, the Beaufort County Litter Crew responded to 220 litter complaints, cleaned 109 
illegal dumpsites, and collected 160,000 pounds of litter. Beaufort County also has an active Adopt-a-
Highway/Boat Landing program. In 2020, 3,267 volunteers collected 6,168 bags of litter totaling 92,790 
pounds. 

 Recycling 

Collection of Recyclables 

As described in Section 5.1, Beaufort County collects recyclables at convenience centers and the 
municipalities that contract for residential solid waste collection also contract for every other week 
curbside collection of recyclables. The City of Beaufort and the Town of Port Royal have provisions in 
their ordinances requiring residents to recycle while the Town of Hilton Head Island requires all 

Garbage/Bulky
(42,647)

Yard Waste
(3,242)

C&D
(34)

61

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

5-7 | P a g e  

 

haulers offering curbside collection of residential solid waste to provide curbside collection of 
recyclables as well. Table 5-4 lists the materials collected for recycling at curbside according to each 
municipal contract.  

Table 5-4 | Recyclables Collection in Municipal Curbside Contracts 

Municipality Accepted Recyclables for Curbside Collection 
City of Beaufort Aluminum cans 

Glass (brown, green, clear) 
Paper (newspaper and inserts) 
Plastic bottles and jugs (#1 and clear #2) 
Steel cans 

Town of Bluffton Aluminum cans 
Cardboard 
Glass bottles and jars (brown, green, clear) 
Paper (magazines, newspaper and inserts and catalogs) 
Paperboard (cereal boxes, shoe boxes) 
Plastic bottles, jars, and jugs (#1 - #7) 
Steel cans 

Town of Port Royal Aluminum (cans, foil, pie pans) 
Cardboard 
Glass bottles and jars (brown, green, clear, blue) 
Mixed paper (magazines, newspaper and inserts and catalogs, 
brown bags, unwanted mail, office/notebook paper) 
Paperboard (cereal boxes, shoe boxes) 
Plastic bottles, jars, and jugs (#1 - #7) 
Steel cans 
Telephone books 

 

Other examples of reduction and recycling programs throughout the County include the following. 

● The Town of Hilton Head offers Christmas 
tree grinding stations, which offers mulch to 
any resident or business.  

● The City of Beaufort provides two cardboard 
collection sites for commercial businesses. 

● Oyster shells are collected for recycling (into 
new reefs) at seven drop-off sites 
throughout the County: Beaufort County 
Public Works, Coastal Discovery Museum, H. 
E. Trask Sr. Boat Landing, Sands Beach Boat 
Landing, Edgar Glenn Boat Landing, 
Huntington Island, and St. Helena Island. 

● In the Town of Hilton Head, Second Helpings redistributes grocery store food to food pantries 
and other food justice organizations.  

62

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

5-8 | P a g e  

 

In FY20, a total of 30,102 tons of material were reportedly diverted from MSW through these residential 
recycling programs and through commercial, institutional, and industrial programs. This is equivalent 
to an MSW recycling rate of 18.73 percent, as shown in Table 5-5.  

Table 5-5 | Tons Recycled from MSW and Recycling Rate, FY20 

 Residential 
Commercial/ 

Institutional 
Industrial 

(Office/Packaging) 
Total 

Glass 921.35 3.29 0 924.64 

Metal 124.05 732.07 141.81 997.93 

Paper 3,016.12 6,207.74 169.79 9,393.65 

Plastic 449.30 120.82 0 570.12 

Commingled 4,598.19 38.59 0 4,636.78 

Organics 6,898.5 257.57 0 7.156.07 

Banned Items 2,776.16 503.69 8.20 3,288.05 

Miscellaneous 422.57 2,702.16 10.06 3,134.79 

TOTAL 19,206.24 10,565.93 329.86 30,102.03 

MSW Disposed    130,652.70 

MSW RECYCLING RATE 18.73% 

Source: SC Solid Waste Management Annual Report of FY20. Tables 4.2, 4.4, 4.6, 4.8, 4.10, 4.11, 4.12, 4.13, 
and 5.5. 

Processing and Marketing of Recyclables 

In 2021, the County signed a two-year contract for 
transportation, processing, and marketing of 
recyclables collected at its convenience centers with 
three one-year extension options. Under this 
agreement, most of the paper and containers 
collected at the County’s convenience centers are 
delivered to a facility adjacent to Hickory Hill landfill in 
Jasper County for minimal processing and transfer to 
other recycling facilities.  However, glass is delivered to 
Glass WRX SC, a local end user that incorporates glass 
into countertops, shower walls and other items for the 
construction industry.  

The County bales some cardboard, including that collected from several commercial sites and the 
Shanklin and St. Helena convenience centers, and office paper collected from County offices at a 
facility located at Shanklin Road. From there, the County sends material directly to market. 

63

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

5-9 | P a g e  

 

Nearly all the yard waste collected at the convenience centers is delivered to South Coast Resources 
(formerly Evergreen) where it is processed and 
marketed as a component for fuels blending. South 
Coast Resources, located in Jasper County, is 
permitted as a C&D recycler.  

Tires collected at the convenience centers are 
transported to Beaufort County’s Waste Tire Collection 
site which has a permitted storage limit of 2,900 tires. 
Tires collected at the Beaufort County Waste Tire 
Collection site are exported from the County to waste 
tire processing facilities. Most scrap tires generated in 
South Carolina are burned by permitted facilities to 
replace traditional fuel sources.  

 Disposal Locations Used by Beaufort County 

Most of the solid waste generated in Beaufort County is disposed at the Hickory Hill Landfill, owned 
and operated by Waste Management. This landfill, located in Jasper County, reportedly received 
148,030 tons from Beaufort County in FY20. Three other landfills, Anderson Regional Landfill in 
Anderson County, Oakridge Landfill in Dorchester County, and Richland Landfill in Richland County 
reportedly received a combined total of 342 tons from Beaufort County in FY20.  

In FY20, the Hickory Hill landfill received a total of 201,972 tons from all sources for disposal, 73 percent 
of it from Beaufort County. With an estimated remaining capacity of two million tons at the end of 
FY20, Hickory Hill was projected to be full in 10.4 years at the current disposal rate and in 6.9 years at 
the permitted annual disposal rate at that time.7 If these projections remain consistent, the permitted 
capacity at Hickory Hill Landfill could be filled as early as 2027. In 2021, Waste Management submitted 
an application to the State Department of Health and Environmental Control for an expansion which 
would extend the life of the Hickory Hill landfill. At the time this Plan was prepared, a permit for this 
landfill expansion had not been granted yet.  

Beaufort County’s C&D Debris and some land clearing debris (that is not diverted to South Coast 
Resources for use as a fuel blend as described above) is disposed at Oakwood Landfill, a privately 
owned and operated landfill in Jasper County. Oakwood landfill had 20 years of remaining capacity at 
the end of FY20. 8  

 Processing and Disposal Facilities Located in Beaufort County 

Landfills  

 
7 Table 6.9: Class 3 Landfills Remaining Capacity & Disposal in Tons, South Carolina Solid Waste Management 
Annual Report Fiscal Year 2020 
8 Table 6.13: Class 2 Landfill Disposal and Estimated Remaining Life in FY20, South Carolina Solid Waste 
Management Annual Report for Fiscal Year 2020. 

64

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

5-10 | P a g e  

 

The only operating landfill located in Beaufort County is Barnwell Resources Inc., a privately owned 
and operated Class 2 landfill located at 490 Brickyard Point Road. This facility is permitted to accept 
156,000 tons per year and reportedly received 70,521 tons in FY20. In FY20, DHEC reported this landfill 
had 40 years of remaining capacity. In addition, DHEC identifies three closed landfills in the County 
landfills and one Bluffton landfill on its site list. There are no operating Class 1 or Class 3 landfills located 
within the County.  

Transfer Stations 

Solid waste transfer stations are where solid waste is taken from collection vehicles and placed in 
transfer trailers for shipment to a solid waste disposal facility. At the time of writing, the following 
transfer stations were permitted in Beaufort County according to the South Carolina Solid Waste 
Management Annual Report for Fiscal Year 2020. 

1. Haig Point Transfer Station, located on Daufuskie Island, is 
permitted to accept up to 15 tons per day of Class 3 waste and 
received 251 tons in FY20.9  

2. The Melrose Transfer Station, also located on Daufuskie Island, is 
permitted to accept up to 15 tons per day of Class 3 waste and 
received 336 tons in FY20.10 

3. ArborNature Transfer Station, located on Hilton Head Island, 
received a permit in March 2020 to accept 240 tons per day of 
Class 2 waste.11 

Incinerators 

There are three permitted air curtain incinerators located in Beaufort County according to the South 
Carolina Solid Waste Management Annual Report for Fiscal Year 2020.  

1. Ulmer Brothers Air Curtain Incinerator, located in the Town of Bluffton, has a maximum 
storage limit of 500 tons per day and received 10,727 tons in FY20.12  

2. Haig Point Club Air Curtain Incinerator, located at the Haig Point Transfer Station on 
Daufuskie Island, has a maximum storage limit of 700 cubic yards and received a total of 343 
tons in FY20.13  

   

 
9 Table 7.2: Permitted Solid Waste Transfer Stations in FY20, South Carolina Solid Waste Management Annual 
Report for FY20. 
10 Ibid. 
11 Approved Permit No. TRAN-00036, DHEC Bureau of Land and Waste Management 2021. 
12 Table 7.5: Permitted Incinerators in FY20, South Carolina Solid Waste Management Annual Report for Fiscal 
Year 2020. 
13 Ibid. 

65

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

5-11 | P a g e  

 

3. Oliver's Clean Burn Air Curtain Incinerator, located in the City of Beaufort, is permitted for a 
maximum storage capacity of 1,620 cubic yards and received 215 tons in FY20. 14 

Other Permitted Solid Waste Processing Facilities 

In addition to the facilities listed above, Pro Disposal Bay Pines, a C&D processing facility located in 
Beaufort County, is permitted to accept 127,750 tons each year. In FY20, it received 10,890 tons. 

 Education and Public Involvement 

County Programs 

Beaufort County’s solid waste and recycling website (www.beaufortcountysc.gov/solid-waste-and-recycle) 

features comprehensive information about recycling and waste management programs throughout 
the County, including: 

● details about convenience center locations, hours, and accepted 
materials;  

● link to an application for a convenience center decal; 
● information regarding special collection events; 
● description and contact information for recycling and solid waste 

collection in each municipality; 
● contact information for private haulers serving residents in the 

unincorporated County; and 
● a link to Chapter 62 of the municipal code. 

 

Much of this information is compiled in a user-friendly “Resident's Recycling & 
Waste Disposal Guide,” which also is posted to the County’s social media sites. 
Updated posts about solid waste and recycling programs and events are also 
readily available on the County’s social media, including Facebook, Twitter, 
Instagram, etc. 

  

Beaufort County Solid Waste and Recycling offers solid waste and recycling environmental education 
programs to schools and civic groups at no cost. In addition to offering a variety of educational 
workshops, they aid with grant writing and event design. 

Keep Beaufort County Beautiful 

Keep Beaufort County Beautiful (KBCB), a local Keep America Beautiful affiliate, leads education and 
outreach efforts for Beaufort County’s waste reduction, litter abatement, and beautification programs. 
Originally founded in 1986 as a non-profit, the KBCB Board was established as a board of the County 
Council in 2018. The KBCB Board is comprised of one member from each County Council District. 

 
14 Ibid. 

66

Item 9.

http://www.beaufortcountysc.gov/solid-waste-and-recycle


 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

5-12 | P a g e  

 

Much of the organization’s funding is included in the County budget and approved by County Council. 
KBCB activities include the following. 

● Conducting and promoting continuing education programs. 
● Running beautification projects, such as the recent Fall Clean‐up. 
● Applying for grants from other organizations to promote their mission. 
● Maintaining contact and coordination with Palmetto Pride and Adopt-A-Highway. 
● Taking advantage of Keep America Beautiful affiliation by attending the KAB Conference and 

applying for grants. 

Municipal Programs 

Each of the municipalities also provides information about their solid waste management and 
recycling programs, as well as the County’s programs and events, through printed materials, on their 
websites, and through social media. Those with municipal contracts for collection require contractors 
to distribute information about their curbside collection programs as well. Some specific examples of 
the municipalities’ education and involvement programs are listed below.  

● The City of Beaufort’s website links to the Contactor-provided information about garbage, 
recyclable, yard waste, and bulk items collection for residents and the businesses that choose 
to use the cart service.  

● The Town of Bluffton’s curbside collection contract requires the contractor to provide 
educational materials to residential accounts each quarter. These materials are incorporated 
on the Town’s social media sites and in press releases. New accounts are provided 
information upon receipt of their waste and recycling carts. 

● The Town of Port Royal distributes a newsletter of happenings and notices every Monday. It 
advertises collection days and publicizes updates regarding the Town’s solid waste system. 

● The Town of Hilton Head Island maintains waste reduction, waste collection, and recycling 
advice for residents on their website. The website also features extensive information on the 
benefits and details of sustainable living. 

 Funding 

Beaufort County’s FY20 Full Cost Disclosure Report submitted to DHEC shows a net annual cost of 
$8,521,369 for solid waste management, as shown in Table 5-6. The most significant solid waste 
management costs to the County are operation of the convenience centers and the disposal of 
residential solid waste generated within the County. 

  

67

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

5-13 | P a g e  

 

Table 5-6 | Beaufort County Solid Waste Management Costs, FY20 

 Net Annual Cost Cost Per Capita 

Solid Waste Collection $3,951,433 $20.57 

Solid Waste Disposal $3,548,582 $18.47 

Recycling/Composting $1,021,355 $5.32 

Other Solid Waste Activities $0  $0.00  

TOTAL $8,521, 369 $44.35 

Source: Solid Waste Management Services Full Cost Disclosure Report Fiscal Year 
2020 from Beaufort County Government  

  

The County’s solid waste management costs are covered through a millage rate on the property tax 
bill, set each year based on the solid waste and recycling budget approved by the County Council. In 
2020, the County established an Enterprise Fund to support this budget whereby the funds collected 
from the approved millage rate is deposited into the Enterprise Fund and operating expenses are 
paid from the Enterprise Fund.  

Municipalities providing their citizens curbside collection through a contract with a private hauler 
charge residents for collection service and pay the contractor directly. The City of Beaufort and the 
Town of Port Royal bill residents for this service via the water bill. The Town of Bluffton incorporates 
the cost of collection into its property tax.  

68

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

6-1 | P a g e  

 

6 Goals and Strategies  

 Overview of Goals 

Beaufort County has established five overarching goals for solid waste reduction and management 
over the next twenty years, shown in Table 6-1.  

Table 6-1 | Solid Waste Management Goals, 2022-2041 

Goal 1: Progress towards State MSW disposal and recycling goals 

Goal 2: Divert items banned from landfill 

Goal 3: Secure disposal capacity 

Goal 4: Transition to curbside collection for residents 

Goal 5: Consider user fees for funding certain activities 

This Section describes each goal and the County’s strategies to achieve them.  

 Goal 1: Progress Toward State Disposal and Recycling Goals  

The State of South Carolina has established long-term goals to:  

• Recycle at least 40 percent of its MSW; and 
• Reduce MSW disposed to 3.25 pounds per person per day.  

 
Beaufort County shares these goals locally in support of a long-term zero waste initiative. In FY20, the 
County reported 18.73 percent of MSW was recycled and an average of 3.73 pounds per person per 
day of MSW was disposed. Beaufort County will continue progress towards recycling and reduction 
goals through existing programs and facilities described in Section 5 and through additional 
programs and facilities described below. 

Strategies 

Beaufort County and its municipalities will 
continue to expand opportunities for residents to 
recycle. The County will continue to collect 
recyclables at convenience centers, other drop-off 
locations (e.g., for oyster shells), and at special 
events. The City of Beaufort and the Towns of 
Bluffton and Port Royal will continue to offer 
recycling to their residents through a contractor. 
The Town of Hilton Head Island will continue to 
require haulers offering residential solid waste 
collection to offer recycling to their customers. If 
residents in the Town of Hilton Head are provided town-wide residential solid waste collection in the 
future, recycling will be included as well. 

Related Strategies from Envision Beaufort County- 
2040 Comprehensive Plan 

• Continue effort to form alliances with neighboring 
counties to develop alternative methods for waste 
disposal and recycling. 

• Initiate the placement of a transfer station and a 
Material Recovery Facility (MRF) in Beaufort County 
to provide an alternative to disposal and recycling at 
the Hickory Hill Landfill and MRF. 

69

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

6-2 | P a g e  

 

Beaufort County will expand the number of cardboard collection sites available to commercial and 
institutional generators. The County will continue to offer technical assistance to businesses in the 
County that want to begin or expand recycling programs.  

In the short-term, Beaufort County will continue to rely on private processors and end users to handle 
recyclables collected at convenience centers and elsewhere under the auspices of the County.15  In 
the first several years of the planning period, Beaufort County plans to develop a materials recycling 
facility that will process source separated and single-stream materials collected from residents at 
convenience centers and possibly from local businesses, haulers, and neighboring communities. If a 
County recyclable materials recycling facility is not operating by the time the current processing 
contract expires, the County will continue to contract for processing and marketing of recyclable 
materials collected at convenience centers.   

The materials recycling facility may be sited on existing County property or at a comprehensive 
Sustainability Campus designed to achieve reduction, recycling, and solid waste management goals 
more broadly. Other recycling and waste reduction facilities being considered for a Sustainability 
Campus include an organics diversion facility and a permanent collection and aggregation location 
for electronic waste, tires, household hazardous waste, and other materials that are banned from or 
difficult to handle at disposal facilities. In 2021, the County’s consultant recommended several sites for 
the Sustainability Campus which could accommodate these facilities. The development of the 
Sustainability Campus would be funded, in part, through a $1.9 million General Obligation Bond. 
Additional funds have been requested in the preliminary capital budget for FY23 through FY25.  

Throughout the planning period, the County will continue to encourage waste reduction and 
recycling through school programs, presentations to civic groups, social media, the County’s web site 
and social media accounts, newsletters, events, and other activities. Educational efforts will continue 
to be overseen by the Beaufort County recycling coordinator, whose duties are to plan, implement, 
and coordinate comprehensive management systems to maximize waste prevention, reuse, and 
recycling opportunities. 

The Solid Waste and Recycling Board will continue to advise County Council on appropriate levels of 
public solid waste management services for residents, businesses, and governmental entities within 
Beaufort County; to recommend appropriate funding levels for provision of these services; and to 
support and promote source reduction, recycling and composting and other means of diverting and 
managing the solid waste stream within Beaufort County. 

 Goal 2: Divert Items Banned from Landfill 

The State of South Carolina bans yard trimmings, whole tires, white goods, lead acid batteries, used 
motor oil, and electronic waste from disposal in municipal solid waste landfills. Beaufort County 
diverts these and other items that may cause environmental or operational challenges when disposed 
in a landfill (e.g., cooking oil/grease, fluorescent bulbs, paint, rechargeable batteries, etc.). Beaufort 
County will continue these diversion programs and work to increase the type and amount of banned 

 
15 The County’s current contract for collection, processing, and marketing of recyclables collected at convenience centers has 
an initial term through July 31, 2023, with three one-year extension options. 
 

70

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

6-3 | P a g e  

 

and difficult-to-handle items from disposal in the most environmentally and economically sustainable 
way  

Strategies 

In the short term, the County will continue to 
collect yard trimmings (or Class 1 waste) at 
convenience centers and divert these materials 
from disposal in MSW landfills. The County is 
considering a mulching, composting, or other 
type of organics diversion facility, possibly at the 
Sustainability Campus under consideration. As 
the technology, potential partners, and markets 
for materials from organics processing evolve, 
the County will evaluate materials that could be 
handled at such a facility.   

In addition to yard trimmings, the County will continue to collect banned and difficult-to-handle 
materials, such as tires, white goods, and household hazardous waste. at convenience centers and 
send to processors, markets, or appropriate disposal facilities depending on the material. Beaufort 
County is planning to add a second tire aggregation site to collect tires from external generators in 
addition to the convenience centers. The County will continue to collect appliances and scrap metal 
at the four busiest convenience centers and electronic waste at special events several times each year. 
The County’s Recycling Coordinator will continue to educate the public on why and how to properly 
recycle or dispose of these items.  

Beaufort County is also planning to incorporate a permanent collection and aggregation site for these 
materials, including electronic waste, to collect, process, and divert from disposal as many of these 
materials as possible, and contract for proper disposal of the rest. 

 Goal 3: Secure Disposal Capacity 

One of the County’s key solid waste management goals is to ensure disposal capacity exists for the 
solid waste requiring disposal from Beaufort County over next 20 years. As described in Section 5, the 
current permitted capacity at Hickory Hill Landfill, where most of Beaufort County’s Class 3 solid waste 
is disposed, could be full as early as 2027, although the operator has applied for an expansion which 
would extend the projected life. Given the distance to other Class 3 landfills, a transfer station is 
required to cost-effectively access any landfill other than Hickory Hill. Even if Hickory Hill expanded 
and had sufficient capacity to handle Beaufort County’s Class 3 waste, the County plans to ensure that 
more than one disposal option is available for disposal of the County’s solid waste in the long-term to 
ensure competitiveness.  

  

Related Strategies from Envision Beaufort County 
2040 Comprehensive Plan  

• Pursue recycling options for yard waste as an alternative 
to placement in a construction and demolition landfill or 
incineration. 

• Expand options to help the public discard toxic items 
such as household hazardous waste that degrade water 
quality. 

71

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

6-4 | P a g e  

 

Strategies 

In the short term, Beaufort County will 
continue to send Class 1 waste to South Coast 
Resources for use as a fuel blend. When an 
organics diversion facility becomes available,  
the County will divert as much Class 1 material 
as possible to this facility. Beaufort County will 
continue to dispose of Class 2 waste at 
Oakwood Landfill which is projected to have 
enough capacity to last through the end of the 
planning period. 

Beaufort County will continue to send Class 3 
waste to Hickory Hill, at least until July 1, 2025, 
under an agreement with the facility operator. 
Beaufort County will continue to follow the 
status of the application to expand the capacity of Hickory Hill. In the meantime, the County will 
continue to pursue the development of a transfer station, possibly connected to a materials recycling 
facility. The County will continue discussions with surrounding counties regarding opportunities to 
share a transfer station and materials recycling facility.  

Before the end of the current term of the contract with Hickory Hill, the County will secure disposal 
capacity beyond July 1, 2025, for Class 3 waste. If Beaufort County’s planned transfer station is 
operating at that time, the County will contract for disposal of solid waste received there, possibly as 
part of a transfer station operating contract or as a separate hauling and disposal contract. If the 
transfer station is not yet operating and sufficient capacity remains at Hickory Hill at a competitive 
tipping fee, the County may continue to contract for direct haul of Class 3 waste from the convenience 
centers to this landfill.  

 Goal 4: Transition to Curbside Collection for Residents 

As the County’s population rapidly increases, the County will work to ensure that all residents in the 
more densely populated areas of the County have curbside collection of residential solid waste rather 
than rely on convenience centers (or illegal disposal) as their primary disposal option. To this end, the 
County Council passed a resolution to implement curbside collection of waste and recyclables in the 
unincorporated areas of the County, which encompasses solid waste districts 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 in 2016 
and issued a Request for Proposals for these services in 2018.  However, in 2019, the Solid Waste and 
Recycling Board recommended that the Public Facilities Committee not pursue a contract at that 
time.  The County will continue to evaluate the need to expand curbside collection to all residents in 
the more densely populated areas of the County and implement, as feasible, using the following 
strategies.  

Strategies 

Related Strategies from Envision Beaufort County 
2040 Comprehensive Plan 

• Design and implement a plan for provision of multiple 

disposal alternatives for the County. 

• Continue effort to form alliances with neighboring 
counties to develop alternative methods for waste 
disposal and recycling. 

• Initiate the placement of a transfer station and a Material 
Recovery Facility (MRF) in Beaufort County to provide an 
alternative to disposal and recycling at the Hickory Hill 
Landfill and MRF. 

72

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

6-5 | P a g e  

 

The County will work with the Town of Hilton 
Head Island to evaluate the need for a contract 
for residential curbside collection and the best 
approach to provide. In addition, Beaufort 
County will continue to explore the option of 
contracting for residential collection of solid 
waste and recyclables in the unincorporated 
areas of the County, most likely starting with 
Solid Waste Districts 6, 7, and 9.  In the absence 
of contracting for collection directly, the County 
will continue to encourage residents to use 
existing haulers for curbside collection of solid 
waste and recyclables, either independently or 
through their neighborhood associations.  

The County will upgrade selected convenience centers to improve infrastructure (for example, paving 
and stormwater control) and to enhance safely and accessibly. In addition, the County may explore 
the use of automated entry systems using the recently implemented decal system.  

As more residents transition to curbside collection, Beaufort County will modify the number, hours, 
purpose, and design of convenience centers accordingly. Some convenience centers may be 
repurposed to only accept recyclables and materials that are not easily collected at the curb, such as 
electronics, household hazardous materials, carpet, and other textiles. As the County makes these 
changes to residential solid waste collection, it will engage residents and inform residents of the 
reasons and schedule for changes.  

 Goal 5: Ensure Sustainable Funding 

Beaufort County has historically funded its solid waste operations, including the cost to dispose of 
residential solid waste collected by municipalities and private haulers, through a millage on the 
property tax. In 2021, the Beaufort County Council voted to create a Solid Waste and Recycling 
Enterprise Fund to support these activities. In FY21, the Enterprise Fund is fully supported by a millage 
on property taxes.  

Strategies 

Currently, the Solid Waste and Recycling Enterprise Fund covers projected operational costs but not 
capital costs. The County will budget for one-time capital costs as part of its capital improvement plan, 
including the cost to develop planned recycling and solid waste management facilities. In addition, 
the County will incorporate costs to maintain and replace capital facilities and equipment into the 
budget for its Solid Waste and Recycling Enterprise Fund.  

Beaufort County will explore the possibility of generating at least some of the revenue for solid waste 
management from user fees, rather than solely from property tax millage so that citizens that benefit 
from a particular facility or service pay for it, rather than all taxpayers. For example, like residents with 
curbside collection pay a fee for this service, the County will evaluate the potential to charge residents 

Related Strategies from Envision Beaufort County 
2040 Comprehensive Plan 

• Explore means of initiating mandated curbside pick- up 
for solid waste and recycling in Districts 6, 7, and 9, and 
encourage the Town of Hilton Head to provide or require 
curbside pick-up. 

• Explore an exclusive franchise system, allowing haulers 
to bid on servicing an entire Solid Waste District or a 
designated area within the Solid Waste District if not 
feasible for one hauler to service the entire district. This 
will help to reduce costs for citizens and decrease truck 
traffic in residential neighborhoods. 

73

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

6-6 | P a g e  

 

delivering solid waste to the convenience centers a fee to cover the cost of operating the convenience 
centers and disposing of solid waste collected there. The County will continue to fund solid waste and 
recycling costs that benefit all citizens of the County through property taxes. This may include public 
education and outreach, code enforcement, litter abatement, solid waste administration, planning 
and reporting, household hazardous waste collection, and recycling and waste reduction programs. 

74

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

7-1 | P a g e  

 

7 Action Plan 

Table 7-1 identifies the actions that the County will take to achieve the five goals and implement the 
strategies described in Section 6. The action plan focuses on the first ten years of the planning period.  

Beaufort County’s action plan assumes the development of a materials recycling facility, transfer 
station, organics diversion facility, and aggregation site for materials that are banned or difficult to 
manage. In addition, the plan anticipates that most, if not all, residents in the County transition to 
curbside collection of solid waste by the end of the planning period. Finally, the action plan assumes 
the County will begin to charge user fees for some solid waste management costs rather than 
supporting them all with a millage on the property tax. These strategies are a significant change from 
current solid waste management system. Some require significant capital investment. Thus, Table 7-
2 identifies actions that Beaufort County will take if these facilities are not developed, or activities are 
not implemented on the schedule anticipated as well as likely consequences. 

  

   

75

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

7-2 | P a g e  

 

Table 7-1 | Action Plan 2022 - 2041 

 Responsible 
entity(ies) 

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 FY27 FY28 FY29 FY30 FY31-
FY41 

Goal 1: Progress toward state reduction and recycling goals  

Strategy 1.1: Ensure convenient collection of recyclables from all residents. 

Collect residential recyclables at convenience 
centers and other drop-off locations. 

Beaufort County 
          

Provide curbside collection of recyclables from 
residents. 

City of Beaufort, 
Bluffton, Port 

Royal 

          

Require residential haulers to offer recycling to 
their customers. 

Town of Hilton 
Head Island 

          

Incorporate collection of recyclables in future 
residential solid waste collection contracts. 

Beaufort County, 
municipalities 

          

Collect residential recyclables at newly developed 
recycling facility. 1 Beaufort County           

Strategy 1.2: Expand collection of recyclables from non-residential generators.  

Add commercial cardboard collection sites. Beaufort County            

Encourage businesses, institutions, and other non-
residential generators to recycle and provide 
support needed. 

Beaufort County, 
municipalities 

          

Collect commercial recyclables at newly 
developed recycling facility.1 Beaufort County 

          

Strategy 1.3: Contract for processing and marketing of recyclables collected through County programs. 

Contract for hauling, processing, and marketing of 
recyclables collected at convenience centers. 

Beaufort County 
           

Bale cardboard and office paper at Shanklin Road 
baling facility. 

Beaufort County 
          

Strategy 1.4: Process and market recyclables at new materials recycling facility.  

Identify site for recycling facility and acquire if not 
County-owned.2 Beaufort County 

          

76

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

7-3 | P a g e  

 

 Responsible 
entity(ies) 

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 FY27 FY28 FY29 FY30 FY31-
FY41 

Develop conceptual plan for materials recycling 
facility.3 Beaufort County 

          

Design and construct materials recycling facility.1   Beaufort County           

Process recyclables collected at convenience 
center at new materials recycling facility.4, 5 Beaufort County 

          

Process recyclables collected curbside at new 
materials recycling facility.4, 5 Beaufort County 

          

Encourage other local governments and private 
haulers to deliver recyclables to materials 
recycling facility as capacity allows.  

Beaufort County 
          

Periodically evaluate the potential to expand 
materials diverted at materials recycling facility, 
add materials and upgrade technology as feasible. 

Beaufort County 
      

 
    

Strategy 1.5: Educate residents, businesses, institutions, and visitors about opportunities to reduce waste and recycle. 

Maintain and update information on websites and 
social media, newsletters, and other printed 
materials. 

Beaufort County, 
municipalities, 

KBCB 

          

Make presentations to students, civic groups, and 
at events about the reasons and opportunities to 
reduce, reuse and recycling.  

Beaufort County, 
municipalities, 

KBCB 

          

Work with collection contractors to update 
customers on recycling and solid waste services 
provided. 

Municipalities 
          

Offer tours (online and in person) of recycling and 
solid waste facilities as they are developed and 
operated. 

Beaufort County 
          

Goal 2: Divert items banned from landfill. 

Strategy 2.1: Divert organics. 

Continue to deliver Class 1 waste to recycling or 
appropriate disposal facilities.  Beaufort County 

          

Develop conceptual plan for organics diversion 
facility.3 Beaufort County 

          

77

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

7-4 | P a g e  

 

 Responsible 
entity(ies) 

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 FY27 FY28 FY29 FY30 FY31-
FY41 

Design, and develop organics diversion facility, 
possibly in conjunction with other diversion 
facilities at a proposed Sustainability Campus. 1 

Beaufort County 
          

Operate organics diversion facility.5 Beaufort County           

Periodically evaluate the potential to expand 
organics diverted, add materials and upgrade 
technology as feasible. 

Beaufort County 
          

Strategy 2.2: Divert household hazardous waste, e-waste, and other banned and hard-to-recycle materials from disposal. 

Continue to collect tires, household hazardous 
waste and other banned items at convenience 
centers. 

Beaufort County 
          

Collect electronic waste at special events.  Beaufort County           

Add another tire aggregation site.1 Beaufort County           

Upgrade white goods aggregation site and 
relocate, possibly at proposed Sustainability 
Campus. 1 

Beaufort County 
          

Collect/aggregate banned items at designated 
location, possibly at proposed Sustainability 
Campus and process/market. 1 

Beaufort County 
          

Goal 3: Secure disposal capacity. 

Strategy 3.1: Continue to dispose of collected Class 3 solid waste at Hickory Hill. 

Send Class 3 waste from convenience centers to 
Hickory Hill under current contract terms. 

Beaufort County           

Track progress of Hickory Hill’s proposed 
expansion.  

Beaufort County           

Strategy 3.2: Develop and operate transfer station. 

Meet with surrounding counties to discuss 
opportunities to collaborate on transfer station(s) 
and other facilities. 

Beaufort County 
          

Develop conceptual plan for transfer station.3  Beaufort County           

78

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

7-5 | P a g e  

 

 Responsible 
entity(ies) 

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 FY27 FY28 FY29 FY30 FY31-
FY41 

Identify site at for transfer station, possibly in 
conjunction with diversion facilities at a 
Sustainability Campus.2 

Beaufort County 
          

Design transfer station.1 Beaufort County           

Permit transfer station. Beaufort County           

Construct transfer station.1 Beaufort County           

Procure disposal capacity at landfill for solid waste 
from transfer station.  

Beaufort County 
          

Operate transfer station. 5, 6 Beaufort County           

Goal 4:  Transition to curbside collection for residents. 

Strategy 4.1: Shift to curbside collection in more densely populated areas. 

Evaluate the potential to contract for residential 
curbside collection in the Town of Hilton Head 
Island and implement if feasible. 

Beaufort County, 
Town of Hilton 

Head Island 

          

Evaluate contracting for residential curbside 
collection in more densely populated solid waste 
districts and implement when feasible. 

Beaufort County 
          

In solid waste districts with no contract for 
collection, encourage residents to retain hauler for 
curbside collection. 

Beaufort County 
          

Strategy 4.2: Optimize the number and operation of convenience centers. 

Reduce the hours and materials accepted at 
convenience centers as residents shift to curbside 
collection. 

Beaufort County 
          

Upgrade remaining convenience centers to 
comply with stormwater requirements, improve 
safety and accessibility, etc.1 

Beaufort County 
          

Install automated gates at remaining convenience 
centers. 1 Beaufort County 

          

Strategy 4.3: Engage and inform residents of their collection options.  

79

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

7-6 | P a g e  

 

 Responsible 
entity(ies) 

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 FY27 FY28 FY29 FY30 FY31-
FY41 

Provide residents with advance notice and clear 
information when shifting to curbside collection. 

Beaufort County 
          

Provide residents with notice of changes in the 
location, hours, or materials accepted at 
convenience centers. 

Beaufort County 
          

Continue to require decals for those using 
convenience centers, educating generators that 
are not eligible for decals on proper ways to 
dispose of solid waste. 

Beaufort County 

          

Continuously educate residents, businesses, and 
visitors about littering and illegal disposal laws 
and enforce consistently. 

Beaufort County 
          

Goal 5:  Ensure sustainable funding. 

Strategy 5.1: Ensure funds are available to cover capital costs.  

Apply approved GO Bond to develop site for 
recycling and solid waste facilities, possibly at 
proposed Sustainability Campus. 

Beaufort County 
          

Allocate capital funds to acquire and develop site 
and facilities for recycling and solid waste facilities, 
possibly at proposed Sustainability Campus.   

Beaufort County 
          

Incorporate funds for equipment replacement in 
Solid Waste Enterprise Fund budget. 

Beaufort County           

Strategy 5.2: Consider user fees to cover some solid waste management services and facilities. 

Support solid waste management costs through 
Enterprise Fund. 

Beaufort County           

Periodically analyze the full cost of each solid 
waste service and facility provided by County.  Beaufort County 

          

Determine which facilities and services should be 
funded through user fees rather than property 
taxes. 7  

Beaufort County 
          

Charge facility or service users fee to cover the 
costs identified as appropriate for user fees. 

Beaufort County 
          

80

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

7-7 | P a g e  

 

 Responsible 
entity(ies) 

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 FY27 FY28 FY29 FY30 FY31-
FY41 

Inform and educate residents about costs 
associated with solid waste management, 
associated fees, and the reasons for changes. 

Beaufort County 
          

 
1 Assuming capital budget for FY23 through FY25 is approved (as requested December 2021). 
2 $1.9 million General Obligation Bond allocated for this purpose. 
3 Includes identifying tons, type, and source of materials, technology to be used, cost estimates and funding sources, respective roles of public and private sector, etc. 
4 If a County Materials Recycling Facility is not operating as scheduled, the County will continue to contract with a private company to accept, process and market 
recyclables. 
5 Either county-operated or operated by a contractor hired by the County 
6 If County Transfer Station is not operating as scheduled, the County will enter into new contract for disposal of solid waste collected at convenience centers. 
7 For example, tipping for use of the transfer station, recycling facility, etc.; charge for decals to use the convenience centers, etc. 
 

81

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

7-8 | P a g e  

 

 Table 7-2  | Alternatives to Key Strategies 

Planned Strategy Alternatives Consequences 

County develops materials 
recycling facility, possibly at 
Sustainability Campus.  

County continues to contract with private firm to 
haul, process, and market recyclables from 
convenience centers. 

County develops a small-scale processing facility 
(mini-MRF) on County-owned property (Public 
Works South) to accept, sort and bale recyclables 
collected at the Beaufort County convenience 
centers located in the southern portion of the 
County.   

County contracts with a private company to 
develop and operate a materials recycling facility 
to accept Beaufort County recyclables.  Contractor 
sites, permits, constructs, and operates. County 
commits to deliver tons collected. 

County has limited control over what and how 
materials are recycled and associated costs. 

The cost per ton is likely to continue to increase. 

The County may have difficulty achieving recycling 
and waste reduction goals. 

County develops organics 
diversion facility, possibly at 
Sustainability Campus.  

County will continue to contract with private firm 
to accept and process Class 1 waste from 
convenience centers.  

County has limited control over what and how 
organics are diverted and associated costs. 

The County may have difficulty achieving recycling 
and waste reduction goals and diverting yard 
trimmings from landfill. 

County develops location for 
aggregating banned and difficult 
to handle materials, possibly at 
Sustainability Campus.   

County will collect tires and household hazardous 
waste at convenience centers and contract for 
pick-up, processing, recycling, or disposal.    

County will limit collection to periodic events. 

County has limited control over which banned 
items are accepted, how they are managed, and at 
what costs. 

County develops transfer station.  

County contracts with private company to accept 
solid waste at independently developed landfill or 
transfer station.    

County contracts with a private company to 
develop and operate a transfer station to accept 
Beaufort County waste. County commits to deliver 
tons collected. 

County will have limited control over where 
municipal solid waste is disposed and the 
associated cost. 

It may be difficult to secure capacity for Class 3 
waste once Hickory Hill reaches capacity without a 
transfer station. 

 The cost per ton is likely to continue to increase.  

82

Item 9.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-2041 

7-9 | P a g e  

 

Planned Strategy Alternatives Consequences 

County transitions all residents to 
curbside collection. 

Some residents in the unincorporated County and 
in the Town of Hilton Head Island will continue to 
use the convenience centers as their primary 
disposal option.  

Residents or neighborhood associations will 
choose from multiple haulers if they want curbside 
collection. 

Traffic at the convenience centers is likely to 
increase as the population increases. 

Operating costs at convenience centers are likely 
to increase. 

The level and fees for curbside services across the 
County will vary. 

  

County implements user fees for 
some solid waste services and 
facilities. 

All services and facilities continue to be funded 
through millage on property taxes. 

Taxpayers will continue to pay for services or 
facilities only some use. 

Millage assigned to solid waste will increase to 
cover the cost of new facilities and services. 

 

83

Item 9.



   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

 

CHAPTER 62 

BEAUFORT COUNTY MUNICIPAL CODE 

  
  

84

Item 9.



   

 

Chapter 62 - SOLID WASTE[1] 

Footnotes: 

--- (1) --- 

Editor's note— Ord. No. 2007/37 , adopted Oct. 22, 2007, amended Ch. 62 in its entirety to read as herein set out. Former Ch. 62 consisted of §§ 
62-1—62-68, pertained to similar subject matter and derived from the 1982 Code; Ord. No. 064-94, adopted Sept. 6, 1994; an ordinance adopted 
Nov. 9, 1998; and Ord. No. 006-02HR, adopted Mar. 19, 2002. 

Cross reference— Environment, ch. 38; trash and litter control, § 38-26 et seq.; littering or dumping of refuse in rivers, creeks, canals and ditches, 

§ 38-35; health and sanitation, ch. 46; buildings and building regulations, ch. 74; manufactured homes and trailers, ch. 86; littering at Bluffton dock, 

§ 102-66; waste disposal facilities, § 106-1367. 

ARTICLE I. - IN GENERAL 

Sec. 62-1. - Establish and administration of solid waste and recycling 

enterprise system. 

(a) There is hereby created the "solid waste and recycling enterprise system" of the county. The 

solid waste and recycling enterprise system shall be operated as an administrative division of 

the county under the responsibility of the Beaufort County Director of Solid Waste and 

Recycling. The county administrator and the director of solid waste and recycling are 

authorized to (i) establish and organize the county's solid waste and recycling facilities as 

necessary for their useful and efficient operation, (ii) to establish necessary procedures, 

policies and guidelines for the use of the county's solid waste and recycling facilities, and (iii) 

to recommend appropriate millage or fee and rate schedules for consideration and approval 

by county council, including any appropriate exemptions. Any millage, fee, charge or rate 

recommendations shall be based upon considerations that the county's solid waste and 

recycling enterprise system will be self-supporting, and adequately funded by all users and 

classes of users. Fees, charges, and rates shall not be charged to commercial or industrial 

users as they do not presently and directly benefit from the solid waste and recycling disposal 

services provided by the county; provided, however, fees, rates, and charges may be charged 

to all or a portion of such classes of users should such users directly benefit from county solid 

waste and recycling services in future periods. The county administrator and the director of 

solid waste and recycling are further directed to keep county council advised as to the 

progress in accomplishing these requirements. 

(b) These provisions shall be applicable within the county and all county-owned solid waste and 

recycling facilities. 

In addition to solid waste and recycling disposal services, other solid waste and recycling 

services may be provided within the county. Such other solid waste and recycling services 

may be provided within the corporate limits of a municipality in the county by contract with 

an individual, corporation or municipal governing body in the event (1) the municipality is not 

providing such services and has not budgeted or applied for funds for such services, or (2) 

85

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

permission of the municipal governing body has been obtained in connection with the 

provision of such services; otherwise, the county shall not render such services within such 

municipality. 

The county finds, after due investigation, that the solid waste and recycling enterprise system 

programs, presently consisting of solid waste and recycling disposal, do not conflict, or 

compete in any way, with the solid waste and recycling services of the municipalities within 

the county and are entirely complementary thereof and separate therefrom. To the extent 

that a municipality engages in solid waste disposal, the county shall not engage in such 

service within such municipality, and appropriate fee exemptions, if necessary, shall be 

implemented. 

The director of solid waste and recycling may request assistance from the various 

departments and other officials of the county or municipalities, as may be necessary for the 

orderly implementation of this chapter. Agreements, including any intergovernmental 

agreements with municipalities within the county, necessary or desirable and regulations 

promulgated to carry out this chapter are authorized and shall be subject to prior review and 

approval of county council. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ; Ord. No. 2020/19, § 2.A, 6-8-2020 ; Ord. No. 2021/24, § 2.A, 5-

24-2021 ) 

Sec. 62-2. - Authority. 

(a) Authority and purpose. Beaufort County ("the county") shall provide for the management, 

collection and disposal of solid waste. The landfills are established pursuant to the authority 

conferred by S.C. Code 1976, §§ 44-55-1010 through 44-55-1060, as amended, S.C. Code 

1976, §44-1-140(11), as amended, and Section 9, Part II, Act No. 410 of 1971 also South 

Carolina Regulation PC-SW-2, and for the public health, welfare and safety of the citizens of 

the county. The rules and regulations herein are adopted along with all other South 

Carolina department of health and environmental control rules and regulations. All 

recycling and solid waste activities not in the county system shall coordinate with the county 

for the purpose of assisting the county with achievement of established state diversion and 

recycling goals. 

(b) General.  Section 9 of the General Appropriations Act (Act No. 410) South Carolina Solid Waste 

Management and Policy Act of 1991, assigns the South Carolina State Board of Health as "the 

agency over these matters involving real or potential threats to the health of the people of 

South Carolina, including the handling and disposal of garbage and refuse . . ." Improper 

storage, collection and transportation systems create health hazards, odors, impair the 

aesthetic appearance of the State, encourage wild and domestic animal feeding and exposes 

residents to undue risks. Section 44-96-20 of the South Carolina Solid Waste Management 

and Policy Act of 1991, establishes goals for solid waste diversion from municipal solid waste 

(MSW) landfills and recycling on a statewide basis, and confer upon counties the 

responsibility for establishing solid waste management plans, including ordinances, policies 

86

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=1028461
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=1089439
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=1089439
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH66TA_ARTIVTADI_DIV9RE
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH66TA_ARTIVTADI_DIV9RE


   

 

and regulations, which support the achievement of the established waste reduction goal to 

reduce the amount of MSW disposed of to three and one-half pounds per/person/day and 

the 35-percent statewide recycling goal by 2005. 

(c) In addition to the foregoing authority, purposes, and general matters, the county finds the 

solid waste and recycling enterprise system shall subserve the following additional purposes: 

(1) To promote the public health, safety and welfare; 

(2) To ensure that solid waste is transported, stored, treated, processed and disposed of in a 

manner adequate to protect human health, safety and welfare and the environment; 

(3) To promote the reduction, recycling, reuse and treatment of solid waste and the recycling 

of materials which would otherwise be disposed of as solid waste; 

(4) To provide an efficient method for the collection, transportation, storage, handling, 

treatment, reduction, recycling, reuse and disposal of solid waste in the county through the 

establishment, construction and operation of solid waste collection sites and other facilities 

for the use and benefit of residents of the county and other municipalities, entities or persons 

who contract for the use of county facilities for the collection of permitted solid waste in 

accordance with county ordinances and regulations; and 

(5) To protect and preserve the quality of the environment and to conserve and recycle 

natural resources. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ; Ord. No. 2020/19, § 2.B, 6-8-2020 ; Ord. No. 2021/24, § 2.B, 5-

24-2021 ) 

Sec. 62-3. - Definitions. 

For the purpose of this chapter, any definitions contained herein shall apply unless 

specifically stated. In addition to the definitions contained in this chapter, the articles of this 

chapter adopt by reference the definition of terms (to the extent they are not inconsistent with 

definitions specifically contained herein) defined in the South Carolina Solid Waste Policy and 

Management Act of 1991, S.C. Code § 44-96-10, et seq. and in any regulations promulgated 

pursuant thereto. Any term not specifically defined shall be construed pursuant to its plain and 

ordinary meaning. When not inconsistent with the context, words used in the present tense 

include the future, words used in the plural include the singular, and words used in the singular 

include the plural. The word "shall" is always mandatory and not merely discretionary. 

Agricultural operation: Raising, harvesting, or storing crops or feed, breeding or managing 

livestock, including the preparation of the products raised thereon for human use and disposed 

of by marketing or other means. It includes, but is not limited to, agriculture, grazing, 

horticulture, forestry, and dairy farming. 

87

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=1028461
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=1089439
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=1089439


   

 

Apartment: Any building containing more than four contiguous dwelling units or any group of 

buildings or mobile homes located on a single lot that contains a total of six or more dwelling 

units owned by the same person. 

Backyard composting: The on-site composting of yard waste by the owner or tenant for 

nonrevenue generating use when all materials are generated and composted on-site. 

Bulk container: A manufactured container suitable for emptying by mechanical equipment that 

has been approved by the director. 

Bulky items: Household furniture, electronic appliances such as televisions, stereos, lawn 

mowers, door and window screens, swing sets, over-sized children's toys, metal tables and chairs, 

grills, yard furniture, wading pools, or other items generated by a household as part of its solid 

waste. 

Code: The Code of Ordinances of Beaufort County, South Carolina. 

Collector/hauler: Any individual, business, or municipal organization which collects solid waste 

or recyclable material commercially or as a public service and transports it to a permitted solid 

waste facility, landfill or recycling center. 

Combined waste stream: The aggregate waste stream of all tenants or occupants of a business 

property or complex. 

Commercial establishment: Any hotel, motel, apartment, rooming house, business, industrial, 

public or semipublic establishment of any nature. 

Commercial waste: solid waste (including unrecovered recyclable materials) generated by 

industrial, commercial or business activities. This includes solid waste generated within 

multifamily residences and all solid waste placed in public receptacles on public streets, parks 

and playgrounds, beaches and other public places (excluding industrial waste as defined herein). 

Compost: Humus-like end product of the process of composting waste. 

Composting: The process of making compost. 

Composting facility: Any facility used in the composting of yard waste and land-clearing debris 

and/or chipped untreated wood waste, thereby providing aerobic, thermophilic decomposition of 

the solid organic constituents of solid waste to produce a stable, humus-like material. 

Construction: Any physical modification to the site at which a potential or proposed solid waste 

management facility is to be located including, but not limited to, site preparation, clearing, 

grading, excavation, construction of buildings, installation of liners, etc. 

88

Item 9.



   

 

Construction and demolition debris: Any discarded solid wastes resulting from construction, 

remodeling, repair, and demolition of structures, and road construction. The wastes include, but 

are not limited to, bricks, concrete, other masonry materials, lumber, road spoils, and paving 

materials, but do not include solid waste from agricultural operations. 

Contractor: The person that has entered into a contract with the county to perform solid waste 

collection. See also "Franchise collector." 

County: Beaufort County, South Carolina. 

County administrator: The Beaufort County Administrator or his/her designated agent. 

County council: The governing body of Beaufort County, South Carolina. 

Convenience center: Any county authorized site designated for collection of residential solid 

waste, yard waste, bulky items, waste oil and other designated solid waste or recyclable 

materials. Convenience centers are intended as MSW collection sites for residential generated 

MSW generated within the solid waste district in which the convenience center is located. 

Debris: Includes, but not limited to, equipment, yard toys, furniture, packaging items, shipping 

containers, construction and demolition waste, bricks, blocks, concrete, asphalt, metals, lumber, 

trees, tree limbs, tree stumps, brush or parts thereof, or brush stumps, and/or building materials 

that are determined to be potentially deleterious to good health, public sanitation and/or public 

safety. 

DHEC: The South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control. 

Director: Beaufort County Director of Public Works or his/her designated agent. 

Disposal: The discharge, deposition, injection, dumping, spilling, or placing of any solid waste 

into or on any land or water, so that the substance or any constituent thereof may enter the 

environment or be emitted into the air or discharged into any waters, including groundwater. 

Dwelling unit: One or more habitable rooms that are intended to be occupied by one family with 

facilities for living, sleeping, cooking and eating and from which the county would collect refuse 

(excludes commercial establishments). 

Expand or expansion: Any change to a solid waste management facility including a composting 

facility or change in the status of that facility that: 

(1) Allows or results in an increase in the solid waste disposal capacity for the facility 

(including either lateral or vertical expansion capacity); or 

(2) Allows or results in an increase (or potential increase) in the annual disposal rate, 

tonnage limit and/or capacity limit for the facility; or 

89

Item 9.



   

 

(3) Includes or otherwise involves the purchase of additional property that may be utilized 

for solid waste management of any kind at the facility. 

Fiscal year: A twelve-month period from July 1 of the current year to June 30 of the following 

year. 

Franchise collector: The person that has entered into a franchise agreement with the county to 

perform solid waste collection and/or recycled materials. 

Garbage: All accumulations of animal, fruit or vegetable matter that attend the preparation, use, 

cooking and dealing in, or storage of meats, fish, fowl, fruit, vegetables and any other matter of 

any nature whatsoever which is subject to decay, putrefaction and the generation of noxious and 

offensive smells or odors, or which during and after decay may serve as breeding or feeding 

material for flies and/or germ-carrying insects or vermin; items which due to their ability to retain 

water can serve as a breeding place for mosquitoes and other water-breeding insects. 

Groundwater: Water beneath the land surface in the saturated zone. 

Hazardous wastes: Wastes that are defined as hazardous in Section 44-56-20 of the South 

Carolina Hazardous Waste Management Act. 

Household: A person or group of people who occupy a dwelling unit as their usual place of 

residence. 

Household hazardous waste: Any commonly used household hazardous material that is not 

regulated as hazardous waste when disposed of. This includes, but is not limited to, insecticides, 

pesticides, paints, lubricants, fertilizers, cleaning agents and polishing compounds. For purposes 

of this definition, household hazardous waste does not include gasoline or motor oil. 

Household quantities: Quantities of solid waste reasonably generated in the course of typical 

domestic activities from single-family residential dwelling units or from small residential building 

projects that consist of minor renovations to a dwelling unit. Solid wastes from construction 

projects that require a building permit or evictions of tenants are not considered household 

quantities. The fact that waste is generated from a single-family primary residence does not 

necessarily establish household quantities. 

Industrial waste: Any and all solid waste generated from industrial processes including, but not 

limited to, factories and treatment plants. 

Land-clearing debris: Organic waste such as trees, limbs, brush, and stumps mingled with small 

amounts of dirt that is produced as a result of clearing and grubbing operations. 

Landfill: A disposal facility or part of a facility where solid waste is placed in or on land, and 

which is not a land treatment facility, a surface impoundment, or an injection well. 

90

Item 9.



   

 

Litter: Any and all solid waste including, but not limited to, debris, disposable packages or 

containers, cigarette butts, garbage, ashes, rubbish, paper, junk, building materials, glass or 

plastic bottles, glass, cans or any other discarded or abandoned material. Any material or 

product that escapes control of the person operating a vehicle and is henceforth abandoned 

shall be considered litter. Litter is typically considered to be relatively small quantities of solid 

waste. 

Modify or modification: Any change to a solid waste management facility or change in the status 

of that facility that: 

(1) Is considered a modification (major or minor) by DHEC; or 

(2) Requires a modification of any kind to the facility's operating permit issued by 

DHEC; or 

(3) Involves construction, renovation and/or other changes to existing buildings, 

structures or units, other than normal daily operating changes; or 

(4) Results in a different classification, designation and/or use for a solid waste 

management facility or composting facility; or 

(5) Results in a change of ownership and/or operation of a solid waste management 

facility or composting facility; or 

(6) Results in any addition and/or deletion of a waste stream for a significant user of a 

solid waste management facility or composting facility. 

Multiresidential units: residential properties that consist of dwelling units classified by the 

county assessor as having more than one dwelling unit per property or parcel. This definition 

includes, but is not limited to, apartments and mobile home parks with multiple units where 

aggregate collection of municipal solid waste (MSW) is provided as part of a rental agreement. 

Owner/operator: The person who owns the land on which a solid waste management facility or 

composting facility is located or the person who is responsible for the overall operation of the 

facility, or both. 

Person: An individual, partnership, copartnership, cooperative, association, firm, company, 

public or private corporation, political subdivision, agency of the state, agency of the federal 

government, trust, estate, joint structure company or any other legal entity or its legal 

representative, agent or assigns. 

Pickup truck: A motor truck with a manufacturer's gross vehicle weight rating of less than 11,500 

pounds, an unladen weight of less than 8,001 pounds, and which is equipped with an open box-

type bed less than nine feet in length. Pickup truck does not include a motor vehicle, otherwise 

91

Item 9.



   

 

meeting the above definition that is equipped with a bed-mounted storage compartment 

commonly called a utility body. 

Primary residence: Residential dwelling unit that is occupied by the owner or renter of such unit. 

For purposes of this chapter, owners and renters shall designate only one primary residence. 

Recyclable material: Those materials which would otherwise become municipal solid waste, and 

which can be collected, separated or processed and returned to the economic mainstream in the 

form of raw materials or products. 

Refuse: Any solid waste, as defined herein, originating from typical household activities. 

Residential property: Property that contains one or more residential dwelling units other than 

those defined as apartments. 

Residential solid waste: Any and all accumulations of solid waste (including unrecovered 

recyclable materials) generated by single-family residential units or multifamily residential 

facilities where aggregate garbage collection is not provided to the tenant as part of a rental 

agreement. 

Roll cart: Refuse containers, mounted on wheels, which are used to store refuse between 

collections by franchise collectors. 

Single-family residential unit: Residential properties classified by the county assessor as having 

only one dwelling unit per property or parcel. 

Solid waste management plan: The local solid waste management plan that must be developed 

and implemented by each county pursuant to S.C. Code § 44-96-80. 

Solid waste: Garbage, debris, commercial waste, industrial waste, yard waste, white goods, 

ashes, rubbish, paper, junk, building materials, glass or plastic bottles, other glass, cans and any 

other discarded or abandoned material, including solid, liquid, semisolid or contained gaseous 

material. For purposes of the chapter, any waste specifically regulated under any state or federal 

law shall be excluded from the definition of solid waste. 

Solid waste management facility: Any solid waste disposal area (including public and private 

landfills), volume reduction plant; transfer station, convenience center, or other facility, the 

purpose of which is the storage, collection, transportation, treatment, utilization, processing, 

recycling, or disposal, or any combination thereof, of solid waste. For purposes of this chapter, 

this term does not include composting facilities, or noncommercial industrial facilities managing 

solid waste generated in the course of normal operations on property under the same ownership 

or control as the waste management facility. 

Special waste: Bulky refuse that cannot be stored in roll carts and cannot be picked up by a 

normally used refuse collection vehicle. 

92

Item 9.



   

 

Transfer station: Any permitted temporary holding site for the collection and transfer of solid 

waste from private citizens and by collector/haulers and commercial collector/haulers to another 

disposal facility. 

Vector: A carrier that is capable of transmitting a pathogen from one organism to another 

including, but not limited to, flies and other insects, rodents, birds and vermin. 

Vehicle: Every device capable of being moved upon a public highway or road and in, upon or by 

which any person or property is or shall be transported or drawn upon a public highway or road. 

Yard waste: Any and all accumulations of grass, leaves, pine straw, small trees and branches, 

shrubs, vines and other similar items of less than six inches in diameter, four feet in length 

generated by the typical maintenance of lawns, shrubs, gardens and trees from residential 

properties. Yard waste shall not be commingled with garbage or solid waste. 

Weeds and rank vegetation: Dense, uncultivated, herbaceous overgrowth over two feet in height, 

or briars and trailing vines exceeding ten feet in length. 

White goods: Includes refrigerators, ranges, water heaters, freezers, dishwashers, residential 

trash compactors, dryers, air conditioners, and other large appliances. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-4. - Enforcement. 

(1) The solid waste management division of the department of public works and other law 

enforcement agencies shall be charged with the enforcement of this section and shall be 

authorized to obtain for their personnel such law enforcement commissions as may be 

necessary. Litter control officers, any commissioned law enforcement officer and appointed 

code enforcement officers shall have the authority to enforce the provisions of this section 

and may issue a summons to any violator to appear in the magistrate's court of the county to 

answer the charge of violation of this section. 

(2) If any solid waste improperly or unlawfully disposed of in violation of this chapter can be 

identified as having last belonged to, been in the possession of, sent to, or received by, or to 

have been the property of any person prior to its being disposed of as prohibited herein, such 

identification shall be presumed to be prima facie evidence that such person disposed of or 

caused to be disposed of such solid waste in violation of this chapter. 

(3) Proof of means used for proper disposal of solid wastes at businesses and commercial 

enterprises shall be presented to the code enforcement officers when requested by the 

officer. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

93

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

Sec. 62-5. - Penalties. 

(a) A person, from a vehicle or otherwise, shall not dump, throw, drop, deposit, discard, or 

otherwise dispose of litter or other solid waste, as defined by S.C. § 44-96-40(46), upon public 

or private property or waters in the state including, but not limited to, a highway, park, beach, 

campground, forest land, recreational area, trailer park, road, street, or alley except: 

(1) On property designated by the state for the disposal of litter and other solid waste and the 

person is authorized to use the property for that purpose; or 

(2) Into a litter receptacle in a manner that the litter is prevented from being carried away or 

deposited by the elements upon a part of the private or public property or waters. 

(b) Responsibility for the removal of litter from property or receptacles is upon the person 

convicted pursuant to this section of littering the property or receptacles. If there is no 

conviction for littering, the responsibility is upon the owner of the property. 

(c) (1) A person who violates the provisions of this section in an amount less than 15 pounds in 

weight or 27 cubic feet in volume is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, shall be 

fined $200.00 or imprisoned for not more than 30 days for a first or second conviction, or 

fined $500.00 or imprisoned for not more than 30 days for a third or subsequent 

conviction. In addition to the fine or term of imprisonment, the court also must impose 

eight hours of litter-gathering labor for a first conviction, 16 hours of litter-gathering labor 

for a second conviction, and 24 hours of litter-gathering labor for a third or subsequent 

conviction, or other form of public service, under the supervision of the court, as the court 

may order because of physical or other incapacities. 

(2) The fine for a deposit of a collection of litter or garbage in an area or facility not intended 

for public deposit of litter or solid waste is $1,000.00. The provisions of this item apply to a 

deposit of litter or garbage, as defined in S.C. § 44-67-30 (4), in an area or facility not 

intended for public deposit of litter or solid waste. This item does not prohibit a private 

property owner from depositing litter or garbage as a property enhancement if the 

depositing does not violate applicable local or state health and safety regulations. In 

addition to a fine and for each offense pursuant to the provisions of this item, the court 

also shall impose a minimum of five hours of litter-gathering labor or other form of public 

service, under the supervision of the court, as the court may order because of physical or 

other incapacities. 

(3) The court, instead of payment of the monetary fine imposed for a violation of this section, 

may direct the substitution of additional litter-gathering labor or other form of public 

service, under the supervision of the court, as it may order because of physical or other 

incapacities not to exceed one hour for each $5.00 of fine imposed. 

(4) In addition to other punishment authorized by this section, in the discretion of the court in 

which conviction is obtained, the person may be directed by the judge to pick up and 

94

Item 9.



   

 

remove from any public place or any private property, with prior permission of the legal 

owner of the property upon which it is established by competent evidence that the person 

has deposited litter, all litter deposited on the place or property by any person before the 

date of execution of sentence. 

(d) A person who violates the provisions of this section in an amount exceeding 15 pounds in 

weight or 27 cubic feet in volume, but not exceeding 500 pounds or 100 cubic feet, is guilty of 

a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, shall be fined not less than $200.00 nor more than 

$500.00 or imprisoned for not more than 90 days. In addition, the court shall require the 

violator to pick up litter or perform other community service commensurate with the offense 

committed, up to 100 hours. 

(e) (1) A person who violates the provisions of this section in an amount exceeding 50 pounds in 

weight or 100 cubic feet in volume is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, shall 

be fined not less than $500.00 or more than $1,000.00, or imprisoned not more than one 

year, or both. In addition, the court may order the violator to: 

a. Remove or render harmless the litter that he dumped in violation of this subsection; 

b. Repair or restore property damaged by, or pay damages for damage arising out of, 

his dumping of litter in violation of this subsection; or 

c. Perform community public service relating to the removal of litter dumped in violation 

of this subsection or relating to the restoration of an area polluted by litter dumped 

in violation of this subsection. 

(2) A court may enjoin a violation of this subsection. 

(3) A motor vehicle, vessel, aircraft, container, crane, winch, or machine involved in the 

disposal of more than 500 pounds in weight or more than 100 cubic feet in volume of litter 

in violation of this subsection is declared contraband and is subject to seizure and 

summary forfeiture to the state. 

(4) If a person sustains damages in connection with a violation of this subsection that gives 

rise to a felony against the person or his property, a court, in a civil action for those 

damages, shall order the wrongdoer to pay the injured party threefold the actual damages 

or $200.00, whichever amount is greater. In addition, the court shall order the wrongdoer 

to pay the injured party's court costs and attorney's fees. 

(5) A fine imposed pursuant to this subsection shall not be suspended, in whole or in part. 

(f) (1) When the penalty for a violation of this section includes litter-gathering labor in addition to 

a fine or imprisonment, the litter-gathering portion of the penalty is mandatory and shall 

not be suspended; however, the court, upon the request of a person convicted of violating 

this section, may direct that the person pay an additional monetary penalty instead of the 

95

Item 9.



   

 

litter-gathering portion of the penalty that must be equal to the amount of $5.00 an hour 

of litter-gathering labor. Probation shall not be granted instead of the litter-gathering 

requirement, except for a person's physical or other incapacities. 

(2) Funds collected pursuant to this subsection instead of the mandatory litter-gathering labor 

shall be remitted to the county or municipality where the littering violation took place. The 

money collected may be used for the litter-gathering supervision. 

(g) For purposes of the offenses established by this section, litter includes cigarettes and 

cigarette filters. 

(h) A prior violation within the meaning of this section means only a violation of this section 

which occurred within a period of five years including and immediately preceding the date of 

the last violation. 

(i) Magistrates and municipal courts have jurisdiction to try violations of subsections (a), (b), (c), 

and (d) of this section. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-6. - Uniform service charges. 

(a) The county council shall impose millage as part of its annual budget process to fund the solid 

waste and recycling enterprise system. At any point in the future, county council may, by 

ordinance imposed uniform service charges, and rates fees, and charges. The proceeds from 

the millage, uniform service charges, and rates, fees and charges established by county 

council shall be used to pay in whole or in part the costs of acquiring, equipping, operating, 

and maintaining facilities and sites for the collection, transportation, storage, handling, 

separation, treatment, reduction, recycling, reuse, and disposal of household solid waste 

generated within the county. 

(b) If imposed, there shall be a uniform residential solid waste fee annually imposed upon the 

owner of record of each residence in the county, including all single and multi-family homes, 

mobile homes, and all lease and rental properties, in accordance with the then prevailing fee 

schedule, subject to the rules and regulations governing the solid waste and recycling 

enterprise system, and further subject to any applicable exemptions, which exemptions shall 

include, but not be limited to, a complete or partial exemption for users in any municipality 

within the county to the extent the respective municipality provides a service in lieu of the 

county. In addition to fees, charges, and rates with respect to solid waste and recycling 

disposal services, fees, charges, and rates in connection with other solid waste and recycling 

services may be imposed within the corporate limits of a municipality in the county by 

contract with an individual, corporation, or municipal governing body to the extent the 

county is providing solid waste and recycling services in a municipality pursuant to 

subsection 62-1(b). 

96

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH62SOWA_ARTIINGE_S62-1ESADSOWAREENSY


   

 

Residential solid waste fees, if imposed, shall be levied as a uniform assessment by the county 

auditor and placed upon the annual real estate tax notice and collected by the county treasurer, 

pursuant to state law. The fiscal officers of the county shall have the authority to nulla bona or 

abate these fees to the same extent and under the same conditions as they do for a comparable 

tax. 

(c) Further, if residential solid waste charges are imposed, there shall be imposed a late fee and 

supplemental processing charge, for all solid waste fees not timely remitted to the county 

treasurer by March 16 of the year when due. For all past due accounts in excess of one year, 

the county shall impose an additional annual penalty. The county shall pursue all legal 

remedies available to it to recover past due amounts, and shall hold the property owner or 

record responsible for all costs of collection, including reasonable attorney fees, as a part of 

such collection efforts and as a part of the fees imposed by county council pursuant to state 

law, in order that lawful tax-paying citizens not be forced to subsidize those taxpayers who 

do not pay this lawful fee in a timely manner. 

( Ord. No. 2020/19, § 2.C, 6-8-2020 ; Ord. No. 2021/24, § 2.C, 5-24-2021 ) 

Sec. 62-7. - Special fund. 

All taxes, charges, rates, fees, or other revenues collected pursuant to this chapter shall be 

deposited to a special fund to be known as the solid waste and recycling enterprise fund, and all 

funds deposited in the solid waste and recycling enterprise fund shall be expended for the 

administration, operation, and maintenance of the county solid waste and recycling programs 

and the acquiring, constructing, renovating, and equipping of apparatus and facilities necessary 

or convenient therefor. Should the county issue bonds or enter into other obligations the 

proceeds of which benefit the solid waste and recycling enterprise system, it may secure such 

bonds and other obligations with a pledge of all or a portion of the revenues deposited to or 

derived from the solid waste and recycling enterprise fund. Nothing shall prohibit the creation of 

sub-funds or accounts as may be necessary or appropriate. 

( Ord. No. 2020/19, § 2.D, 6-8-2020 ; Ord. No. 2021/24, § 2.D, 5-24-2021 ) 

Secs. 62-8, 62-9. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE II. - LITTERING, SCAVENGING, AND SOLID WASTE 

Sec. 62-10. - Littering on or along public rights-of-way prohibited. 

 (1) It shall be unlawful for any person to throw, drop, leave, or in any way to intentionally or 

unintentionally deposit or dispose of litter on any property or on or along any street, road, 

highway, curb, sidewalk, or public right-of-way, except as required by the authorized and 

97

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=1028461
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=1089439
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=1028461
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=1089439


   

 

franchised refuse collector for that district; nor shall any person throw or deposit any litter in 

any stream or other body of water within the boundaries of the county. 

(2) Furthermore, when litter is thrown, blown or allowed to escape from a vehicle, if the identity 

of the driver cannot be determined, the operator and/or the owner of the vehicle shall be 

held responsible even when the operator or owner did not throw the litter out or allow the 

litter to escape. 

(3) Responsibility for the immediate removal and proper disposal of litter from property is upon 

the person convicted under this chapter of littering. However, if there is no conviction, the 

responsibility for removal and proper disposal shall be upon the owner and/or occupant of 

the property where the litter was deposited. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-11. - Scavenging at county solid waste management facilities. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to rummage through, remove, salvage items or otherwise 

scavenge from county-operated or private solid waste management facilities to include solid 

waste collection and storage containers. A summons may be issued to any violator to appear in 

the magistrate's court of the county to answer the charge of violation of this section. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-12. - Solid waste on lots. 

(1) [Unlawful disposal or accumulation.] It shall be unlawful for any person to dispose of or cause 

to be disposed of or allow to accumulate, or for any property owner to allow any person to 

dispose of or cause to be disposed of or cause to accumulate any type of solid waste 

anywhere in the county except at a solid waste management facility that has been approved 

by county council and/or the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental 

Control or as otherwise provided for under article III of this chapter. 

(2) Declaration of nuisance. Solid waste allowed to accumulate and remain on any lot or parcel of 

land in the county may be deemed and declared a nuisance in the judgment of the director. 

(3) Duties of owner, etc. It shall be the duty of any owner, lessee, occupant, agent, or 

representative of the owner of any lot or parcel of land in the county to remove and properly 

dispose of such solid waste as often as may be necessary to prevent the accumulation of such 

waste. Furthermore, it shall be the responsibility of the owner, lessee, occupant, agent, or 

representative of the owner to limit access to said property such that indiscriminate disposal 

of solid waste is minimized. 

98

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

(4) Notice to owner, etc., to remove. Whenever the director shall find that solid waste has been 

allowed to accumulate and remain upon any lot or parcel of land in the county in such a 

manner as to constitute a nuisance, the director may serve written notice upon the owner, or 

the occupant of the premises, or upon the agent or representative of the owner of such land 

having control thereof to comply with the provisions of this chapter. It shall be sufficient 

notification to personally deliver the notice to the owner (or occupant or agent), or to deposit 

a copy of such in the United States mail, properly stamped, and directed to the owner (or 

occupant or agent) at his/her address of record, or to post a copy of the notice upon such 

premises. 

(5) Failure to comply with notice. If the person to whom the notice is directed, under the 

provisions of the preceding subsection fails or neglects to cause such solid waste to be 

removed from any such premises and properly disposed of within ten days after such notice 

has been served or deposited in the United States mail, or posted upon premises, such 

person shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and subject to the penalty provisions of this 

chapter. 

(6) Removal by county. In the event any property is determined to be a nuisance, and 20 days has 

elapsed after such notice has been served, deposited in the United States mail, or posted 

upon the premises, then the director or his/her designated contractor may enter upon any 

such property and abate such nuisance by removing and disposing of the solid waste, and the 

cost of doing so may become a lien upon the property affected, or may be recovered by the 

county through judgment proceedings initiated in a court of competent jurisdiction. 

(7) Work may be done by county upon request. Upon the written request to the director by the 

owner or the person in control of any lot or parcel of land subject to the provisions of this 

section and payment to the county for the services consistent with the overgrowth cleanup 

fee structure, the director or his/her designated contractor may enter onto such land and 

perform such cleanup activities as necessary to remove and properly dispose of the solid 

waste thereon. 

(8) Solid waste on lots cleanup fee structure. A fee schedule and any amendments thereto for 

disposal of solid waste resulting from cleanup of such waste on lots shall be developed and 

approved by the county administrator. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-13. - Unlawful acts. 

(1) It shall be unlawful to dispose of broken or whole bricks, broken or whole blocks, or 

cured/uncured concrete, land-clearing debris or another other type of solid waste anywhere 

in the unincorporated area of the county except at landfills permitted by the state under 

regulations R.61-107.11, Part IV, R.61-107.16 or R.61-107.258 and permitted consistent with 

the provisions of Sec. 62-46 of this chapter. Responsibility for the immediate removal and 

99

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

proper disposal of such waste from property is upon the person convicted under this chapter. 

However, if there is no conviction, the responsibility for removal and proper disposal shall be 

upon the owner and/or occupant of the property where the waste was deposited. 

(2) Organized collection, e.g., green-boxes, etc., of garbage or mixtures of waste containing 

garbage shall be at a frequency which ensures the prevention of hazards and nuisances to 

human health and the environment. It shall be unlawful for the owner(s) of such container(s) 

to fail to pick up and properly dispose of the waste therein at a frequency that exceeds seven 

calendar days. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-14. - Weeds and rank vegetation. 

(1) Declaration of nuisance. Any residential lot/parcel or any nonresidential lot/parcel located 

contiguous to a residential lot in the county that becomes substantially overgrown with 

weeds and rank vegetation such that it poses potential safety risks to humans and/or 

becomes a harborage for vectors may be deemed and declared a nuisance in the judgment of 

the director. 

(2) Duties of owner, etc. It shall be the duty of any owner, lessee, occupant, agent, or 

representative of the owner of any residential lot/parcel or any nonresidential lot/parcel 

located contiguous to a residential lot in the county to cut, trim and remove for proper 

disposal such weeds and rank vegetation as often as may be necessary to prevent the 

growth of such weeds and rank vegetation that shall constitute a nuisance. However, lots of 

three acres or more shall only be required to cut 100 feet from contiguous road(s) and each 

side property line. 

(3) Notice to owner, etc., to remove. Whenever the director shall find that overgrowth of weeds 

and rank vegetation on a residential lot/parcel or any nonresidential lot/parcel located 

contiguous to a residential lot in the county constitutes a nuisance, the director may serve 

written notice upon the owner, or the occupant of the premises, or upon the agent or 

representative of the owner of such land having control thereof to comply with the 

provisions of this section. It shall be sufficient notification to personally deliver the notice to 

the owner (or occupant or agent), or to deposit a copy of such in the United States mail, 

properly stamped, and directed to the owner (or occupant or agent) at his/her address of 

record, or to post a copy of the notice upon such premises. 

(4) Failure to comply with notice. If the person to whom the notice is directed, under the 

provisions of the preceding subsection fails or neglects to cause such overgrowth of weeds 

and rank vegetation to be removed from any such premises and properly disposed of within 

ten days after such notice has been served or deposited in the United States mail, or posted 

upon premises, such person shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and subject to the 

penalty provisions of this chapter. 

100

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

(5) Removal by county. In the event any overgrowth of weeds and rank vegetation is determined 

to be a nuisance, and twenty (20) days has elapsed after such notice has been served, 

deposited in the United States mail, or posted upon the premises, then the director or 

his/her designated contractor may enter upon any such property and abate such nuisance 

by cutting, trimming, removing and disposing of the vegetative waste, and the cost of doing 

so, pursuant to the cleanup fee structure noted below, may become a lien upon the property 

affected, or may be recovered by the county through judgment proceedings initiated in a 

court of competent jurisdiction. 

(6) Work may be done by county upon request. Upon the written request to the director by the 

owner or the person in control of any lot or parcel of land subject to the provisions of this 

section and payment to the county for the services consistent with the overgrowth cleanup 

fee structure, the director or his/her designated contractor may enter onto such land and 

perform such cleanup activities as necessary to remove and properly dispose of the weeds 

and rank vegetation thereon. 

(7) Overgrowth cleanup fee structure. A fee schedule and any amendments thereto for necessary 

or requested cleanup and disposal of waste resulting from cleanup of nuisance overgrowth 

of weeds and rank vegetation on lots shall be developed and approved by the county 

administrator. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Secs. 62-15—62-19. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE III. - COLLECTION, TRANSPORTATION, AND DISPOSAL OF 

REFUSE 

Sec. 62-20. - Applicability. 

This article shall apply to the preparation, storage, collection, transportation and disposal of all 

refuse in the area under jurisdiction of the county council as presently or hereafter established. It 

shall prescribe rules and regulations relating to collection and disposal of refuse; prescribing rules 

and regulations for hauling refuse and other solid waste within and through the county; providing 

for the proper disposal of refuse; and prohibiting the spilling of loads within the county. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-21. - Establishment of solid waste districts. 

(1) Beaufort County shall be divided into nine solid waste districts. They shall be designated 

numerically as follows: 

101

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

(a) District 1, City of Beaufort. All of the area within the boundaries of that incorporated city. 

Includes Tax District 120. 

(b) District 2, Town of Port Royal. All of the area within the boundaries of that incorporated 

town. Includes Tax District 110. 

(c) District 3, Town of Hilton Head Island. All of the area within the boundaries of that 

incorporated town and Jenkins Island and Pinckney Island. Includes Tax Districts 500, 501, 

510, 520, 530, 540, 541 and 550. 

(d) District 4, Town of Bluffton. All of the area within the boundaries of that incorporated town. 

Includes Tax District 610. 

(e) District 5, Sheldon Township. All of the area within Beaufort County which is on the north 

side of the Whale Branch River. This includes the Beaufort County portion of the Town of 

Yemassee. Includes Tax Districts 700 and 710. 

(f) District 6, Unincorporated Port Royal Island (Burton). All of the area between the Whale 

Branch River, the Beaufort River, and the Broad River exclusive of previously listed 

incorporated areas. Includes Tax District 100. 

(g) District 7, Lady's Island. All of the area between the Beaufort River and Chowan Creek 

including Coosaw Island exclusive of the City of Beaufort. Includes Tax District 200. 

(h) District 8, Saint Helena Island and Islands East. All of the area and islands east of Chowan 

Creek within Beaufort County. Includes Tax Districts 300 and 400. 

(i) District 9, Bluffton Township. All of the area south of the Broad River and west of Pinckney 

Island exclusive of the Town of Bluffton and Daufuskie Island. Includes Tax District 600. 

(j) Because of the remote nature of Daufuskie Island, the minimum level of solid waste services 

differs from that in other solid waste districts in the county. Recyclable materials are not 

collected by the county on Daufuskie Island. 

Note— Solid waste collection, transportation and disposal from Daufuskie Island generated outside 

of the planned unit developments (PUDs) shall be paid for from the county general fund. 

(2) Solid waste districts are established in order to track expenditures for all publicly provided 

solid waste and recycling services within that district. Solid waste and recycling services include 

the collection, transportation, processing or disposal of solid waste or recyclable material. 

Collection methods may vary between districts depending upon demographics, population or 

other factors. 

(3) Solid waste districts 1, 2, 3 and 4 shall be administered through intergovernmental 

agreements between the Beaufort County Council and the City Council of Beaufort, the Town 

102

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH66TA_ARTIVTADI_DIV7RE
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH66TA_ARTIVTADI_DIV9RE


   

 

Council of Port Royal, the Town Council of Hilton Head Island and the Town Council of Bluffton 

respectively. Solid waste districts 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 shall be collectively administered by the 

director. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-22. - Residential solid waste collection; refuse and recyclables. 

(1) Refuse and recyclables shall be collected from single-family county residences by roll-cart 

service and/or bin service only by: 

(a) Collectors who are licensed by the county. Any contractor providing services for curbside 

collection of solid waste must provide curbside recycling services to their customers. 

(b) Licensed collectors who are franchised by the county for collection in specific areas of the 

county. 

(c) Licensed collectors under contract with a municipality to provide curbside service. 

(d) Municipal collectors in an incorporated solid waste district. 

(e) County collectors in an unincorporated solid waste district. 

(2) Collectors providing solid waste curbside collection shall provide recycling services. Failure to 

provide recycling service shall be cause for suspension of the collector's license. 

(3) Collectors shall deliver collected recyclables to a material recovery facility for processing. 

Disposal of collected material in any other manner is deemed as illegal dumping and shall be 

prosecuted subject to the penalties in section 62-5. 

(4) Collection and disposal of solid waste and/or discarded materials resulting from evictions shall 

be the responsibility of the property owner or his/her designated agent. Solid waste and/or 

discarded materials resulting from evictions shall not be placed within 25 feet of any 

curbside. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-23. - Preparation and storage of residential solid waste for 

collection. 

(1)  It shall be the duty of the occupant or owner of any residence to store all refuse properly, 

pending collection and disposal. 

(2)  All refuse receptacles shall be kept clean and free of accumulated waste. 

103

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH66TA_ARTIVTADI_DIV7RE
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH66TA_ARTIVTADI_DIV9RE
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH62SOWA_ARTIINGE_S62-5PE
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

(3)  Each property owner shall prevent the continued, excessive, and unsightly accumulations of 

solid waste upon the property he and/or she owns. 

(4)  No person shall place or cause to be placed in any refuse can or bulk container for collection 

any acid, explosive material, flammable liquid, or dangerous or corrosive material of any kind, 

or any other hazardous waste beyond household quantities of household hazardous wastes. 

(5)  No person other than the owner thereof, his or her agents or employees, or employees of 

contractors of the county for the collection of refuse shall tamper or meddle with any refuse 

container or the contents thereof, or remove the contents of the container from the location 

where the same shall have been placed by the owner thereof or his agents. 

(6)  Property owners shall be prohibited from receiving for deposit in their refuse containers any 

type refuse that originates outside of their designated collection area. 

(7)  Property owners shall be responsible for policing any litter resulting from refuse not properly 

prepared for collection or from any other cause other than contractor mishandling. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-24. - Transporting loads of solid waste or materials. 

(1) No person shall operate on any public highway/road in the county any vehicle with any load of 

solid waste or a material unless such load and any covering thereon is securely fastened so as 

to prevent such covering or load from becoming loose, detached or in any manner a hazard 

to other users of the highway. 

(2) No vehicle may be driven or moved on any public highway/road in the county unless the 

vehicle is so constructed or loaded with solid waste or material as to prevent any of its load 

from dropping, sifting, leaking, or otherwise escaping from the vehicle, except that sand, salt, 

or other chemicals may be dropped for the purpose of securing traction, and water or other 

substance may be sprinkled on a highway in the cleaning or maintaining of the highway by 

the public authority having jurisdiction. 

(3) Trucks, trailers, or other vehicles when loaded with rock, gravel, stone, metals, or other similar 

substances which could blow, leak, sift, or drop shall not be driven or moved on any public 

highway/road in the county unless the height of the load against all four walls does not 

extend above a horizontal line six inches below their tops when loaded at the loading point; 

or, if the load is not level, unless the height of the sides of the load against all four walls does 

not extend above a horizontal line six inches below their tops, and the highest point of the 

load does not extend above their tops, when loaded at the loading point; or, if not so loaded, 

unless the load is securely covered by tarpaulin or some other suitable covering; or unless it 

is otherwise constructed so as to prevent any of its load from dropping, sifting, leaking, 

blowing, or otherwise escaping from the vehicle. 

104

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

(4) Proof of litter, as defined herein, escaping from a vehicle shall not be necessary to be in 

violation of the requirements of this section. 

(5) Violations of this section shall be prosecuted subject to penalties prescribed by South Carolina 

law. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-25. - Items not covered in refuse collection service. 

(1) Dead animals. Disposal of dead animals or household pets shall be the responsibility of the 

animal owner. 

(2) Construction and demolition (C&D) debris. The county shall not be responsible for collecting or 

disposal discarded construction and demolition debris, including: dirt, rock, carpet, shingles, 

lumber, drywall, insulation, and etc. when quantities exceed household quantities. 

(3) Industrial and hazardous waste. The county shall not be responsible for collecting or hauling 

discarded industrial and/or hazardous waste, including, but not limited to: electronics, car 

parts, tires, automobile batteries, and liquid wastes except when such wastes are household 

quantities of household hazardous waste. 

(4) Waste generated by commercial tree or yard contractor activities. Waste from commercial tree 

cutters and surgeons shall be properly disposed of by the person performing the work or by 

the owner who engaged that person at their expense. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-26. - Collected refuse is county property. 

All refuse collected by county forces or collectors under contract with the county shall be disposed 

of and/or delivered to such places and used for such purposes as may be ordered by the director. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-27. - Revenue for solid waste and recycling services. 

(a) All required Beaufort County solid waste and recycling revenue shall be generated through a 

combination of property tax millage, other fees as may be approved by the county council, 

reimbursement by federal government organizations and the sale of recyclable material. 

(b) Municipal governments which choose to provide collection or recycling services may fund 

their programs through appropriate municipal fees or taxes or a combination thereof. 

105

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

(c) A fee schedule, and any amendments thereto, for disposal of waste or handling of waste at 

any county-operated solid waste management facility, to include but not be limited to county 

convenience centers or transfer stations shall be developed and approved by the county 

administrator. 

(d) Residents may with no additional direct charge, deliver to convenience centers household 

quantities of construction, demolition and land-clearing debris and other solid wastes as 

allowed in the receiving facility's operating permit, which are generated from his/her primary 

residence. 

(e) Rental and investment properties are considered commercial. Therefore, owners of such 

property will pay the disposal fee for solid waste originating from such properties. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-28. - County facility acceptance of solid waste generated outside 

county. 

(1) All solid wastes generated from outside the boundaries of the county are banned from being 

disposed of in any county-operated facility. 

(2) The term "generated," as used in this section, shall relate to the point of origin of the solid 

waste. 

(3) The director is hereby authorized to implement such programs and procedures as deemed 

necessary to further implement this ban; to inspect all loads designated for any county facility 

for any violations thereof; and to issue warrants according to law for any violations of this 

section. 

(4) Any person bringing waste to any county facility shall, on request, sign a statement 

authenticating that said solid waste was generated within the county. 

(5) Any residential solid waste collector found in violation of this section by the county shall 

forfeit their permit to collect/haul solid waste within Beaufort County. 

(6) Any dispute as to the point of origin of the solid waste shall be resolved by the director. 

(7) Any and each false statement signed by a person disposing of solid waste referred to in 

subsection (4) of this section shall constitute a violation of this chapter. 

(8) The director may seek an injunction to enforce the provisions of this section. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

106

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

Sec. 62-29. - Use of county-operated solid waste facilities. 

(1) It shall be a violation of this chapter for any person to: 

(a) Fail to comply with directions for proper disposal that are given by county personnel 

charged with the operation of county solid waste management facilities. 

(b) Exhibit disruptive or abusive conduct towards county personnel or other patrons at 

county-operated solid waste management facilities. 

(c) Dispose of unauthorized solid waste at county-operated solid waste management facilities. 

Out-of-county generated solid waste shall be included as an unauthorized solid waste. 

(2) In addition to the penalty provisions of this chapter, the director may ban any person who 

violates any requirement of this section from the use of county-operated solid waste 

management facilities for indefinite periods of time. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-30. - Convenience centers. 

(a) The Beaufort County Public Works Director is empowered and directed to establish 

procedures and guidelines for the efficient and safe operation of county convenience centers. 

(b) No waste from commercial sources shall be accepted at the convenience sites. Any waste 

from commercial sources dumped at convenience centers shall be treated as illegal dumping 

and subject to enforcement actions as specified by South Carolina Law. 

(c) Allowable truck/trailer loads for disposal at convenience sites are defined as follows: 

(1) No trucks larger than a pickup or utility trailer (eight feet long, five feet wide, 28 inches or 

less in side height) are allowed at the convenience sites. 

(2) No loaded pickups with loaded trailers are allowed at the convenience sites. 

(3) A truck load is a load at or below the 28 inches side height of the pickup/trailer; no over-

the-bed loads are allowed at the convenience sites. 

(4) No commercial trucks may use the convenience sites for trash disposal except as 

described in subsection (g) of this section. 

(d) A ten-gallon per visit limit for oil disposal is established for the convenience sites. 

107

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

(e) A four-tire per visit disposal limit for residents is established for the convenience sites and 

the landfill. 

(f) No tires on rims shall be accepted at convenience sites. 

(g) Residents driving commercial vehicles may bring one fifty-gallon trash bag or two thirty-

gallon tall kitchen bags or less at a time into a convenience site. Larger loads must be 

taken to the landfill and shall be treated as commercial waste. 

(h) Hours and days of operation at convenience sites shall be posted at the sites and all 

changes to such hours or days (except in emergency situations) shall be 

posted/advertised prior to the effective date of the change. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-31. - Collector/hauler licenses. 

(a) Collectors/haulers of solid waste shall dispose of all such waste at a DHEC approved landfill, 

with the exception of items specifically prohibited from such facilities. 

(b) All solid waste and recyclable material commercial hauling businesses operating within 

Beaufort County shall be required to possess solid waste disposal vehicle permits for each of 

the vehicles in their fleet traveling within the county. This permit and accompanying vehicle 

decal shall be issued by the public works director. Permits shall remain in effect from 

issuance to a period ending on June 30 annually for up to 12 months. Operating in Beaufort 

County without a solid waste permit is a misdemeanor and violators shall be fined not less 

than $500.00 and not more than $1,000.00. 

(c) All permitted solid waste collectors/haulers are required to report on a monthly basis by solid 

waste district, the number of residential customers served/contracted and provide by solid 

waste type, the weight, in tons, of MSW collected from their residential subscribers to the 

county public works director. Reports of previous month activity are due by the close of 

business on the tenth business day of each month. Under no circumstance shall solid waste 

collectors/haulers mix loads of residential and commercial waste. Any residential solid waste 

collector found in violation of this section by the county shall forfeit their permit to 

collect/haul solid waste within Beaufort County. 

(d) Permitted solid waste haulers shall advertise and offer, at a minimum, a residential curbside 

recycling program to all of their residential customers, where not otherwise offered by the 

county or a municipal government. 

(e) Upon approval of a solid waste disposal vehicle permit application, collectors/haulers shall be 

furnished a copy of the following information pertaining to solid waste in Beaufort County 

and the State of South Carolina: 

108

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

(1) This ordinance [Ord. No. 2007/37]; 

(2) Section 16-11-700 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, regarding 

dumping trash or refuse on property of another or on highways, oceans or riverfronts, etc. 

(f) Collectors shall sign a written statement that they have received and read this ordinance [Ord. 

No. 2007/37], rules and regulations and information in paragraph (c) and agree to abide by 

them. 

(g) The following fees shall accompany all solid waste disposal vehicle permit applications: 

(1) Annual license fee for collectors of residential, business, commercial or industrial MSW 

and recyclable material: 

Initial vehicle charge: $100.00 

Additional vehicle charge: $50.00 

(h) All collectors/haulers shall be required, also, as a condition of their permit, to provide 

recycling services for their business, commercial and industrial customers. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-32. - Collectors'/haulers' vehicles. 

(a) All vehicles used to collect and haul solid waste or recyclable materials in the county must 

meet the standard for solid waste hauling established by SCDOT. 

(b) All vehicles used to transport solid waste or recyclable materials for a fee shall be owned and 

operated under the supervision of the collector/hauler holding a valid solid waste disposal 

vehicle permit issued by the county. Every permitted vehicle shall display a current permit 

decal in the vehicle windshield. 

(c) Solid waste and recycling collection vehicles shall be kept in a clean and sanitary condition. No 

wastes shall be permitted to remain overnight anywhere in the vehicle body. The county 

public works director or his representative may inspect any collector/hauler vehicle at any 

time. If the vehicle is found to be unsanitary, the operator shall be required to steam-clean 

and deodorize the equipment at their expense. 

(d) All vehicles used for the collection and transportation of solid waste or recyclable materials 

are to be so constructed, maintained, and operated to prevent liquid leakage and loss of 

materials in transit. The body of all vehicles that transport loose materials shall be wholly 

enclosed or shall be covered with a canvas cover or net with eyelets and rope tie-downs or 

any other approved method which will prevent blowing or spillage of the vehicle's contents. 

109

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

(e) All collectors/haulers shall furnish the county public works director a list identifying, by unique 

number or designator, all equipment to be used in the collection and transportation of solid 

waste or recyclable materials. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Secs. 62-33—62-41. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE IV. - CONSTRUCTION, MODIFICATION, EXPANSION, AND/OR 

OPERATION OF SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES AND 

COMPOSTING FACILITIES 

Sec. 62-42. - Applicability. 

(1) This article applies to solid waste management facilities and composting facilities. 

(2) The following uses are exempt from the requirements of this article: 

(a) Landfills used solely for disposal of industrial solid waste generated in the course of 

normal operations on property under the same ownership or control as the landfill. 

(b) Land-clearing debris generated and disposed of on the same property. 

(c) Backyard composting where the compost is produced from materials generated on-site. 

(d) Agricultural operations where the compost is produced from materials generated on the 

owner's land. 

(e) Mobile chipping/shredding equipment which chips/shreds wood waste, e.g., the type used 

by utilities to clear rights-of-way or manage storm debris, and which may spread the wood 

waste on rights-of-way after it has been chipped or shredded. Chipped and unchipped 

material related to this exemption shall not be stockpiled more than 90 days. 

(f) Temporary chipping/shredding and storage of wood waste for distribution to the public, 

e.g., grinding of the greens and other similar programs, as approved by the county 

council. 

(g) Shredding or chipping of untreated wooden pallets or other wooden packaging utilized by 

industry in its own operations that have not been in direct contact with hazardous 

constituents, e.g., petroleum products, pesticides, lead-based paint, etc. 

(h) Composting at industrial sites where the compost is produced from materials generated 

on properties under the same ownership or control within one-fourth mile of each other, 

110

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

unless otherwise approved by the county council and where the compost product is used 

for noncommercial purposes. 

(i) Land application sites permitted by DHEC under Regulation R.61-107.15 (Solid Waste 

Management: Land Application of Solid Waste). 

(j) Construction sites where an engineered foundation requires the use of clean sand, clean 

soil, and/or clean rocks. Such sites shall possess a valid county building permit. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-43. - Federal, state and local law. 

 All solid waste management facilities and composting facilities shall adhere to all federal and 

state rules and regulations, and all local zoning, land use and other applicable local ordinances. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Secs. 62-44—62-46. - Reserved. 

Sec. 62-47. - Remedies. 

In case any solid waste management facility or composting facility is operated, constructed, 

modified, or expanded in violation of this article, the county council, county attorney, or any person 

aggrieved, may, in addition to other remedies provided by law, institute injunction, abatement, or 

any other appropriate action or proceeding to prevent, enjoin, abate, or remove such unlawful 

construction, modification, or expansion. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

ARTICLE V. - FRANCHISED COLLECTORS 

Sec. 62-48. - General conditions for granting contracts for residential solid 

waste collection; franchise areas. 

The unincorporated areas of the county are divided into solid waste districts which shall be 

designated as service areas. Franchises may be awarded for the unincorporated areas of the county 

incrementally, when approved by county council. These areas shall be plainly outlined on a map of 

the county as approved by county council. Such maps shall be made a part of the contract with the 

collectors and shall be available for public inspection. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

111

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

Sec. 62-49. - Franchise agreement. 

Upon award by the county council, a franchise shall not become effective until the collector has 

executed a written franchise contract consistent with the terms of the bid specifications. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Secs. 62-50, 62-51. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VI. - SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING BOARD[2] 

Footnotes: 

--- (2) --- 

Cross reference— Boards and commissions, § 2-191 et seq. 

Sec. 62-52. - Purpose. 

In compliance with and under authority of section 62-21 et seq., the county council establishes 

the solid waste and recycling board (referred to in this article as the board) to advise the council and 

county staff in determining appropriate levels of public solid waste management services for 

residential, commercial and industrial taxpayers and governmental entities within the county; to 

recommend appropriate funding levels for provision of services in the aforementioned sectors; and 

to support and promote source reduction, recycling and composting and means of diverting and 

managing the solid waste stream within the county. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-53. - Membership. 

(a) The solid waste and recycling board shall consist of one nonvoting representative from the 

following districts as defined in section 62-29: 

EXPAND 

Solid Waste District Municipality 

1 City of Beaufort 

2 Town of Port Royal 

3 Town of Hilton Head Island 

4 Town of Bluffton 

 

112

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH62SOWA_ARTIIICOTRDIRE_S62-21ESSOWADI
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH62SOWA_ARTIIICOTRDIRE_S62-29USCOERSOWAFA


   

 

(b) The board shall consist of one voting representative from each of the following districts as 

defined in section 62-29: 

EXPAND 

Solid Waste District Area 

5 Sheldon Township 

6 Unincorporated Port Royal Island 

 7 Lady's Island 

8 Saint Helena Island and Islands East 

 9 Bluffton Township 

 

(c)  Terms of office shall be staggered. Of the first five members appointed, three shall be 

appointed for four-year terms, and two shall be appointed for two-year terms. A chairman 

and vice-chairman shall be elected by the voting members of the board. The chairman and 

vice-chairman must be voting members of the board. 

(d) The board may consult, from time to time, with representatives of public and private solid 

waste management organizations. 

(e) While no other eligibility criteria is established, it is requested that members possess 

experience in one or more of the following areas: 

(1) Solid waste management. 

(2) Solid waste facilities planning. 

(3) Environmental education. 

(4) Budget and finance issues. 

(f) The board may invite military installations in Beaufort County to appoint a liaison person to 

serve as a nonvoting member of the board. The board may appoint representatives from 

other government organizations to serve as nonvoting members of the board. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-54. - Powers and duties. 

The powers and duties of the solid waste and recycling board shall be as follows: 

(1) Review and recommend to the county council for approval, a comprehensive county 

solid waste management plan which is in accordance with the state Solid Waste 

Management and Policy Act of 1991; 

113

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH62SOWA_ARTIIICOTRDIRE_S62-29USCOERSOWAFA
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH66TA_ARTIVTADI_DIV7RE
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH66TA_ARTIVTADI_DIV9RE
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

(2) Develop and submit to the county council for approval service level plans for each of 

the five unincorporated area solid waste districts; 

(3) Review and approve the annual solid waste and recycling budgets prepared for each of 

the nine solid waste districts before submission to the county administrator; and 

present to the county council comments on the budget recommended by the county 

administrator; 

(4) Seek development of public/private partnership and facilitate intergovernmental 

contracting for provision of services where appropriate; 

(5) Cooperate with the state department of health and environmental control, office of 

waste reduction and recycling, as well as other public and private agencies having 

programs directed toward solid waste management programs; and 

(6) Review and make recommendations concerning development of any new public or 

private solid waste management facilities, programs or changes in existing solid waste 

management facilities or programs to ensure such programs or changes are consistent 

with the comprehensive solid waste management plan of the county. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-55. - Severability. 

If any section, subsection, or clause of this chapter shall be deemed unconstitutional or 

otherwise invalid, the validity of the remaining sections, subsections, and clauses shall not be 

affected thereby. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

Sec. 62-56. - Conflicting ordinances. 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this chapter are hereby 

repealed. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

This ordinance [Ord. No. 2007/37] shall be effective from and after July 1, 2008. 

( Ord. No. 2007/37, 10-22-2007 ) 

 

ARTICLE VII. - LITTER CONTROL AND BEAUTIFICATION BOARD 

114

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=288279


   

 

Sec. 62-58. - Title. 

 The name of the organization shall be known as the Keep Beaufort County Beautiful Board 

(KBCBB). 

( Ord. No. 2018/4, 1-22-2018 ) 

Sec. 62-59. - Composition. 

The board shall be comprised of the following membership: 

(a)  One member from county council district 1. 

(b)  One member from county council district 2. 

(c)  One member from county council district 3. 

(d)  One member from county council district 4. 

(e)  One member from county council district 5. 

(f)  One member from county council district 6. 

(g)  One member from county council district 7. 

(h)  One member from county council district 8. 

(i)  One member from county council district 9. 

(j)  One member from county council district 10. 

(l) One member from county council district 11. 

( Ord. No. 2018/4, 1-22-2018 ) 

Sec. 62-60. - Filling of vacancies; removal of board members; terms. 

(1) A vacancy on the board is filled in the same manner as provided for under sections 2-

191 through 2-198 of the Beaufort County Code of Ordinances, upon nomination of the 

respective member of county council. 

(2) Board members are subject to removal procedures provided in section 2-193 of the Beaufort 

County Code of Ordinances. 

115

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=875225
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH66TA_ARTIVTADI_DIV7RE
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH66TA_ARTIVTADI_DIV9RE
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=875225
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH2AD_ARTVBOCO_DIV1GE_S2-191PU
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH2AD_ARTVBOCO_DIV1GE_S2-191PU
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH2AD_ARTVBOCO_DIV1GE_S2-198CH
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH2AD_ARTVBOCO_DIV1GE_S2-193ME


   

 

(3) Board members shall serve at the pleasure of county council. Board members shall be 

appointed to one term. A term of appointment shall be for four years. No board member 

shall serve for more than four consecutive terms except that county council may approve a 

fifth term by unanimous vote. 

a. Upon passage of this article, all 11 board members shall be appointed by county council. 

b. For districts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 the board members shall be re-appointed after the initial 

two years for a full four-year term, thereby staggering appointments of board members. 

The initial two-year term shall not count toward the four-term limit. 

c. For districts 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11, the board members' term shall expire after the full four-year 

term and vacancies be filled by re-appointment, or filled by new appointment. 

( Ord. No. 2018/4, 1-22-2018 ) 

Sec. 62-61. - Officers, officers' duties, and elections of officers. 

The members shall elect three officers from its membership, a chairperson, a co-chairperson 

and a secretary. A majority of board members present and voting, when a quorum is established, 

shall elect the officers. 

(1) Chairperson. The chairperson shall be responsible for leading the board in program 

development and policy consistent with the Keep American Beautiful objectives. The 

chairperson shall be spokesperson for the board at functions, prepare and work with the 

county staff in preparation of reports including but not limited to the annual Keep America 

Beautiful report and perform such other duties as the board shall elect. 

(2) Co-chairperson. The co-chairperson shall serve as the chairperson in his or her absence, and 

shall discharge such other duties as the board shall direct. 

(3) Secretary. The secretary shall keep minutes of all board meetings and shall forward the 

approved minutes to the appropriate county staff person for record keeping and storage. The 

secretary shall also perform such other duties as the board shall direct. 

( Ord. No. 2018/4, 1-22-2018 ) 

Sec. 62-62. - Meetings. 

The board shall meet at the call of the chairperson, at least quarterly, and shall be conducted 

in compliance with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act. Minutes shall be kept of any 

meetings and the minutes shall be stored in the Department of Solid Waste and Recycle or the 

Records Management Department of the county. A majority of the number of members on the board 

116

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH66TA_ARTIVTADI_DIV7RE
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIGEOR_CH66TA_ARTIVTADI_DIV9RE
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=875225
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=875225


   

 

shall constitute a quorum for transaction of business at any meeting. A majority of those present and 

voting shall be required to decide any issue after a quorum has been established. 

( Ord. No. 2018/4, 1-22-2018 ) 

Sec. 62-63. - Purpose. 

The purpose of the board will be to educate and empower the Beaufort County Community 

(including governments, businesses, schools, and citizens) to participate directly in improving the 

environment through an all-out effort in beautification, litter control, and waste reduction. 

( Ord. No. 2018/4, 1-22-2018 ) 

Sec. 62-64. - Objectives. 

The objectives of the board include, but are not limited to: 

(a)  Conduct and promote continuing education programs; and 

(b)  Develop new programs which will result in the sustained reduction of litter, graffiti 

and increase recycling in Beaufort County; and 

(c)  Encourage stricter code enforcement regarding litter and dumping; and 

(d)  Review and recommend appropriate legislative changes regarding environmental 

ordinances in Beaufort County; and 

(e)  Encourage placing, planting and preservation of trees, flowers, shrubs and objects of 

ornamentation in Beaufort County; and 

(f)  Maintain affiliate certification with Keep America Beautiful; and 

(g)  File the required annual report to Keep America Beautiful; and 

(h)  Pursue and secure funding from available sources. 

( Ord. No. 2018/4, 1-22-2018 ) 

Sec. 62-65. - Keep America Beautiful affiliation. 

The board shall maintain the Keep America Beautiful affiliation status and utilize the KAB 

resources whenever possible. The board's activities are limited to the boundaries of Beaufort 

County but should not be construed to exclude activities within the municipal boundaries located 

in Beaufort County. 

117

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=875225
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=875225
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=875225


   

 

( Ord. No. 2018/4, 1-22-2018 ) 

Sec. 62-66. - Annual budget. 

The board shall submit a recommended annual budget to Beaufort County Council for review 

and adoption indicating all anticipated sources of revenue, all anticipated expenditures, and any 

remaining funds that have been carried over from previous years. Additionally, the board shall 

advise and make recommendations to county council on the expenditure of any and all county 

funds that may be appropriate to it as well as the design and implementation of any 

improvement projects that will occur on land owned, maintained, or subject to the control of 

Beaufort County Council. 

( Ord. No. 2018/4, 1-22-2018 ) 

Sec. 62-67. - Appointment of other committees. 

The board may appoint such other standing, special, or advisory committees from time to 

time as it deems appropriate. Members of such committees may include board members, as well 

as individuals representing specialized interests in areas that would be beneficial to the board 

carrying out its purpose. 

( Ord. No. 2018/4, 1-22-2018 ) 

Sec. 62-68. - Conflict of interest. 

The board shall adhere to all conflict of interest prohibitions and disclosure requirements 

provided in S.C. § 8-13-700 et seq., as well as any applicable provisions of the Beaufort County 

Code of Ordinances. 

( Ord. No. 2018/4, 1-22-2018 ) 

 

118

Item 9.

https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=875225
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=875225
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=875225
https://library.municode.com/sc/beaufort_county/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=875225


BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE ANY AND ALL NECESSARY 
DOCUMENTS FOR THE AQUISITION OF ADDISTIONAL RIGHT OF WAY NEEDED FOR THE SIGNALIZATION OF 
BLUFFTON PARKWAY AT RIVER RIDGE DRIVE AND FLAT CREEK DRIVE 
 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities Meeting 5-16-2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jared Fralix, P.E., Assistant County Administrator, Engineering 

(5 Minutes) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

As a result of the back entrance of Hampton Lake Subdivision being open, children attending River Ridge 
Academy have been crossing at the unsignalized intersection of Bluffton Parkway at River Ridge Drive and Flat 
Creek Drive. This prompted a request from Beaufort County School District to investigate the possibility of 
installing a traffic signal.   

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Beaufort County Engineering Staff contracted BIHL Engineering to provide a Signal Warrant Analysis of the 
Bluffton Parkway intersection located approximately 3,925 feet east of SC 170 and approximately 2,475 feet 
west of Hampton Parkway. Based on the review of MUTCD traffic signal warrants and existing traffic volumes, 
the intersection is a good candidate for signalization which is consistent with the Beaufort County Community 
Development Code 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Bluffton Road Impact Fee account 23020011-51160 Professional Services with a current balance of 
$3,982,622.43 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approving additional right of way necessary for signalization of intersection of Bluffton 
Parkway at River Ridge Drive and Flat Creek Drive. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to either accept/deny the acquisition of right of way associated with signalization of the intersection 
of Bluffton Parkway at River Ridge Drive and Flat Creek Drive. 

Next Step – Public hearing for Resolution at County Council Meeting 

 

119

Item 10.



 
1 

RESOLUTION NO.  2022/________ 

 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE ANY AND 

ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS FOR THE AQUISITION OF ADDISTIONAL RIGHT OF WAY 

NEEDED FOR THE SIGNALIZATION OF BLUFFTON PARKWAY AT RIVER RIDGE DRIVE 

AND FLAT CREEK DRIVE 

 

 WHEREAS, Bluffton Parkway is a Beaufort County owned and maintained road that was 

constructed in 5 phases. The section associated with phase 4 was conveyed to the County from the 

Town of Bluffton by a Quit Claim Indentured Deed recorded in Deed Book 3394 at pages 1449-

1454 on 04/24/2015; and 

WHEREAS, there is an unsignalized intersection on Bluffton Parkway located at River Ridge 

Drive and Flat Creek Drive that students of River Ridge Academy have been crossing; and 

WHEREAS, Beaufort County School District has requested that Beaufort County investigate the 

possibility of installing a traffic signal at the unsignalized intersection out of concern for student safety; 

and 

WHEREAS, Beaufort County Engineering Staff contracted BIHL Engineering to provide 

a Signal Warrant Analysis of the Bluffton Parkway intersection located approximately 3,925 feet 

east of SC 170 and approximately 2,475 feet west of Hampton Parkway identified as intersection 

at River Ridge Drive and Flat Creek Drive; and 

WHEREAS, based on the review of MUTCD traffic signal warrants and existing traffic 

volumes, the intersection is a good candidate for signalization which is consistent with the Beaufort 

County Community Development Code; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the community, school district and County to 

acquire the needed right of way for signalization of Bluffton Parkway at River Ridge Drive and 

Flat Creek Drive identified more specifically on attached Exhibit A; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Beaufort County Council hereby authorizes 

the County Administrator to execute any and all necessary documents for the acquisition of additional right 

of way needed for the signalization of Bluffton Parkway at River Ridge drive and Flat Creek Drive.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

120

Item 10.



 
2 

 

 

 

ADOPTED this ____ day of __________, 2022. 

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

  

  

 By: ______________________________________ 

   Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

    

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________ 

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council 

 
 

121

Item 10.



EXHIBIT A 
   Associated Parcels
R600 029 000 0024 0000 
R600 029 000 011A 0000
R600 029 000 0011 0000
R600 029 000 1736 0000 
R600 029 000 0012 0000 
R600 029 000 0136 0000 
R600 029 000 1711 0000 
R600 029 000 1737 0000
R614 029 000 2299 0000 
R614 029 000 2467 0000
R614 029 000 2475 0000

1736

122

Item 10.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommendation to Award Boundary Street and Ribaut Road Signal Timing and Crash Analysis 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities Committee – May 16, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jared Fralix, Assistant County Administrator – Engineering 

(3 mins) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

In February 2022, Beaufort County contracted with Kimley Horne for RFQ#083021E Traffic Engineering 
On-Call Consultant Services. As projects are identified, the on-call consultant will provide a scope and 
fee to be considered for Committee and Council approval as outlined in the Beaufort County 
Procurement Code.  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Traffic signal timing and crash analyses at 20 signalized intersections along US 21 Business (Boundary 
Street) from SC 170 (Robert Smalls Parkway) to S-133 (Charles Street) and US21/SC 281 (Ribaut Road) 
from US 21 (Boundary Street) to Paris Avenue to implement improvements to traffic flow along the 
corridors.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

The contract fee is based on time and materials for the scope of work totaling $175,300. Staff 
recommends a 10% contingency of $17,530 for a total project cost not to exceed $192,830.  

The funding for this project is North of the Broad Road Impact Fees Professional Services account 
(23030011-51160) with a balance of $678,137.10.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval to award the Boundary Street and Ribaut Road Signal Timing and Crash 
Analysis to Kimley Horne. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny recommendation to award the Boundary Street and Ribaut Road Signal Timing 
and Crash Analysis to Kimley Horne. 

Next Step: Contract value under $200,000, therefore; does not need to be forwarded to Council. Staff 
to execute contract upon motion approval.  

 

123

Item 11.



Page 1

kimley-horn.com 115 Fairchild Street, Suite 250, Charleston, SC 29492 843-737-6390

March 29, 2022

Brittanee Fields
Capital Projects Coordinator
Beaufort County Engineering
Transportation Engineering Division
PO Drawer 1228
Beaufort, SC 29901

RE: Professional Services Agreement for US 21 Business (Boundary Street) and US 21/SC 281
(Ribaut Road) Traffic Signal Timing and Crash Analyses – Beaufort County, South Carolina

Dear Ms. Fields:

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. (“Kimley-Horn” or “the Consultant”) is pleased to submit this letter
agreement (the “Agreement”) to Beaufort County (“the Client”) for providing transportation
engineering services related to the traffic signal timing and crash analyses of the US 21 Business
(Boundary Street) and US 21/SC 281 (Ribaut Road) corridors in Beaufort County, South Carolina.
Our project understanding, scope of services, schedule, and fee are described below.

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING
It is our understanding that the Client would like to perform a traffic signal timing and crash analyses
at the twenty (20) signalized intersections along the following corridors:

· US 21 Business (Boundary Street) from the intersection at SC 170 (Robert Smalls Parkway)
to the intersection at S-133 (Charles Street)

· US 21/SC 281 (Ribaut Road) from the intersection at US 21 Business (Boundary Street) to
the intersection at Paris Avenue

· The study area intersections are shown in Exhibit 1 on the following page.

Kimley-Horn will develop up to three (3) timing plans that will include weekday peak period plans (AM,
midday, and PM) along the corridors. Additional time periods and system intersections will be
considered an additional service.

All traffic signals are existing and are understood to have operation communications to the controller.
Development of a traffic signal communication plan would be considered an additional service.

Kimley-Horn will perform a crash analysis along US 21 Business (Boundary Street) and US 21/SC 281
(Ribaut Road) within the identified study area. Crash data will be provided by the South Carolina
Department of Public Safety (SCDPS). If crash data is not available from SCDPS prior to the US 21
Business (Boundary Street) median improvements, Beaufort County will provide the necessary data.
We will summarize the provided crash data to provide a before median improvements and after median
improvements crash analysis along US 21 Business (Boundary Street) in addition to a summary of the
crash data along US 21/SC 281 (Ribaut Road).

124

Item 11.



US 21 Business (Boundary Street) and US 

21/SC 281 (Ribaut Road) Traffic Signal 

Timing and Crash Analyses

U
S

 2
1
/S

C
 2

8
1
 (R

ib
a
u

t
R

o
a
d

)

US 21 Business (Boundary Street)

Exhibit 1
Study Area 

Intersections

Study Intersections

1.) US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at SC 170 (Robert Smalls Parkway)

2.) US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at Westview Avenue 

3.) US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at S-281 (Hogarth Street)

4.) US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at Carolina Cove

5.) US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at Beaufort Town Center

6.) US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at Marsh Road 

7.) US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at SC 281 (Ribaut Road)

8.) US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at S-483 (Bladen Street)

9.) US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at S-133 (Charles Street)

10.) SC 281 (Ribaut Street) at S-54 (Duke Street) 

11.) SC 281 (Ribaut Street) at S-69 (North Street)

12.) SC 281 (Ribaut Street) at S-6 (Bay Street/Depot Road)

13.) SC 281 (Ribaut Road) at S-69 (Hermitage Road)

14.) SC 281 (Ribaut Road) at Reynolds Street

15.) SC 281 (Ribaut Road) at Beaufort Memorial Hospital

16.) SC 281 (Ribaut Road) at S-159 (Allison Road)

17.) SC 281 (Ribaut Road) at S-324 (First Boulevard/Spanish Point Drive)

18.) SC 281 (Ribaut Road) at S-151 (Mossy Oaks Road)

19.) US 21/SC 281 (Ribaut Road) at US 21/S-233 (Lady’s Island Drive)

20.) US 21 (Ribaut Road) at Paris Avenue

71

20

19

18

17

16

15

14

13

12

11

10

6
5432

8 9

125

Item 11.



Page 3

kimley-horn.com 115 Fairchild Street, Suite 250, Charleston, SC 29492 843-737-6390

SCOPE OF SERVICES
Task 1 – Traffic Signal Timing Analysis
Task 1.1 – Data Collection and Field Observations

Kick-Off Meeting

Kimley-Horn will meet with Beaufort County and SCDOT to discuss the scope of the project,
operational objectives of the corridor, and any additional pertinent information or recommendations.
This meeting may be held virtually if agreed to by all parties.

Data Collection

Kimley-Horn will collect traffic data counts through a subconsultant and will consist of the following:

· Seven-day bidirectional traffic counts for identifying peak periods along the corridor at the
following locations:

o US 21 Business (Boundary Street) Corridor:
§ US 21 Business (Boundary Street) west of SC 170 (Robert Smalls Parkway)
§ US 21 Business (Boundary Street) east of SC 281 (Ribaut Road)

o US 21/SC 281 (Ribaut Street) Corridor
§ SC 281 (Ribaut Road) south of US 21 Business (Boundary Street)
§ US 21 (Ribaut Road) south of US 21 (Lady’s Island Drive)

· Peak period turning movement counts during the AM, midday, and PM peak periods collected
at the following locations:

o US 21 Business (Boundary Street) Corridor:
1. US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at SC 170 (Robert Smalls Parkway)
2. US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at Westview Avenue
3. US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at S-281 (Hogarth Street)
4. US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at Carolina Cove
5. US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at Beaufort Town Center
6. US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at Marsh Road
7. US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at SC 281 (Ribaut Road)
8. US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at S-133 (Charles Street)
9. US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at S-483 (Bladen Street)

o US 21/SC 281 (Ribaut Street) Corridor
10. SC 281 (Ribaut Street) at S-54 (Duke Street)
11. SC 281 (Ribaut Street) at S-69 (North Street)
12. SC 281 (Ribaut Street) at S-6 (Bay Street/Depot Road)
13. SC 281 (Ribaut Road) at S-69 (Hermitage Road)
14. SC 281 (Ribaut Road) at Reynolds Street
15. SC 281 (Ribaut Road) at Beaufort Memorial Hospital
16. SC 281 (Ribaut Road) at S-159 (Allison Road)
17. SC 281 (Ribaut Road) at S-324 (First Boulevard/Spanish Point Drive)
18. SC 281 (Ribaut Road) at S-151 (Mossy Oaks Road)
19. US 21/SC 281 (Ribaut Road) at US 21/S-233 (Lady’s Island Drive)

126

Item 11.



Page 4

kimley-horn.com 115 Fairchild Street, Suite 250, Charleston, SC 29492 843-737-6390

20. US 21 (Ribaut Road) at Paris Avenue
o Additional turning movement counts at the following intersections per the request of

Beaufort County:
§ US 21 Business (Boundary Street) at US 21 (Parris Island Gateway)
§ US 21 (Ribaut Road) at S-158 (Pinckney Boulevard)
§ US 21 (Ribaut Road) at S-152 (Vaigneur Road)/ Edinburgh Avenue
§ US 21 (Ribaut Road/Paris Island Gateway) at Malecon Drive

Kimley-Horn will obtain existing traffic signal timing information from Beaufort County and/or SCDOT
for the study area intersections.

Field Investigation

Each study area intersection will be inspected by Kimley-Horn via aerial photography to collect
geometric and traffic signal information specific to that location. Following aerial inspection, Kimley-
Horn will conduct a field review of the project corridors to verify information.

Travel time data is proposed to be collected using crowd-sourced probe-based data, such as INRIX,
for both before and after the implementation of the new timing plans. Travel time data will encompass
the corridors identified during each of the peak hour time periods. For typical weekday plans, travel
time data will be collected and analyzed for a period two weeks before and two weeks after
implementation.

Timing Plan Methodology Report

Following the kick-off meeting and data collection, Kimley-Horn will prepare and submit a Timing Plan
Methodology Report for Beaufort County and/or SCDOT review. Upon receipt of comments, Kimley-
Horn will revise and submit the Final Timing Plan Methodology Report.

Task 1.2 – Evaluation of Existing Signal System Operations

Based on the data collected and observations made in Task 1.1, Kimley-Horn will construct a base
Synchro model for the corridor. Using the base model, Kimley-Horn will develop peak period models
using the existing traffic signal timing and will summarize existing traffic conditions.

Task 1.3 – Timing Plan Development

Preliminary Assessment

Kimley-Horn will measure distances needed to establish basic traffic signal timing interval parameters
consisting of yellow change interval time, all red clearance, pedestrian walk, and pedestrian don’t
walk time from aerial photography. Grade information will be obtained from existing roadway plans.
Measurements will be selectively verified in the field.

Kimley Horn will evaluate cycle lengths per peak period using the Synchro models previously
developed in Task 1.2 and provide recommended time-of-day and day-of-week for each plan’s time
periods.

Kimley-Horn will present this assessment to Beaufort County and/or SCDOT for review.

127

Item 11.



Page 5

kimley-horn.com 115 Fairchild Street, Suite 250, Charleston, SC 29492 843-737-6390

Development of Base System Timing Plans

Following approval of the Preliminary Assessment, Kimley-Horn will develop up to three separate
time-of-day plans using Synchro and will submit to Beaufort County and/or SCDOT for review and
approval. Upon receipt of comments, Kimley-Horn will revise the Synchro timings. Signal timing
sheets will be developed for Beaufort County and/or SCDOT to be used in the importation of the new
timings into the traffic signal controllers.

Task 1.4 – Implementation and Fine Tuning of Signal Timing Plans

Proposed timing plans developed in Task 1.3 will be imported into the traffic signal controllers by
Beaufort County and/or SCDOT. During the downloading of the timings in the field, Kimley-Horn will
be on site to begin systems observations and to recommend timing adjustments as needed to
improve the operations of intersection and corridor operations. Traffic signal timing adjustments will
be made in the controllers by Beaufort County and/or SCDOT signal staff.

Task 1.5 – After Data Collection, Model Finalization, Timing Plan Report

After Travel Time Runs

After fine tuning along the corridor is completed, crowd-sourced probe-based data is proposed to be
collected as specified in Task 1.1 to compare to before travel time runs, which will be used to
estimate operational benefits. Results will be summarized in the timing plan report by travel direction
and should estimate the time, cost, fuel consumption, and emissions savings of the new timing plans.

Model and Signal Timing Sheet Finalization

Synchro models and traffic signal timing sheets will be updated by Kimley-Horn to reflect final timing
plans deployed and fine-tuned in the field.

Timing Plan Report

Kimley-Horn will develop a Draft Timing Plan Report, documenting methodology and key processes
of the project. The report will consist of data collected during the field inventory and observations,
turning movement counts, a summary of each of the timing plans, final timing sheets, capacity
analysis for existing and final conditions, and recommendations for operational and geometric
improvements.

Kimley-Horn will submit the Draft Timing Plan Report for Beaufort County and/or SCDOT review.
Upon receipt of comments, Kimley-Horn will revise and submit the Final Timing Plan Report.

128

Item 11.



Page 6

kimley-horn.com 115 Fairchild Street, Suite 250, Charleston, SC 29492 843-737-6390

Task 2 – Crash Analysis
Task 2.1 – Data Collection

Kimley-Horn will obtain crash data from the SCDPS for the following periods along US 21 Business
(Boundary Street) within the study area:

· The three-year period prior to the start of road construction along US 21 Business (Boundary
Street)

· The three-year period after construction in 2018 along US 21 Business (Boundary Street)

Kimley-Horn will also obtain recent crash data from SCDPS along US 21/SC 281 (Ribaut Road) within
the study area.

If SCDPS does not have the crash data three-years prior to the start of road construction along US 21
Business (Boundary Street), Beaufort County will provide the data.

Task 2.2 – Crash Analysis

Kimley-Horn will identify the existing high crash locations within the study area, summarize crash
characteristics within the study area, and make recommendations that may be able to be addressed
through design and traffic control measures.

Kimley-Horn will also perform a before and after study of the crash data obtained along US 21 Business
(Boundary Street).

Task 2.3 – Crash Analysis Report

Kimley-Horn will prepare a report summarizing the crash data collection, analysis and study findings
for Beaufort County’s review.

Task 3 – Stakeholder Meetings
Kimley-Horn will coordinate, facilitate, and document up to two (2) stakeholder meetings; one (1) prior
to the start of the project and one (1) prior to the field implementation as described in Task 1.4. The
purpose of these meetings is to communicate the purpose of the project and to coordinate with
emergency personnel to avoid known conflicting schedules. Stakeholders will include, but are not
limited to:

· Beaufort County Emergency Management
· Beaufort County EMS
· Beaufort County Fire and Law Enforcement
· Local Fire and Law Enforcement

129

Item 11.



Page 7

kimley-horn.com 115 Fairchild Street, Suite 250, Charleston, SC 29492 843-737-6390

ADDITIONAL SERVICES
Any services not specifically provided for in the above scope, as well as any changes in the scope the
Client requests, will be considered additional services and will be performed at our then current hourly
rates as we agree prior to their performance.  Additional services may include services such as:

· Additional intersections to be analyzed
· Traffic signal communication plans
· Additional signal system timings
· Additional meetings
· Traffic signal timing training

SCHEDULE
We will provide our services as expeditiously as practicable to meet a mutually agreed upon schedule.

FEE AND BILLING
Kimley-Horn will perform the Scope of Services for the total lump sum fees below.

Task Fee
Task 1 – Traffic Signal Timing Analysis $154,800
Task 2 – Crash Analysis $14,500
Task 3 – Stakeholder Meetings $6,000
Total $175,300

Lump sum fees will be invoiced monthly based upon the overall percentage of services performed.
Payment will be due within 25 days of your receipt of the invoice and should include the invoice
number and Kimley-Horn project number.

CLOSURE
In addition to the matters set forth herein, our Agreement shall include and be subject to, and only to,
the terms and conditions in the attached modified Standard Provisions, which are incorporated by
reference.  As used in the modified Standard Provisions, the term "the Consultant" shall refer to Kimley-
Horn and Associates, Inc., and the term "the Client" shall refer to Beaufort County.

Kimley-Horn, in an effort to expedite invoices and reduce paper waste, offers its clients the option to
receive electronic invoices. These invoices come via email in an Adobe PDF format. We can also
provide a paper copy via regular mail if requested. Please select a billing method from the choices
below:

____Please email all invoices to ____________________@________.______.

130

Item 11.



Page 8

kimley-horn.com 115 Fairchild Street, Suite 250, Charleston, SC 29492 843-737-6390

____Please email invoices to ____________________@________.______ AND provide a hard copy
to the address listed above (please note below if it should be to some else’s attention or an alternative
address).

____Please ONLY provide a hardcopy invoice to the address listed above (please note below if it
should be to some else’s attention or an alternative address).

If you concur in all the foregoing and wish to direct us to proceed with the services, please have
authorized persons execute both copies of this Agreement in the spaces provided below, retain one
copy, and return the other to us.  Fees and times stated in this Agreement are valid for sixty (60) days
after the date of this letter.  We appreciate the opportunity to provide these services to you.  Please
contact me if you have any questions.

We appreciate the opportunity to provide these services to you.  Please contact us if you have any
questions.

Very truly yours,

KIMLEY-HORN

By:  Jonathan Guy, P.E., AICP, PTOE Dillon Turner, P.E., PTOE
Vice President Project Manager

Agreed to this           day of                           , _______.

Beaufort County

SIGNED:

PRINTED NAME: _______________________

TITLE:_________________________________

131

Item 11.



Page 9

kimley-horn.com 115 Fairchild Street, Suite 250, Charleston, SC 29492 843-737-6390

Client’s Federal Tax ID: _______________________

Client’s Business License No.: __________________

Client’s Street Address:  _______________________

_______________________

Attachment – Standard Provisions

Attachment – Man-hour Breakdown

132

Item 11.



Rev 12/2021

1

KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, INC.
STANDARD PROVISIONS

1) Consultant's Scope of Services and Additional Services.  The Consultant will perform only the services
specifically described in this Agreement.  If requested by the Client and agreed to by the Consultant, the Consultant
will perform Additional Services, which shall be governed by these provisions.  Unless otherwise agreed to in
writing, the Client shall pay the Consultant for any Additional Services an amount based upon the Consultant’s
then-current hourly rates plus an amount to cover certain direct expenses including telecommunications, in-house
reproduction, postage, supplies, project related computer time, and local mileage.  Other direct expenses will be
billed at 1.15 times cost.

2) Client's Responsibilities.  In addition to other responsibilities herein or imposed by law, the Client shall:
a. Designate in writing a person to act as its representative, such person having complete authority to transmit

instructions, receive information, and make or interpret the Client's decisions.
b. Provide all information and criteria as to the Client's requirements, objectives, and expectations for the project and

all standards of development, design, or construction.
c. Provide the Consultant all available studies, plans, or other documents pertaining to the project, such as surveys,

engineering data, environmental information, etc., all of which the Consultant may rely upon.
d. Arrange for access to the site and other property as required for the Consultant to provide its services.
e. Review all documents or reports presented by the Consultant and communicate decisions pertaining thereto within

a reasonable time so as not to delay the Consultant.
f. Furnish approvals and permits from governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the project and approvals

and consents from other parties as may be necessary.
g. Obtain any independent accounting, legal, insurance, cost estimating, and feasibility services required by Client.
h. Give prompt written notice to the Consultant whenever the Client becomes aware of any development that affects

the Consultant's services or any defect or noncompliance in any aspect of the project.

3) Period of Services.  Unless otherwise stated herein, the Consultant will begin work after receipt of a properly
executed copy of this Agreement.  This Agreement assumes conditions permitting continuous and orderly progress
through completion of the services.  Times for performance shall be extended as necessary for delays or
suspensions due to circumstances that the Consultant does not control. If such delay or suspension extends for
more than six months, Consultant’s compensation shall be renegotiated.

4) Method of Payment.  Client shall pay Consultant as follows:
a. Invoices will be submitted periodically for services performed and expenses incurred.  Payment of each invoice

will be due within 25 days of receipt.  The Client shall also pay any applicable sales tax.  All retainers will be held
by the Consultant and applied against the final invoice.  Interest will be added to accounts not paid within 25 days
at the maximum rate allowed by law.  If the Client fails to make any payment due under this or any other agreement
within 30 days after the Consultant's transmittal of its invoice, the Consultant may, after giving notice to the Client,
suspend services and withhold deliverables until all amounts due are paid.

b. If the Client relies on payment or proceeds from a third party to pay Consultant and Client does not pay Consultant’s
invoice within 60 days of receipt, Consultant may communicate directly with such third party to secure payment.

c. If the Client objects to an invoice, it must advise the Consultant in writing giving its reasons within 14 days of receipt
of the invoice or the Client’s objections will be waived, and the invoice shall conclusively be deemed due and
owing.  If the Client objects to only a portion of the invoice, payment for all other portions remains due.

d. If the Consultant initiates legal proceedings to collect payment, it may recover, in addition to all amounts due, its
reasonable attorneys' fees, reasonable experts' fees, and other expenses related to the proceedings.  Such
expenses shall include the cost, at the Consultant's normal hourly billing rates, of the time devoted to such
proceedings by its employees.

e. The Client agrees that the payment to the Consultant is not subject to any contingency or condition.  The Consultant
may negotiate payment of any check tendered by the Client, even if the words “in full satisfaction” or words intended
to have similar effect appear on the check without such negotiation being an accord and satisfaction of any disputed
debt and without prejudicing any right of the Consultant to collect additional amounts from the Client.

5) Use of Documents.  All documents and data prepared by the Consultant are related exclusively to the services
described in this Agreement and may be used only if the Client has satisfied all of its obligations under this
Agreement.  They are not intended or represented to be suitable for use or reuse by the Client or others on
extensions of this project or on any other project.  Any modifications by the Client to any of the Consultant’s
documents, or any reuse of the documents without written authorization by the Consultant will be at the Client's
sole risk and without liability to the Consultant, and the Client shall indemnify, defend and hold the Consultant
harmless from all claims, damages, losses and expenses, including but not limited to attorneys' fees, resulting
therefrom.  The Consultant’s electronic files and source code remain the property of the Consultant and shall be
provided to the Client only if expressly provided for in this Agreement.  Any electronic files not containing an

133

Item 11.



Rev 12/2021

3

electronic seal are provided only for the convenience of the Client and use of them is at the Client’s sole risk.  In
the case of any defects in the electronic files or any discrepancies between them and the hardcopy of the
documents prepared by the Consultant, the hardcopy shall govern.

6) Intellectual Property.  Consultant may use or develop its proprietary software, patents, copyrights, trademarks,
trade secrets, and other intellectual property owned by Consultant or its affiliates (“Intellectual Property”) in the
performance of this Agreement.  Unless explicitly agreed to in writing by both parties to the contrary, Consultant
maintains all interest in and ownership of its Intellectual Property and conveys no interest, ownership, license to
use, or any other rights in the Intellectual Property to Client.  Any enhancements of Intellectual Property made
during the performance of this Agreement are solely owned by Consultant and its affiliates.

7) Opinions of Cost.  Because the Consultant does not control the cost of labor, materials, equipment or services
furnished by others, methods of determining prices, or competitive bidding or market conditions, any opinions
rendered as to costs, including but not limited to the costs of construction and materials, are made solely based
on its judgment as a professional familiar with the industry.  The Consultant cannot and does not guarantee that
proposals, bids or actual costs will not vary from its opinions of cost.  If the Client wishes greater assurance as to
the amount of any cost, it shall employ an independent cost estimator. Consultant's services required to bring costs
within any limitation established by the Client will be paid for as Additional Services.

8) Termination.  The obligation to provide further services under this Agreement may be terminated by either party
upon seven days' written notice in the event of substantial failure by the other party to perform in accordance with
the terms hereof, or upon thirty days’ written notice for the convenience of the terminating party.  The Consultant
shall be paid for all services rendered and expenses incurred to the effective date of termination, and other
reasonable expenses incurred by the Consultant as a result of such termination.

9) Standard of Care. The standard of care applicable to Consultant’s services will be the degree of care and skill
ordinarily exercised by consultants performing the same or similar services in the same locality at the time the
services are provided.  No warranty, express or implied, is made or intended by the Consultant's performance of
services, and it is agreed that the Consultant is not a fiduciary with respect to the Client.

10) LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.  In recognition of the relative risks and benefits of the Project to the Client and the
Consultant, the risks are allocated such that, to the fullest extent allowed by law, and notwithstanding any other
provisions of this Agreement or the existence of applicable insurance coverage, that the total liability, in the
aggregate, of the Consultant and the Consultant's officers, directors, employees, agents, and subconsultants to
the Client or to anyone claiming by, through or under the Client, for any and all claims, losses, costs or damages
whatsoever arising out of or in any way related to the services under this Agreement from any causes, including
but not limited to, the negligence, professional errors or omissions, strict liability or breach of contract or any
warranty, express or implied, of the Consultant or the Consultant's officers, directors, employees, agents, and
subconsultants, shall not exceed twice the total compensation received by the Consultant under this Agreement
or $50,000, whichever is greater.  Higher limits of liability may be negotiated for additional fee.  This Section is
intended solely to limit the remedies available to the Client or those claiming by or through the Client, and nothing
in this Section shall require the Client to indemnify the Consultant.

11) Mutual Waiver of Consequential Damages.  In no event shall either party be liable to the other for any
consequential, incidental, punitive, or indirect damages including but not limited to loss of income or loss of profits.

12) Construction Costs.  Under no circumstances shall the Consultant be liable for extra costs or other consequences
due to unknown conditions or related to the failure of contractors to perform work in accordance with the plans and
specifications.  Consultant shall have no liability whatsoever for any costs arising out of the Client’s decision to
obtain bids or proceed with construction before the Consultant has issued final, fully approved plans and
specifications.  The Client acknowledges that all preliminary plans are subject to substantial revision until plans
are fully approved and all permits obtained.

13) Certifications.  All requests for the Consultant to execute certificates, lender consents, or other third-party reliance
letters must be submitted to the Consultant at least 14 days prior to the requested date of execution.  The
Consultant shall not be required to execute certificates, consents, or third-party reliance letters that are inaccurate,
that relate to facts of which the Consultant does not have actual knowledge, or that would cause the Consultant to
violate applicable rules of professional responsibility.

14) Dispute Resolution.  All claims arising out of this Agreement or its breach shall be submitted first to mediation in
accordance with the American Arbitration Association as a condition precedent to litigation.  Any mediation or civil
action by Client must be commenced within one year of the accrual of the cause of action asserted but in no event
later than allowed by applicable statutes.

134

Item 11.



Rev 12/2021

3

15) Hazardous Substances and Conditions.   Consultant shall not be a custodian, transporter, handler, arranger,
contractor, or remediator with respect to hazardous substances and conditions.  Consultant's services will be
limited to analysis, recommendations, and reporting, including, when agreed to, plans and specifications for
isolation, removal, or remediation.  The Consultant will notify the Client of unanticipated hazardous substances or
conditions of which the Consultant actually becomes aware.  The Consultant may stop affected portions of its
services until the hazardous substance or condition is eliminated.

16) Construction Phase Services.
a. If the Consultant prepares construction documents and the Consultant is not retained to make periodic site visits,

the Client assumes all responsibility for interpretation of the documents and for construction observation, and the
Client waives any claims against the Consultant in any way connected thereto.

b. The Consultant shall have no responsibility for any contractor's means, methods, techniques, equipment choice
and usage, sequence, schedule, safety programs, or safety practices, nor shall Consultant have any authority or
responsibility to stop or direct the work of any contractor. The Consultant's visits will be for the purpose of
endeavoring to provide the Client a greater degree of confidence that the completed work of its contractors will
generally conform to the construction documents prepared by the Consultant.  Consultant neither guarantees the
performance of contractors, nor assumes responsibility for any contractor’s failure to perform its work in
accordance with the contract documents.

c. The Consultant is not responsible for any duties assigned to it in the construction contract that are not expressly
provided for in this Agreement.  The Client agrees that each contract with any contractor shall state that the
contractor shall be solely responsible for job site safety and its means and methods; that the contractor shall
indemnify the Client and the Consultant for all claims and liability arising out of job site accidents; and that the
Client and the Consultant shall be made additional insureds under the contractor’s general liability insurance policy.

17) No Third-Party Beneficiaries; Assignment and Subcontracting.  This Agreement gives no rights or benefits to
anyone other than the Client and the Consultant, and all duties and responsibilities undertaken pursuant to this
Agreement will be for the sole benefit of the Client and the Consultant.  The Client shall not assign or transfer any
rights under or interest in this Agreement, or any claim arising out of the performance of services by Consultant,
without the written consent of the Consultant.  The Consultant reserves the right to augment its staff with
subconsultants as it deems appropriate due to project logistics, schedules, or market conditions.  If the Consultant
exercises this right, the Consultant will maintain the agreed-upon billing rates for services identified in the contract,
regardless of whether the services are provided by in-house employees, contract employees, or independent
subconsultants.

18) Confidentiality.  The Client consents to the use and dissemination by the Consultant of photographs of the project
and to the use by the Consultant of facts, data and information obtained by the Consultant in the performance of
its services.  If, however, any facts, data or information are specifically identified in writing by the Client as
confidential, the Consultant shall use reasonable care to maintain the confidentiality of that material.

19) Miscellaneous Provisions.  This Agreement is to be governed by the law of the State where the Project is located.
This Agreement contains the entire and fully integrated agreement between the parties and supersedes all prior
and contemporaneous negotiations, representations, agreements, or understandings, whether written or oral.
Except as provided in Section 1, this Agreement can be supplemented or amended only by a written document
executed by both parties.  Any conflicting or additional terms on any purchase order issued by the Client shall be
void and are hereby expressly rejected by the Consultant.  If Client requires Consultant to register with or use an
online vendor portal for payment or any other purpose, any terms included in the registration or use of the online
vendor portal that are inconsistent or in addition to these terms shall be void and shall have no effect on Consultant
or this Agreement.  Any provision in this Agreement that is unenforceable shall be ineffective to the extent of such
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions. The non-enforcement of any provision by either party
shall not constitute a waiver of that provision nor shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder
of this Agreement.

135

Item 11.



US 21 Business (Boundary Street) and US 21/SC 281 (Ribaut Road) Traffic Signal Timing and Crash Analyses - Fee Proposal
Kimley-Horn Staff Hours & Fees

Project Manager/Senior
Professional I

Senior
Professional II

Professional Analyst

235.00$ 285.00$ 205.00$ 185.00$
1.1 - Data Collection and Field Observations
PM Kick-Off Meeting 4 4 4 4 500.00$
Data Collection 4 14,580.60$
Field Investigation 16 24 28 500.00$
Timing Plan Methodology Report 16 24 24

Task 1.1 Hours: 4 36 52 60
Task 1.1 Fees: 940.00$ 10,260.00$ 10,660.00$ 11,100.00$ 15,580.60$ 48,540.60$

1.2 - Evaluation of Existing Signal System Operations
Synchro Model Development 8 16 24
MOE Summary 4 8 8 16 500.00$

Task 1.2 Hours: 4 16 24 40
Task 1.2 Fees: 940.00$ 4,560.00$ 4,920.00$ 7,400.00$ 500.00$ 18,320.00$

1.3 - Timing Plan Development
Preliminary Assessment 8 12 16 24
Development of Base System Timing Plans 8 12 16 24 500.00$

Task 1.3 Hours: 16 24 32 48
Task 1.3 Fees: 3,760.00$ 6,840.00$ 6,560.00$ 8,880.00$ 500.00$ 26,540.00$

1.4 - Implementation and Fine Tuning of Signal Timing Plans
Implementation and Fine Tuning of Signal Timing Plans 12 32 32 36 2,000.00$

Task 1.4 Hours: 12 32 32 36
Task 1.4 Fees: 2,820.00$ 9,120.00$ 6,560.00$ 6,660.00$ 2,000.00$ 27,160.00$

1.5 - After Data Collection, Model Finalization, Timing Plan Report
After Travel Time Runs 4
Model and Signal Timing Sheet Finalization 8 8 12 16
Timing Plan Report 16 16 40 40

Task 1.5 Hours: 24 24 52 60
Task 1.5 Fees: 5,640.00$ 6,840.00$ 10,660.00$ 11,100.00$ -$ 34,240.00$

154,800.60$
Notes:
1. $500 expenses to account for one (1) in person meeting.
2. $14,580.60 expense to account for traffic counts and travel time run data.

Project Manager/Senior
Professional I

Senior
Professional II

Professional Analyst

235.00$ 285.00$ 205.00$ 185.00$
2.1 Data Collection 5
2.2 Crash Analysis 1 10 20
2.3 Crash Analysis Report 2 5 10 20

Task 2 Hours: 3 5 20 45
Task 2 Fees: 705.00$ 1,425.00$ 4,100.00$ 8,325.00$ -$ 14,555.00$

14,555.00$

Project Manager/Senior
Professional I

Senior
Professional II

Professional Analyst

235.00$ 285.00$ 205.00$ 185.00$
3 Stakeholder Meetings 8 8 4 1,000.00$

Task 3 Hours: 8 8 4 0
Task 3 Fees: 1,880.00$ 2,280.00$ 820.00$ -$ 1,000.00$ 5,980.00$

5,980.00$

Task 2 - Crash Analysis Expenses Task Fees

Task 1 - Traffic Signal Timing Analysis Expenses Task Fees

Kimley-Horn Fee:

Task 3 - Stakeholder Meetings Expenses Task Fees

Kimley-Horn Fee:

Kimley-Horn Fee:

136

Item 11.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommendation of award for RFP 040122 Beaufort County Hauling Services – Solid Waste and Recycling 
($1,830,000) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities Committee – May 16, 2022  

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jared Fralix, Assistant County Administrator - Engineering 
Cindy Carter, Solid Waste and Recycling Director 
Dave Thomas, Purchasing Director   
Time needed for discussion = 5 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

RFP 040122 was advertised on Vendor Registry on March 1, 2022, and in the SC Business Opportunity Magazine 
and the Island Packet.  There was a virtual pre-bid meeting on March 16, 2022.  The bid closed on April 15, 
2022, after a request from vendors to extend the deadline.  Beaufort County offices were closed on April 15, 
2022, so staff received proposals on April 18, 2022.  A selection committee received three proposals for review.  
The selected company will provide waste hauling services and container/receiver rental for the nine County 
Convenience Centers. A best and final price request extended the bids until May 10, 2022. 
 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The selection committee rated each proposal based on the ability of the vendor to provide waste hauling 
services for Beaufort County with a seamless transition on July 1, 2022.  This included the rental of collection 
containers/receivers and transportation of waste to the two contract landfills and other designated sites (yard 
waste and metal).   
The initial contract term would be for 3 years from July 1, 2022, to July 31, 2025, with the option for two 
additional annual renewals. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

This is a unit rate contract. The estimated cost for the contract is $1,830,000 and has been budgeted for FY23.  
The current funding account is 10001340-51165. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends the award of RFP 040122 (Beaufort County Hauling Services) to Republic Services.  
  

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve /deny the recommendation of award for RFP 040122 Beaufort County Hauling Services – 
Solid Waste and Recycling to Republic Services.   

Next Step: Move to County Council on May 23, 2022. 

 

137

Item 12.



PRELIMINARY BID TABULATION
PURCHASING DEPARTMENT

Project Name: Beaufort County Hauling Services - Solid Waste and Recycling

Project Number: RFP #040122

Project Budget: n/a

Bid Opening Date:Tuesday, April 15, 2022

Time: 3:00 PM

Location: Building #2 106 Industrial Village Rd, Beaufort, SC 

Bid Administrator:Dave Thomas, Beaufort County Purchasing Director

Bid Recorder: Cindy Carter, Solid Waste & Recycling Director

Second Bid Tab (post interviews & best and final pricing)

BIDDER Rater 1 Rater 2 Rater 3 Average Notes

Capital Waste Services 80 77 81 79.33 Quality bid; excellent reference; highest price 

Pro Disposal USA LLC 65 51 90 68.67  No like contract experience; transition questionable; lowest price

Republic Services 90 81 95 88.67 Current Vendor; mid price; selected

5/11/2022
138

Item 12.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommendation Of Award for RFQ #050322E for the Design & Engineering of a Material Recycling Facility 
(MRF)  

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities Committee - May 16, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jared Fralix, ACA - Infrastructure 

(10 min.) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Beaufort County currently handles residential recycling services from the Convenience Centers through a 
contract with WM.  The current contract began on September 1, 2021, and expires on July 31, 2023.  There is 
an option for 3 one-year renewals, as needed.  Staff have utilized consultant services in an effort to locate 
property suitable for a full Sustainability Campus without success.  The Public Works South property (9 
Benton Field Road, Bluffton) is County-owned and provides adequate acreage for a Material Recycling Facility.  
This construction would initially provide a facility to handle the processing and marketing of dual-stream 
commodities from our four large centers and subsequent acceptance of single-stream commodities from 
private residential curbside collection.  Construction of a Material Recycling Facility is supported by the 2040 
Comprehensive Plan (CF-4).                  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

A new 22,500 square foot Material Recycling Facility (MRF) is proposed for construction in an industrial 
section of Southern Beaufort County and minimizes transportation of recyclables in the highest populated 
area of service (Bluffton and Hilton Head).  The structure will house equipment that allows commodities to be 
sorted, baled, and prepared for market (revenue).  In FY21, data included the generation of OCC (1,789.64 
tons), Mixed paper (1,549.24 tons), Mixed aluminum/metal (130.31 tons) and Plastics (401.64 tons).  Single 
stream curbside collection (future operations) was reported as 4,901.46 tons. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

The contract fee for the scope of work totals $316,000 to be funded from 2020 GO Bond account number 
40120011-54214 with a balance of $1,867,500.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends award of RFQ #050322E to HDR Engineering, Inc 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny award of RFQ#050322E to HDR Engineering, Inc. 

Next Step: Move forward to County Council for motion to approve/deny award of RFQ#050322 to HDR 
Engineering, Inc. 

 

139

Item 13.



RFQ 050322E

Summary Score Sheet

Evaluators Name of Company Name of Company 

Hargrove HDR

Carter 60 65
McAbee 88 92
Sutton 85 100
Wilhelm 55 90
TOTALS: 288 347

1. HDR 347
2. Hargrove 288

A&E Services for Material Recycycling Facility 9 Benton Feld Rd. Beaufort County, SC 29910

140

Item 13.


	Top
	Item 5.	APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	04.18.22 PF

	Item 8.	Approval of an ordinance for 2022 Sales Tax Referendum (Transportation Advisory Committee Recommendation)
	AIS - TAC committee
	Memo to County Council re TAC
	Tax Projects
	Project Descriptions (Final)
	Ordinance for Sales Tax referendum (R3) 5-13-22
	Binder1

	Item 9.	Solid Waste Management Plan Update [March 2022]
	Beaufort County Solid Waste Management Plan 2022 031622

	Item 10.	Resolution for ROW Acquisition for signalization of Bluffton Pkwy at River Ridge Dr. & Flat Creek Dr.
	AIS River Ridge Dr-Flat Creek DR-Bluffton Pkwy Intersection
	Resolution River Ridge-Bluffton Parkway  intersection
	Exhibit A River Ridge-Bluffton Parkway  intersection

	Item 11.	Recommendation to Award Boundary Street and Ribaut Road Signal Timing and Crash Analysis
	Agenda Item Summary - Public Facilities 051622 Boundary Street Signal Timing
	2022.03.29 Boundary Street Signal Timing - Kimley-Horn

	Item 12.	RECOMMEND APPROVAL TO AWARD BEAUFORT COUNTY HAULING SERVICES- SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING RFP 040122
	AIS Award Recommend RFP040122 Beaufort County Hauling Services - Solid Waste and Recycling 05.16.2022 PFC
	3. Bid sheet RFP 040122 Hauling Services SW&R

	Item 13.	Recommendation Of Award for RFQ #050322E for the Design & Engineering of a Material Recycling Facility (MRF)
	Agenda Item Summary -AE Services -MRF
	Summary Score Sheet

	Bottom

